Agenda

GRAND RABIDS-KENT COUNTY

|

CONVENTION / ARENA AUTHORITY

ENTERTAINMENT. CONYENTION, SHOW & SPORTS FACILITIES

Board of Directors

Friday, May 5, 2011

Following CAA Finance Committee Meeting
Kent County Commission Chambers
300 Monroe, NW - Grand Rapids, MI

1. Callto Order
2. Minutes of Previous Meeting
3. Committee Reports
A. Operations Committee
i. Experience Grand Rapids
B. Finance Committee
i. SMG March 2011 Financial Statements -
DeVos Place® and Van Andel Arena®
i. CAA March 2011 Financial Statements
ii. Third Quarter Consolidated Financial Report
iv. DeVos Place® Parking Operation Agreement
V. Review of FY 2012 Budgets
a. DeVos Place® and Van Andel Arena®
Operating Budgets
b. Consolidated CAA Operating/Capital Budgets
vi. Review of 2012-2016 DeVos Place® Rate Sheets
4. Resolution Approving and Authorizing Execution of Management
Agreement with SMG
5. Resolution Approving and Authorizing Execution of Food and

Beverage Services Agreement with SMG Food and Beverage, LLC

6. SMG Report and Facilities Calendars

7. Public Comment

8. Adjournment. Next Meeting Date: Friday, June 3, 2011

Steven R. Heacock

Action

Information

Action
Action
Action

Action
Information

Information

Action

Action

Information



Item 2

MINUTES OF THE GRAND RAPIDS-KENT COUNTY
CONVENTION/ARENA AUTHORITY
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING
Friday, April 1, 2011

I. Call to Order

Steve Heacock, Chairperson, called the meeting to order at 8:25 a.m. Secretary/Treasurer Birgit Klohs

recorded the meeting minutes.

Attendance
Members Present: Steve Heacock, Chair
George Heartwell
Birgit Klohs
Joe Tomaselli
Floyd Wilson, Jr.
Members Absent: Lew Chamberlin
Gary Mclnerney
Staff/Others: Scott Atchison Michigan Flashcard
David Czurak Grand Rapids Business Journal
Daryl Delabbio Kent County
George Helmstead Experience Grand Rapids
Jennifer Kalczuk The Rapid
Drew Nikodem IATSE
Doug Small Experience Grand Rapids
Eddie Tadlock SMG
Susan Waddell CAA
Jim Watt SMG
Richard Wendt Dickinson Wright

IL. The Rapid Transit Master Plan 2030

Jennifer Kalczuk explained that The Rapid just completed an update of its 20-year transit master plan.
The process included a very robust public engagement component, generating over 1,200 comments via
11 workshops, and on-line survey, the social media, mail, e-mails, and telephone calls. Comments from
both riders and non-riders were given equal value because everyone benefits from a successful
transportation system. The Rapid also formed a community advisory group that offered suggestions,
shaped priorities, and considered alternatives. The 30-member group included citizens, transit riders,
local governments, the business community, educational, healthcare, and financial institutions, property
developers, environmental and housing advocates, and nonprofit agencies.

Mayor George Heartwell addressed the millage component that will be voted on May 3, 2011. If
approved, the millage would improve weekday service so that all routes would run at least every 30

minutes from 5:00AM-7:15PM; would connect GVSU’s main route to the Rapid’s central station; would
extend hours that all routes run until 11:15PM on weekdays; double the number of routes with 15-minute
service; and operate BRT express service serving Division Avenue, the Medical Mile, and downtown.



Convention/Arena Authority Meeting
April 1,2011 -2

Chair Heacock inquired whether there was a presumption that people will use public transit. Mayor
Heartwell responded that the Rapid is moving in that direction, seeing ridership from more young
professionals and GVSU students. Chair Heacock inquired whether SMG could use The Rapid as a
shuttle bus for patrons attending events downtown. Ms. Kalczuk responded that The Rapid is prevented
by law from doing “charter work,” but patrons could ride services that already exist and the BRT would
provide a stop at Market Avenue, which is walkable to the Arena. Chair Heacock stated that he would
like to see SMG and The Rapid work to promoter ridership.

I11. Minutes of Prior Meeting

Motion: Mr. Tomaselli, supported by Ms. Klohs, moved to approve the Minutes of the March 4, 2011,
meeting of the Grand Rapids-Kent County Convention/Arena Authority. The motion carried
unanimously.

Iv. Committee Reports

a. Operations Committee

Mr. Tomaselli stated that the Operations Committee met earlier in the morning and there is nothing
additional to report.

b. Finance Committee

i. SMG February 2011 Financial Statements for DeVos Place®
and Van Andel Arena®

Motion: Ms. Klohs, supported by Mr. Heartwell, moved to approve the SMG Financial Statements for
DeVos Place® and the Van Andel Arena® for the period ended February 28, 2011. After review and
discussion, the motion carried unanimously.

ii. CAA February 2011 Financial Statements

Motion: Ms. Klohs, supported by Mr. Wilson, moved to approve the CAA Financial Statements for the
period ended February 28, 2011. Afier review and discussion, the motion carried unanimously.

V. SMG Report and Facilities Calendar

Jim Watt presented a summary of the upcoming events that will be held at Van Andel Arena® and Eddie
Tadlock presented a similar report for upcoming events at DeVos Place®.

VI.  Public Comment

None.
VII. General Matters

Chair Heacock presented a status update on the booking policy task force. Attorney Richard Wendt
indicated that several contracts will be expiring and he will prepare drafts for next month. Robert White
stated there is a $50,000 allowance in the budget for a capital needs study. Chair Heacock stated that he
would like to proceed on the economic impact study.



Convention/Arena Authority Meeting
April 1,2011-3

VIII. Next Meeting Date

The date for next CAA Board meeting is Friday, May 6, 2011, in the Kent County Commission
Chambers, Kent County Administration Building, 300 Monroe Avenue, NW, immediately following the
CAA Finance Committee meeting.

IX. Adjournment

There being no other business, the meeting adjourned at 9:30 a.m.

Birgit M. Klohs, Recording Secretary



DE VOS PLACE

FINANCIAL STATEMENT
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED MARCH 31, 2011

Distribution:

Grand Rapids — Kent County Convention / Arena Authority
Robert White

Bob McClintock

Lewis Dawley

Gary McAneney

Howard Feldman

Richard MacKeigan

Chris Machuta

An SMG Managed Facllity



DE VOS PLACE
ROLLING FORECAST
FISCAL YEAR ENDING JUNE 30, 2011

TOTAL BUDGET
YTD Actual Roll FYE FYE VARIANCE

NO. EVENTS 395 113 508 494 14
ATTENDANCE 453,064 87,500 540,564 531,500 9,064
DIRECT EVENT REVENUE 2,050,157 513,150 2,563,307 2,409,380 153,927
ANCILLARY REVENUE 1,557,281 395,125 1,952,406 1,907,266 45,140
TOTAL EVENT REVENUE 3,607,438 908,275 4,515,713 4,316,646 199,067
TOTAL OTHER REVENUE 149,992 43,000 192,992 190,950 2,042
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUE 3,757,430 951,275 4,708,705 4,507,596 201,109
INDIRECT EXPENSES
EXECUTIVE 121,057 48,352 169,409 169,612 203
FINANCE 181,341 52,447 233,788 221,935 (11,853)
MARKETING 77,951 18,984 96,935 103,669 6,734
OPERATIONS 973,604 385,535 1,359,139 1,485,525 126,386
EVENT SERVICES 679,820 206,607 886,427 866,676 (19,751)
BOX OFFICE 68,514 18,838 87,352 79,211 (8,141)
SALES 253,217 90,406 343,623 355,664 12,041
OVERHEAD 1,548,313 486,106 2,034,419 1,936,247 (98,172)

TOTAL OPERATING EXP. 3,903,817 1,307,275 5,211,092 5,218,539 7,447
NET REVENUE ABOVE EXPENSES (146,387) (356,000) (502,387) (710,943) 208,556
INCENTIVE FEE - 0 -
NET OPERATING REVENUE OVER (146,387) (356,000) (502,387) (710,943) 208,556

OPERATING EXPENSES
Comments:

DeVos Place contiinues to perform very well when compared to both
budget and to prior year. That trend looks to continue throughout the
balance of the fiscal year with the facility anticipated to end the year
a little more than $200,000 ahead of budget.




DE VOS PLACE
FINANCIAL STATEMENT HIGHLIGHTS
FOR MONTH ENDED MARCH 31, 2011

The following schedule summarizes operating results for both the current month and Year to Date
as compared to budget and prior year:

MONTH March March March

Actual Budget FY 2010
Number of Events 70 64 58
Attendance 115,075 92,687 98,986
Direct Event Income $472,751 $438,672 $354,572
Ancillary Income 245,037 277,542 215,177
Other Income 33,961 33,243 10,761
Indirect Expenses (471,482) (434,879) (408,551)
Net Income $280,267 $314,579 $171,959
YTD YTD 2011 YTD 2011 YTD 2010

Actual Budget Prior Year
Number of Events 395 382 386
Attendance 453,064 434910 445,711
Direct Event Income $2,050,157 $1,952,952 $1,935,345
Ancillary Income 1,557,281 1,485,171 1,405,493
Other Income 149,992 149,778 117,152
Indirect Expenses (3,903,817) (3,913,911) (3,712,399)
Net Income ($146,387) ($326,010) ($254,409)
EVENT INCOME

Event income came in ahead of budget due to the success of the James Taylor concert and

continued strength of the consumer shows.

ANCILLARY INCOME

Ancillary fell below budget as spending on the conventions hosted during the month fell
below traditional averages. Overall spending continues to show improvement.

INDIRECT EXPENSES

Indirect expenses were higher than budget for the month, however, consistent with the
forecast and was mainly due to timing.




Event Income

Direct Event Income
Rental Income
Service Revenue
Service Expenses

Total Direct Event Income

Ancillary Income
F&B Concession
F&B Catering
Novelty Sales
Booth Cleaning
Telephone/Long Distance
Electrical Services
Audio Visual
Internet Services
Equipment Rental

Total Ancillary Income
Other Event Income
Ticket Rebates(Per Event)

Total Other Event Income

Total Event Income

Other Operating Income
Luxury Box Agreements
Other Income

Total Other Operating Income

Adjusted Gross Income

Operating Expenses
Salaries and Wages
Payroll Taxes and Benefits
Labor Allocations to Events

Net Salaries and Benefits

Contracted Services
General and Administrative
Operations

Repair and Maintenance
Operational Supplies
Insurance

Utilities

SMG Management Fees

Total Operating Expenses

Net Income(Loss) From Operations

Other Non-Operating Expenses

Adjusted Net Income(Loss)

DeVos Place
Income Statement
For the Nine Months Ending March 31, 2011

Current Month  Current Month Current Month  Year to Date  Year to Date Year to Date
Actual Budget Variance Prior Year Actual Budget Variance Prior Year

$478,852 $447,785 $31,067 $371,276 $2,161,892 $1,986,096 $175,796 $1,960,754
282,817 298,672 (15,855) 182,298 1,565,329 1,528,290 37,039 1,561,998
(288,918) (307,784) 18,866 (199,002) (1,677,064) (1,561,434) (115,630) (1,587,407)
472,751 438,673 34,078 354,572 2,050,157 1,952,952 97,205 1,935,345
45,875 32,974 12,901 39,400 139,520 111,080 28,440 116,698
43,370 62,718 (19,348) 25,663 432,987 419,273 13,714 343,980
2,983 4,622 (1,639) 1,014 6,749 11,906 (5,157) 7,793
34,991 55,629 (20,638) 30,670 221,656 221,126 530 187,438
1] 4,262 (4,262) 1,695 225 17,436 (17,211) 4,058
63,262 58,171 5,091 67,445 344,571 330,858 13,713 352,843
28,474 32,790 (4,316) 18,621 229,321 206,358 22,963 229,742
6,027 6,255 (228) 15,383 50,002 33,590 16,412 44,387
20,055 20,121 (66) 15,286 132,250 133,544 (1,294) 118,554
245,037 277,542 {32,505) 215,177 1,557,281 1,485,171 72,110 1,405,493
31,966 28,410 3,556 7,959 120,330 106,281 14,049 88,790
31,966 28,410 3,556 7,959 120,330 106,281 14,049 88,790
749,754 744,625 5,129 577,708 3,727,768 3,544,404 183,364 3,429,628
1,322 2,000 (678) 1,802 14,667 18,000 (3,333) 16,333
673 2,833 (2,160) 1,000 14,995 25,497 (10,502) 12,029
1,995 4,833 (2,838) 2,802 29,662 43,497 (13,835) 28,362
751,749 749,458 2,291 580,510 3,757,430 3,587,901 169,529 3,457,990
253,086 225,288 27,798 211,215 2,086,177 2,027,592 58,585 2,008,395
81,794 58,848 22,946 63,859 592,127 529,632 62,495 544,220
(153,236) (122,456) (30,780) (110,575) (1,163,615) (1,102,104) (61,511) (1,102,606)
181,644 161,680 19,964 164,499 1,514,689 1,455,120 59,569 1,450,009
24,341 21,200 3,141 18,900 219,994 190,800 29,194 215,273
49,483 28,058 21,425 18,509 253,758 252,522 1,236 212,739
3,081 10,312 (7,231) 1,452 69,163 92,808 (23,645) 63,746
32,398 41,941 (9,543) 30,270 317,824 377,469 (59,645) 319,678
18,539 21,500 (2,961) 6,216 132,924 193,500 (60,576) 123,484
15,173 17,465 (2,292) 27,504 143,360 157,185 (13,825) 182,945
133,455 119,500 13,955 127,978 1,131,792 1,075,500 56,292 1,025,521
13,368 13,223 145 13,223 120,313 119,007 1,306 119,004
474,482 434,879 36,603 408,551 3,903,817 3,913,911 (10,094) 3,712,399
280,267 314,579 (34,312) 171,959 (146,387) (326,010) 179,623 (254,409)
280,267 314,579 (34,312) 171,959 (146,387) (326,010) 179,623 (254,409)

s



SMG DeVos Place
Grand Rapids - Kent County Convention/Arena Authority
Year to Date Event Summary Report
For the Nine Months Ending March 31, 2011

Events/Days Attendance Total Event Income
Event Type Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget
Convention/Trade Shows 92 92 93,218 115,000 1,239,894 1,308,608
Consumer/Gated Shows 48 48 154,251 137,010 936,256 916,272
Devos Performance Hall 125 112 139,473 131,600 831,541 698,351
Banquets 30 30 19,479 19,500 176,013 214,143
Meetings 66 66 19,567 16,500 324,354 194,634
Other 34 34 27,076 15,300 219,709 212,398
GRAND TOTALS 395 382 453,064 434,910 3,727,768 3,544,404
As Percentage of Overall
Convention/Trade Shows 23.29% 24.08% 20.58% 26.44% 33.26% 36.92%
Consumer/Gated Shows 12.15% 12.57% 34.05% 31.50% 25.12% 25.85%
Devos Performance Hall 31.65% 29.32% 30.78% 30.26% 22.31% 19.70%
Ballroom Exclusive 7.59% 1.85% 4.30% 4.48% 4.72% 6.04%
Meetings 16.71% 17.28% 4.32% 3.79% 8.70% 5.49%

Other 8.61% 8.90% 5.98% 3.52% 5.89% 5.99%



Current Assets
Cash

Account Receivable
Prepaid Expenses

Total Current Assets

Total Assets

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable

Accrued Expenses

Deferred Income

Advanced Ticket Sales & Deposits

Total Current Liabilities

Other Liabilities

Equity

Funds Remitted to CAA
Expenses Paid Direct by CAA
Beginning Balance Equity
Current Year Equity

Total Equity

Total Liabilities and Equity

DeVos Place
Balance Sheet
As of March 31, 2011

ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

1,518,305
590,013
111,374
$2,219,692
$2,219,692
67,424
325,681
46,489
893,169
$1,332,763
(600,000)
1,073,587
559,729
(146,388)
$886,928
$2,219,691




SMG - DeVos Place
Grand Rapids - Kent County Convention/Arena Authority
Summary of Accounts Receivable
As of March 31, 2011

Current - Under 30 Days

Food & Beverage 149,092
Ticketing 8,504
Merchandise 1,956
Decorating 34,991
Audio/Visual 28,392
Van Andel Arena (46,389)
Operating 261,204
Over 30 Days 84,254
Over 60 Days 52,875
Over 90 Days
Donnell Productions 5,736
Paragon Leather 2,110
Saigon Entertainment 5,002
Grinder Promotions 2,286

Total Accounts Receivable 590,013



SMG - Van Andel Arena & DeVos Place
Grand Rapids - Kent County Convention/Arena Authority
Management Fee Summary
Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2011

MANAGEMENT FEE SUMMARY

Arena DeVos Place Total FY 2010
Estimate Estimate Estimate Actual
Net Revenue above Expenses 810,939 (502,387) 308,552 916,360
Benchmark 700,000 700,000
Excess 810,939 (502,387) (391,448) 216,360

Incentive Fee Calculation (Only if above greater than zero)

Arena DeVos Place Total Total
Estimate Estimate Estimate Actual
Base Fee 160,417 160,417 320,834 317,343
Incentive Fee
Revenue 4,620,127 4,708,705 9,328,832 9,777,929
Benchmark Revenue 4,800,000 4,200,000 9,000,000 8,900,000
Revenue Excess (179,873) 508,705 328,832 877,929
Incentive Fee ** - - - 238,379
Total SMG Management Fee 160,417 160,417 320,834 555,722

** Incentive fee is 25% of the first $500,000 in excess, 30% of remaining capped at base fee amount.



VAN ANDEL

GRAND RAPIDS

VAN ANDEL ARENA

FINANCIAL STATEMENT
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED MARCH 31, 2011

Distribution:

Grand Rapids — Kent County Convention / Arena Authority
Robert White

Bob McClintock

Lewis Dawley

Gary McAneney

Howard Feldman

Richard MacKeigan

Chris Machuta

An SMG Managed Facllity



VAN ANDEL ARENA
ROLLING FORECAST

FISCAL YEAR ENDING JUNE 30, 2011

NO. EVENTS
ATTENDANCE

DIRECT EVENT INCOME
ANCILLARY INCOME

TOTAL EVENT INCOME

TOTAL OTHER INCOME
TOTAL INCOME

INDIRECT EXPENSES
EXECUTIVE
FINANCE
MARKETING
OPERATIONS

BOX OFFICE
LUXURY SEATING
SKYWALK ADMIN
OVERHEAD

TOTAL INDIRECT EXP.

NET REVENUE ABOVE EXPENSES

LESS INCENTIVE FEE

NET REVENUE ABOVE EXPENSES AFTER INCENTIVE

Comments:

YD ROLL TOTAL BUDGET
FYE FYE VARIANCE
93 11 104 111 )
469,514 83,000 552,514 591,650 (39,136)
871,139 125,637 996,776 1,460,958 (464,182)
1,013,557 186,055 1,199,612 1,230,438 (30,826)
1,884,696 311,692 2,196,388 2,691,396 (495,008)
1,694,111 729628 2,423,739 2,444,775 (21,036)
3,578,807 1,041,320 4,620,127 5,136,171 (516,044)
131,564 52,855 184,419 191,113 6,694
151,684 62,561 214,245 226,903 12,658
215,435 69,812 285,247 289,229 3,982
1,098,410 436,137 1,534,547 1,607,955 73,408
89,642 36,881 126,523 133,630 7,107
45,486 12,162 57,648 87,276 29,628
18,800 5,267 24,067 23,956 (111)
1,050,369 332,123 1,382,492 1,366,494 (15,998)
2,801,391 1,007,798 3,809,188 3,926,556 117,368
777,416 33,522 810,939 1,209,615 (398,676)
0 - -

777,416 33,522 810,939 _ 1,209,615 (398,676)

March was a very strong month for the Arena on the strength of

the Lady Gaga and Sugarland concerts hosted. While events hosted
during the 3rd quarter of the fiscal year performed very well, the activity

levels, combined with anticipated 4th quarter activity, will not offset
the shortfall created by the first 5 months of the fiscal year and it is

anticipated that the Arena will end the year with an $800,000 surplus.




VAN ANDEL ARENA
FINANCIAL STATEMENT HIGHLIGHTS
FOR MONTH ENDED MARCH 31, 2011

The following schedule summarizes operating results for both the current month and Year to Date
as compared to budget and prior year:

MONTH March March March

Actual Budget FY 2010
Number of Events 18 19 15
Attendance 120,836 105,500 71,261
Direct Event Income $195,152 $228,935 $86,917
Ancillary Income 330,540 207,821 240,517
Other Income 256,001 275,168 161,829
Indirect Expenses (340,704) (327,214) (290,853)
Net Income $440,989 $384,710 $198,410
YTD YTD 2011 YTD 2011 YTD 2010

Actual Budget Prior Year
Number of Events 93 100 85
Attendance 469,514 501,000 459,804
Direct Event Income $871,139 $1,219,299 $1,063,367
Ancillary Income 1,013,557 1,017,999 1,126,321
Other Income 1,694,111 1,844,479 1,788,355
Indirect Expenses (2,801,391) (2,944,926) (2,734,705)
Net Income $777,416 $1,136,851 $1,243,338

EVENT INCOME

Event income came in a little behind budget overall as one additional concert was budgeted than what

was hosted.

ANCILLARY INCOME

Ancillary income came in very strong compared to budget as per caps for Lady Gaga and Sugarland were
higher than anticipated. March also includes a positive adjustment to food & beverage as the overall
weighted average for Griffins commission was known after the conclusion of their season.

INDIRECT EXPENSES

Indirect expenses came in at budgeted levels for the month as the facility was busy. Expenses continue
to be monitored closely and is anticipated to continue to trend ahead of budget overall.




Event Income

Direct Event Income
Rental Income
Service Revenue
Service Expenses

Total Direct Event Income

Ancillary Income
F&B Concession
F&B Catering
Novelty Sales
Booth Cleaning
Audio Visual
Other Ancillary

Total Ancillary Income
Other Event Income
Ticket Rebates(Per Event)

Total Other Event Income

Total Event Income

Other Operating Income
Luxury Box Agreements
Advertising
Other Income

Total Other Operating Income

Adjusted Gross Income

Operating Expenses
Salaries and Wages
Payroll Taxes and Benefits
Labor Allocations to Events

Net Salaries and Benefits

Contracted Services
General and Administrative
Operations

Repair and Maintenance
Operational Supplies
Insurance

Utilities

SMG Management Fees

Total Operating Expenses

Net Income(Loss) From Operations

Other Non-Operating Expenses

Adjusted Net Income(Loss)

Current Month Current Month

Van Andel Arena
Income Statement
For the Nine Months Ending March 31, 2011

Current Month  Year to Date

Year to Date

Year to Date

Actual Budget Variance Prior Year Actual Budget Variance Prior Year
$302,483 $333,048 ($30,565) $237,791 $1,365,785 $1,670,093 ($304,308) $1,459,677
200,736 $240,934 (42,508) 102,187 1,283,324 $1,220,601 60,413 1,323,413
(308,067) ($345,047) 37,087 (253,061) (1,777,970) ($1,671,395) (106,468)  (1,719,723)
195,152 228,935 (33,783) 86,917 871,139 1,219,299 (348,160) 1,063,367
280,730 $171,414 109,316 219,961 864,256 $843,532 20,724 953,112
15,223 $11,745 3,478 8,284 58,081 $59,076 (995) 69,370
29,329 $19,272 10,057 8,472 63,689 $85,361 (21,672) 72,541
0 $0 o] 0 355 $0 355 265
18 $0 0 0 36 $0 18 23
5,240 $5,390 (150) 3,800 27,140 $30,030 (2,890) 31,010
330,540 207,821 122,719 240,517 1,013,557 1,017,999 (4,442) 1,126,321
43,889 $66,640 (22,751) 19,471 239,512 $309,525 (70,013) 277,339
43,889 66,640 (22,751) 19,471 239,512 309,525 (70,013) 277,339
569,581 503,396 66,185 346,905 2,124,208 2,546,823 (422,615) 2,467,027
161,010 $149,528 11,482 92,435 988,161 $1,003,954 (15,793) 1,026,776
44,000 $52,083 (8,083) 44,000 410,724 $468,747 (58,023) 432,534
7,102 $6,917 185 5,923 55,714 $62,253 (6,539) 51,706
212,112 208,528 3,584 142,358 1,454,599 1,534,954 (80,355) 1,511,016
781,693 711,924 69,769 489,263 3,578,807 4,081,777 (502,970) 3,978,043
194,922 160,183 34,739 160,926 1,402,232 1,441,647 (39,415) 1,368,955
63,824 42,846 20,978 51,712 372,777 385,614 (12,837) 360,382
(122,708) (72,446) (50,262) (78,638) (609,493) (652,014) 42,521 (604,730)
136,038 130,583 5,455 134,000 1,165,516 1,175,247 (9,731) 1,124,607
22,008 21,300 708 19,700 180,565 191,700 (11,135) 180,139
45,027 30,742 14,285 26,667 258,566 276,678 (18,112) 256,082
2,003 4,996 (2,993) 2,874 17,507 44,964 (27,457) 20,097
15,898 17,943 (2,045) 10,946 108,124 161,487 (53,363) 119,924
9,739 19,883 (10,144) 15,993 132,194 178,947 (46,753) 114,017
11,033 11,394 (361) 18,847 99,294 102,546 (3,252) 121,865
85,090 77,150 7,940 48,603 718,312 694,350 23,962 678,970
13,868 13,223 645 13,223 121,313 119,007 2,306 119,004
340,704 327,214 13,490 290,853 2,801,391 2,944,926 (143,535) 2,734,705
440,989 384,710 56,279 198,410 777,416 1,136,851 (359,435) 1,243,338
440,989 384,710 56,279 198,410 777,416 1,136,851 (359,435) 1,243,338

7



SMG - Van Andel Arena
Grand Rapids - Kent County Convention/Arena Authority
Event Summary

For the Nine Months Ended March 31, 2011

Event Type

Family Show
Sporting Event
Concert

Team Home Games
Other

GRAND TOTALS

As Percentage of Overall

Family Show
Sporting Event
Concert

Team Home Games

Other

Events/Days

Actual Budget

21

10

10

39

13

93

22.58%

10.75%

10.75%

41.94%

13.98%

23

14

16

39

8

100

23.00%

14.00%

16.00%

39.00%

8.00%

Attendance Total Event Income
Actual Budget Actual Budget
63,325 58,500 197,649 221,717
48,399 59,500 386,217 405,550
84,268 130,500 674,885 1,208,591
226,765 214,500 578,239 465,192
46,757 38,000 287,217 245,773
469,514 501,000 2,124,208 2,546,823
13.49% 11.68% 9.30% 8.71%
10.31% 11.88% 18.18% 15.92%
17.95% 26.05% 31.77% 47.45%
48.30% 42.81% 27.22% 18.27%
9.96% 7.58% 13.52% 9.65%



Current Assets
Cash

Account Receivable
Prepaid Expenses

Total Current Assets

Total Assets

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable

Accrued Expenses

Deferred Income

Advanced Ticket Sales & Deposits

Total Current Liabilities

Other Liabilities

Equity

Funds Remitted to CAA
Expenses Paid Direct by CAA
Beginning Balance Equity
Current Year Equity

Total Equity

Total Liabilities and Equity

Van Andel Arena
Balance Sheet
As of March 31, 2011

ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

4,214,744
643,818
166,143
$5,024,705
$5,024,705
55,848
483,650
1,317,603
2,094,528
$3,951,628
(1,400,000)
667,778
1,027,882
777,417
$1,073,077
$5,024,705




SMG - Van Andel Arena
Grand Rapids - Kent County Convention/Arena Authority
Summary of Accounts Receivable
As of March 31, 2011

Current - Under 30 Days

Food & Beverage 302,417

Ticketing 110,548

Merchandise 12,633

Permanent Advertising -

DeVos Place 46,389

Operating 96,556
Over 30 Days 42,275
Over 60 Days 33,000
Over 90 Days

Total Accounts Receivable 643,818



SMG - Van Andel Arena & DeVos Place
Grand Rapids - Kent County Convention/Arena Authority
Management Fee Summary
Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2011

MANAGEMENT FEE SUMMARY

Arena DeVos Place Total FY 2010
Estimate Estimate Estimate Actual
Net Revenue above Expenses 810,939 (502,387) 308,552 916,360
Benchmark 700,000 700,000
Excess 810,939 (502,387) (391,448) 216,360

Incentive Fee Calculation (Only if above greater than zero)

Arena DeVos Place Total Total
Estimate Estimate Estimate Actual
Base Fee 160,417 160,417 320,834 317,343
Incentive Fee
Revenue 4,620,127 4,708,705 9,328,832 9,777,929
Benchmark Revenue 4,800,000 4,200,000 9,000,000 8,900,000
Revenue Excess (179,873) 508,705 328,832 877,929
Incentive Fee ** - - - 238,379
Total SMG Management Fee 160,417 160,417 320,834 555,722

** Incentive fee is 25% of the first $500,000 in excess, 30% of remaining capped at base fee amount.



GRAND RAPIDS-KENT COUNTY

|

CONVENTION / ARENA AUTHORITY

ENTERTAINMENT., COCNVENTION. SHOW & CPORIE FACILITIES

Memorandum
To: CAA Board
CAA Finance Committee
From: Robert J. White
Subject: March 31, 2011, Administrative Financial Statements
Date: April 27, 2011

The attached Balance Sheet and Income Statement have been reformatted to provide additional
information concerning the Convention/Arena Authority administrative account (unconsolidated) —
excluding facility manager financial activity (separately reported).

The Balance Sheet includes a two-year comparative financial position at March 31 for fiscal years 2010
and 2011. The Income Statement provides a line item comparison of accounts for the first nine months
of the current fiscal year as compared to a similar period in the prior fiscal year. In addition, the income
Statement provides a comparison of current year budget to prior year (FY 2010) actual. It will allow the
reader to compare interim expenditure trends with full-year budgetary allowances.

Items of interest in the two financial statements are explained as follows:

Balance Sheet (Unconsolidated):

e The cash and investments position decreased by $1.3 million from March 31, 2010. Cash
balance decreased by $3.0 million from the June 30, 2010 position due to a quick start on
several capital improvement projects.

e Fund balance decreased by $1.7 million from the March 31, 2010 level.

Nine-Month Revenue/Expense:

e Parking revenues, through March 31, have decreased by (3.8%). Area #2 deposits covering
December through March were received in April. When adjusted for like periods, the increase
over prior year is +5.0%. Revenue in this time period represents 75% of total annual.

e Interest income was budgeted (2% rate est.) to increase by 35%, but has declined by (39%) from
actual experience in the first nine months of the prior fiscal year. The County Investment Pool is
currently paying less than 1% interest. It is now expected that interest earnings will come in
$225,000 under budget forecast.



¢ The “Utilities” expenditure account includes electric, gas, steam, and water/sewer for the
facilities. Electric represents 60% of the total. For the nine-month comparable time period, this
expense is increased by 18%.

e Pedestrian safety (police overtime), while currently running significantly reduced from prior
year, will see a jump by year-end. Officer billings were increased from $47.30 in FY 2010 to
$56.44 (+19%) in the current year. The increase is primarily attributed to a significant increase
in required pension contributions.

e Parking management includes city staffing and equipment maintenance expense for the DeVos
Place® facility. This expense is reduced by almost (18%) from prior year. Automation achieved
in September 2009 was expected to result in a 30% cost savings in the current year. Staffing
reductions have not been fully realized.

e (Capital R/R/A spending is increased by 505% over prior year trend. Several major projects at the
Arena got off to a quick start.

e Other significant expenditure account variances are primarily due to timing issues.

Hopefully, these reports provide a more on-point analysis of administrative activities over the course of
the fiscal year. These reports will be updated on a monthly basis.



Grand Rapids-Kent County Convention/Arena Authority
Balance Sheet (Unconsolidated)

March 31, 2011
2010 2011
Assets
Cash - Operating $ 95,261 $ 217,138
Investments - Kent County 21,395,060 20,302,366
Capital Assets (Net) 659,549 788,841
Total Assets $ 22,149,870 $ 21,308,345

Liabilities & Fund Balance

Accounts Payable $ 154,837 $ 29,518

Fund Balance 21,995,033 21,278,827

Total Liabilities & Fund Balance $ 22,149,870 $ 21,308,345




Apns spasu [eydes uua)-3uo| Bualy ue J0j 000‘0S$ JO 29UBMO|[2 UB S3pN|du]

968°119°1T  $ ¥6£°8TLYT $

Y6€°8TLVT SSH611YT

6'¥ST (oz¥‘TivT) § (LL9'6L9) § (8€5°911°¢) 6£6°809

S €01 876°6€TS YLO'ELST 1'901 979°0ST°L 811°7€S°E
yL L6SVT 8YT'ET K @ 000°501 SELYS

6T 196°€T £06°TT 8Y 000vT £06°TC

00 - - 0°001 000°6T -

8Ly 89€°91 ¥LO11 8491 0000t 90161
L'12) 80€°6t £96°79 (6%) 000°1L 8L9VL

1'9¢ ££8°€6 £5689 9°'bT 8P 1€l 975501
9’40 909°L01°¢ £20°%16 9°6¥8 005°801°Y SY1°v69

00 000°sZ 000°ST 00 000°ST 000°$T
(€€ 000°0S 000°SL 00 000°SL 000°SL

00 - - 0001 000°001 -

9'¢ £01°6¢ SLIES 90 008°€S SLI‘ES

1'9% 0LT'Y1 89.°6 0'ZLS 00006 £6€°€1
(o€ 0TLTH 005°sS +'0) 000°s8 ETANY
(sL1) 6£9°S6 968611 (s'0¢) wesll 1S9°1L1

99 €TSLEY’L 119°6€S°1 (12) 008°L61°C 8SHIv1‘T

1'6v 801°€78°C L6E°E68] 70 83041y LSO 1YY
621 891°LT 081°1¢ ('89) 000°0¢ L1T°66
(8°8¢) £TE TP 6EV TET 6'v¢ 000°SEY e
(8¢ L19°€S9 8LL6L9 L8 919286 6L6€06

S011 000°000CT  $ 000°0s6 § (¢¥) TLY'989°C $ 6£h'6187 $

aguey) 1§/ - UL 1€/€- /L a8uey) 1o3png 8NPy
aBejuaduag 1107 Ad 0107 Ad a3e)uddIg 1107 Ad 0107 Ad
Neq-0L-18IX jenuuy

1107 ‘1€ Y2IBJAl PIPU SYIUOJA] QUIN Y} 104
aduefeg puny ul saSuey)) pue sain}ipuadxy ‘SONUIAIY JO JUIWI)R)S

LOYINY BUIIY/UONUIAUO)) AJUno)) Jud-spidey] pues)

@

SUOLIPPY/IUSWSOR[ASY/IBASY - VN
1))
‘SILON

powsad jo pua ‘aduejeg

poisad jo Suruuisaq ‘adusjeq
saanipuadxy 1340

SINUIAIY Jo (LouddLya() sSIIXY

saanjipuadxj [8IoL
Joyo/sayddng -
JoueInsuyj -
UV JO JUSWAIND0I{ -
aaneniu] Aus1aAiQg -
SIVIAISG [BUOISSIJOI] -
sujouag/safep -
uonensIuIWpy
spaloid rende) -
(Ve rended
uoIsssIwo)) spodg -
dAD -
udedwe)) -
Sunoyrep -
UBWSSSSY A1d -
Surdeosspue -
K19JeS URLISIPA -
juswaeuey Sunjed -
saninn -
suonesadp
ssaanyipuadxy

SINUIAIY [BI0],
SNOSUR[[IISIA
1S2J9U]

Sunjred

DIAS WOy sIgjsuel]
1SANUIARY



GRAND RAPIDS-KENT COUNTY

CONVENTION / A NA AUTHORITY
ENTERTAINDM CONYVENTION, OW & SPORTS FACILITIES
Memorandum
To: Members of the CAA Board
From: Robert White
Subject: Third Quarter Consolidated Budget Summary/Financial Report
Date: April 28, 2011

The attached table provides an analysis of operating revenues, expenses, and capital expenditures by
functional area. The analysis compares prior year actual with current year budget allowance and second
quarter of prior fiscal year financial performance with third quarter current year (FY 2011) financial

performance.

The attached report may be further summarized in the following manner:

Annual Year To Date
FY 2010 FY 2011 Percent FY 2010 FY 2011 Percent
Actual Budget Change 7/1/-3/31 7/1-3/31 Change
Net Proceeds - VAA $ 1,612,431 $ 1,334,618 (17.2) $1,355,628 $ 845,483 (37.6)
-DVP 36,257 27,328 (24.6) 194,223 343,524 +76.9
- Other (128,524) (359,984) (180.1) (143,965) (225,269) (56.5)
Net Income* 1,520,164 1,001,962 (4.1 1,405,886 963,738 (31.4)
Capital Expense (434,467) (4,108,500) (514,023) (3,107,606)
Net Increase
(Decrease) In Net
Assets $ 1,085,697 $ (3,106,538) $ 891,863 $(2,143,868)

*Before depreciation

Nine-month financial performance, for Van Andel Arena®, is running negative to budget based on a
significant decline in concert bookings. DeVos Place® revenue trend is running 8% ahead of budget
resulting in “net proceeds” running well ahead of prior-year levels. The “Other” activity
(administration) is well below budget, as there has been little activity in certain non-recurring budget
allowances, i.e., marketing-$100,000, procurement of Art-$25,000, capital needs study-$50,000.



Grand Rapids-Kent County Convention/Arena Authority
Budget Summary by Facility/Other
Nine-Month Financial Trends for Period Ended March 31, 2011

Annual Year-To-Date
FY 2010 FY 2011 Percentage FY 2010 FY 2011 Percentage
Actual Budget Change_ 7/1 - 3/31 711 - 3/31 Change
Van Andel Arena
Operating - Revenues $ 5,302,116 $5,136,171 3.1 $3,978,043 $3,578,807 (10.0)
- Expenses - Facilities (3,654,125) (3,766,139) 3.1 (2,615,701) (2,680,078) 25
- Base Management Fees (158,672) (160,417) (119,004) (121,313)
- Incentive Fees - - - -
Net Operating Income 1,489,319 1,209,615 1,243,338 777416
Parking (net of allocated expenses) 123,112 125,003 112,290 68,067
Net Proceeds from VAA 1,612,431 1,334,618 (17.2) 1,355,628 845,483 (37.6)
DeVos Place Convention Center
Operating - Revenues 4475813 4,507,596 07 3,457,990 3,757,430 8.7
- Expenses - Facilities (4,890,100) (5,058,122) 34 (3,593,395) (3,783,504) 53
- Base Management Fees (158,672) (160,417) (119,004) (120,313)
- Incentive Fees - - - -
Net Operating Loss (572,959) (710,943) (254,409) (146,387)
Parking (net of allocated expenses) 609,216 738,271 448,632 489,911
Net Proceeds (Cost) of DVP 36,257 27,328 (24.6) 194,223 343,524 76.9
Other
Revenues
Interest 322,422 435,000 232,439 142,323
Miscellaneous 95,217 30,000 31,180 27,168
- 417,639 465,000 11.5 263,619 169,491 (357
Expenses
Marketing Campaign - 100,000 - -
Pedestrian Safety 85,348 85,000 55,500 42,720
Landscaping 13,393 90,000 9,768 14,270
Administration 447,422 549,984 342,316 337,770
Repair/Maintenance - - - -
546,163 824,984 51.1 407,584 394,760 3.1
Net Other (128,524) (359,984) (143,965) (225,269)
Total Operating $ 1,520,164 $ 1,001,962 (34.1) _$ 14052886 $ 963,738 31.4)
Capital Expenditures 434 467 4,108,500 514,023 3,107,606

Results Net of Capital Expenditures $ 1,085,697 $(3,106,538) $ 891,863

$ (2,143,368)




GRAND RAPIDS-KENT COUNTY
CONVENTION/ARENA AUTHORITY

RESOLUTION APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF A
PARKING OPERATION AGREEMENT WITH THE CITY OF GRAND
RAPIDS

Boardmember , supported by Boardmember ,

moved the adoption of the following resolution:

WHEREAS, the Grand Rapids-Kent County Convention/Arena Authority (the "CAA")
controls the operation of DeVos Place, a performing arts/convention/entertainment facility (the
“Convention Center”) including 690 parking spaces located in the lower level of the Convention
Center (the “Parking Spaces™); and

WHEREAS, the CAA and the City of Grand Rapids (the “City”) previously entered into
a Parking Operation Agreement dated July 1, 2008, related to the Parking Spaces which expires
June 30, 2011; and

WHEREAS, the CAA and the City desire to continue their relationship with respect to
the Parking Spaces for a three year term beginning July 1, 2011, and ending June 30, 2014, and
have agreed to enter into a new Parking Operation Agreement (the "Agreement") setting forth
the terms and conditions for the operation of the Parking Spaces.

RESOLVED:

1. That the Agreement substantially in the form presented at this meeting with such
minor deviations as are not materially adverse to the CAA and approved as to content by the
CAA Chairman and as to form by the CAA's counsel is approved.

2. That the Chairman of the CAA is authorized and directed to execute the

Agreement for and on behalf of the City.

GRAPIDS 61448-165 263321v1



3. That all resolutions or parts of resolutions in conflict herewith shall be, and the
same are hereby, rescinded to the extent of such conflict.

YEAS: Boardmembers

NAYS: Boardmembers

ABSTAIN: Boardmembers

ABSENT: Boardmembers

RESOLUTION DECLARED ADOPTED.

Dated: May 5, 2011

Susan M. Waddell
Administrative Manager/Recording Secretary

CERTIFICATION

I, the undersigned duly qualified and acting Administrative Manager/Recording Secretary
of the Grand Rapids-Kent County Convention/Arena Authority (the "CAA"), do hereby certify
that the foregoing is a true and complete copy of a resolution adopted by the CAA Board at a
regular meeting held on May 5, 2011, and that public notice of said meeting was given pursuant
to, and in compliance with, Act 267 of the Public Acts of Michigan of 1976, as amended.

Dated: May 5, 2011

Susan M. Waddell
Administrative Manager/Recording Secretary

GRAPIDS 61448-165 263321vl



5/3/11 RAW

PARKING OPERATION AGREEMENT

THIS PARKING OPERATION AGREEMENT (the "Agreement") is made as of
Julyl, 2011, by and Dbetween the GRAND RAPIDS-KENT COUNTY
CONVENTION/ARENA AUTHORITY, a Michigan statutory authority (the "CAA" or
"Authority"), and the CITY OF GRAND RAPIDS, a Michigan municipal corporation (the

"Cityn).
PREMISES

A. The CAA controls the operation of DeVos Place, a performing
arts/convention/entertainment facility located at 303 Monroe Avenue, N.W., in the City (the
"Convention Center"), including 690 parking spaces located in the lower level of the Convention
Center identified on Exhibit A attached hereto (the "Parking Spaces").

B. The Operating Agreement dated as of March 29, 2000 (the "Operating
Agreement"), between the County of Kent (the "County") and the City related to the Convention
Center provides that (a) "all parking facilities constituting a portion of the Convention Center
shall be operated by the City's Parking System under the direction of the Authority with any net
income in a fiscal year of the Authority, after deduction of operating expenses, belong to the
Authority" and (b) "the Authority shall make available to the County and the City, for employees
and other users the parking spaces in the Convention Center parking facilities at a cost equal to a
pro rata share of operating expenses."

C. The CAA and the City previously entered into a Parking Operation Agreement
dated July 1, 2008, related to the Parking Spaces which expires June 30, 2011.

D. The CAA and the City desire to enter into this Agreement setting forth (a) the
terms and conditions for the continued operation of the Parking Spaces and (b) the basis for
providing, including the determination of cost, the Parking Spaces to the County and the City.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises set forth below, the
parties agree as follows:

Section 1. Operation of Parking Spaces. Subject to the terms and conditions of this
Agreement, the City, through its Parking Services Department (the "Department"), shall be
responsible for the operation of the Parking Spaces.

Section 2. Parking Control Equipment. The CAA shall at its cost be responsible
for providing, replacing and upgrading at each entry/exit to the Parking Spaces parking control
equipment compatible with the City's Automobile Parking System (the "System") and, where
required, attendant booths of the same or similar quality as booths located in City-owned parking
ramps within the System. The City shall be responsible for the maintenance of such parking
control equipment and attendant booths. In this regard, the City currently maintains its parking
control equipment throughout the System pursuant to a maintenance agreement with an outside
vendor and has included the Convention Center Parking Spaces parking control equipment in
such maintenance agreement and will include the Convention Center Parking Spaces parking
control equipment in any future maintenance agreements and will pass such additional costs

GRAPIDS 61448-165 261460v1



related to such parking control equipment on to the CAA as an operational cost which the CAA
agrees to pay.

Section 3. Conditions of Operation. The operation of the Parking Spaces by the
Department shall be subject to the following conditions:

(a) Unless otherwise agreed by the CAA and the City, the Department shall be
responsible for providing:

1. Attendant staffing as and to the level mutually determined necessary by
the CAA's Owner's Representative and the Department.

2. Security/customer service "red car" patrol at the same level provided to
parking lots and ramps in the System during those times that the Parking
Spaces are available for public monthly pass, daily in/out or special event
use. It is understood that the CAA has installed and will maintain and
monitor security cameras throughout the area of the Parking Spaces as a
part of the Convention Center's overall security system.

3. Supervision of Department personnel performing services pursuant to this
Agreement related to the Parking Spaces and related administrative
services including management and accounting services.

(b) The level of operation provided shall, except as otherwise provided in this
Agreement, be equal to that provided by the Department to City-owned ramps
operated and maintained by the Department.

(c) The City, including the Department, shall not be responsible for any maintenance
of the Parking Spaces.

Section 4. Utilities. The CAA shall be responsible for furnishing and paying for
utilities related to the space occupied by the Parking Spaces, including electricity for lighting and
parking control equipment and electric and telephone lines for attendant booths.

Section S. Hours of Operation. The CAA's Owner's Representative shall determine
the hours of operation of the Parking Spaces for both event and non-event days.

Section 6. City and County Use of Parking Spaces. Pursuant to the terms of the
Operating Agreement, the CAA is required to make the Parking Spaces available to the County
and the City for employees and other users on a prepaid monthly pass basis. When such spaces
are requested by the County or the City, the Department shall work with the CAA to facilitate
making the requested spaces available. Unless otherwise mutually agreed by the City and CAA,
the City agrees that it will maintain from time to time at the Government Center Parking Ramp
located across Monroe Avenue from the Convention Center (the "Government Center Ramp") as
daily/special event spaces (without in and out privileges) parking spaces of an equal number to
the number of spaces that have moved from the Government Center Ramp to the Parking Spaces
at the request of the City.

2-

GRAPIDS 61448-165 261460v1



Section 7. Monthly Parking Passes. Except for the monthly parking passes
required to be made available to the City and County pursuant to Section 6 hereof, the total
number of monthly parking passes issued at any one time for the Parking Spaces shall be
approved by the CAA's Owner's Representative.

Section 8. Establishment of Parking Rates. Rates charged for use of the Parking
Spaces, except those made available to the County and City pursuant to Section 6 hereof, shall be
as determined from time to time by the CAA after receiving input from the Department,
provided, however, such (i) prepaid daily maximum rate shall not be less than 100% of the
similar rate charged at the Government Center Ramp and (ii) the hourly visitor rate, prepaid
monthly pass rate and special event rates shall not be less than those similar rates charged at the
Government Center Ramp unless the CAA and the City otherwise mutually agree. In order to
accommodate the Department’s parking control equipment throughout the System, the CAA
agrees, whenever possible, to coordinate any change in rates for the Parking Spaces so that the
effective date of such change takes place at the same time as the effective date of a change in
rates by the City for public parking facilities owned by the City and operated by the Department.

Section 9. Establishment of Parking Rates for County and City Use. In
accordance with the provisions of the Operating Agreement, parking spaces made available to
the County and City pursuant to Section 6 hereof are to be provided at a cost equal to the pro rata
share of the operating and maintenance expenses of the Parking Spaces used by the County and
City. The Department shall with the assistance of the CAA’s Owner’s Representative determine
such cost annually in conjunction with its annual facilities update. Costs to be incorporated in
the rate established for the County and the City shall include the Department's operating costs,
including the cost of maintaining the parking control equipment for the Parking Spaces and a
reasonable management fee related to the Parking Spaces (the "Department Operating Costs")
and a pro rata share of the cost of maintenance and other services incurred by the CAA in
connection with the Parking Spaces such as a pro rata share of utility costs, elevator
maintenance, insurance premiums and building security and maintenance costs related to the
Parking Spaces for services performed by the CAA’s Owner’s Representative or other entity(ies)
the CAA contracts with to provide such services (collectively, with the Department Operating
Costs, the "Parking Spaces Operating and Maintenance Costs"). For each fiscal year during the
term of this Agreement beginning with the fiscal year commencing July 1, 2011, the rate
established for the City and the County (the "CC Rate") shall be determined based on estimated
costs for such fiscal year plus an upward or downward adjustment to reflect the recovery of
actual costs versus estimated costs for the prior fiscal year (the "Adjustment"). The CC Rate for
the County and City shall be determined by dividing the total number of monthly passes for the
Parking Spaces issued by the Department at the time of such determination (but such number
shall never be less than the number of Parking Spaces) into the Parking Spaces Operating and
Maintenance Costs plus or minus the Adjustment for such fiscal year. The Department shall
make available to the CAA's Owner's Representative the calculation of such CC Rate for review
and approval prior to the implementation of such CC Rate. It is understood that for the purpose
of determining the CC Rate, Parking Spaces Operating and Maintenance Costs will not be
allocated to daily in/out parkers and event parkers.

Section 10. Preparation and Approval of Annual Budget. The Department shall
prepare and submit to the CAA's Owner's Representative for approval an operating cost budget
for the services it is required to perform pursuant to this Agreement for the Parking Spaces for

-3-

GRAPIDS 61448-165 261460v1



the ensuing fiscal year. Annual budgets shall be submitted at least 90 days prior to the beginning
of the CAA’s fiscal year (July 1).

Section 11. Review of Procedures for Establishing Parking Rates and Other
Matters. The CAA through it's Owner's Representative and the City through the Department
agree to meet to review the procedures used to establish rates pursuant to Sections 8 and 9 hereof
and, if based on such review, it is mutually agreed to revise such procedures, to amend this
Agreement to reflect such revisions. In addition, the CAA through it's Owner's Representative
and the Department agree to communicate regularly as necessary concerning the levels of
operation service provided for the Parking Spaces and to meet and review such levels of service
on an annual basis.

Section 12.  Collection and Deposit of Receipts and Payment of Department
Operating Costs. The Department shall bill and collect all revenues for the Parking Spaces
based on rates established pursuant to Sections 8 and 9 hereof and cause any such receipts
generated from hourly, daily or event collections to be deposited daily in a CAA bank account
pursuant to written instructions from the CAA's Owner's Representative. Bill receipts generated
from credit card, validation accounts and monthly card holder fees will be accounted for on a
monthly basis and subtracted from the monthly operating costs billing invoices. The Department
shall bill the CAA for Department Operating Costs on a calendar month basis. The billing
invoice shall contain "line item" detail and documentation verifying such Department Operating
Costs shall be promptly made available by the Department to the CAA's Owner's Representative
upon request. The CAA shall pay such invoices within 30 days of their receipt. If the CAA has
any questions regarding an invoice, it shall promptly notify the Department and the CAA's
Owner's Representative and the Department shall promptly meet to resolve such questions and
make any required adjustments in the invoice.

Section 13. Term. The Agreement shall be for a term commencing on July 1, 2011,
and ending June 30, 2014, subject to the right of either party to terminate the Agreement early on
July 1 of any year by giving written notice to the other party at least one year prior to the
termination date.

Section 14. Indemnification. The City shall indemnify the CAA and its officers,
boardmembers, employees and agents (the "CAA Indemnified Parties” or "CAA Indemnified
Party") against, and save the CAA Indemnified Parties harmless from, any and all liabilities,
obligations, damages, penalties, costs and expenses, including reasonable attorneys fees, paid or
incurred by the CAA Indemnified Parties and arising from the City's or the City's invitees use of
the Parking Spaces except such as arise from the willful acts or negligence of the CAA
Indemnified Parties. If any action or proceeding is brought against a CAA Indemnified Party, by
reason of any such claim, the City will, upon written notice from the CAA Indemnified Party, at
the City's expense, resist or defend such action or proceeding by counsel approved by the CAA
Indemnified Party in writing. In providing the indemnification set forth above, the City is not
waiving any defenses otherwise available to it by law; provided such defenses are also available
to, and asserted by, the City for the CAA Indemnified Parties. The City shall not be responsible
for the indemnification obligations set forth above with respect to any CAA Indemnified Party to
the extent that a CAA Indemnified Party has waived a defense which was otherwise available to
it by law.

-4-

GRAPIDS 61448-165 261460v1



The CAA shall indemnify the City and its officers, commissioners, employees and agents
(the "City Indemnified Parties" or "City Indemnified Party") against and save the City
Indemnified Parties harmless from any and all liabilities, obligations, damages, penalties, costs
and expenses, including reasonable attorneys fees, paid or incurred by the City Indemnified
Parties and arising from the CAA's and the CAA's invitees use and occupancy of the Parking
Spaces except such as arise from the willful acts or negligence of the City Indemnified Parties.
If any action or proceeding is brought against a City Indemnified Party by reason of any such
claim, the CAA will upon written notice from the City Indemnified Party, at the CAA's expense,
resist or defend such action or proceeding by counsel approved by the City Indemnified Party in
writing. In providing the indemnification set forth above, the CAA is not waiving any defenses
otherwise available to it by law; provided such defenses are also available to, and asserted by, the
CAA for the City Indemnified Parties. The CAA shall not be responsible for the indemnification
obligations set forth above with respect to any City Indemnified Party to the extent that a City
Indemnified Party has waived a defense which was otherwise available to it by law.

Section 15.  Notices. All notices and other communications to be given pursuant to
this Agreement shall be given in writing and delivered personally, by certified or registered mail
(return receipt requested, postage prepaid) or by facsimile to the appropriate party at its address
or facsimile number set forth below:

If to the CAA: Grand Rapids-Kent County Convention/Arena
Authority
303 Monroe Avenue, N.W.
Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503
Attention: Administrative Manager
Facsimile Number: (616) 742-6197

If to the City: City of Grand Rapids
6th Floor, City Hall
300 Monroe Avenue, N.W.
Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503
Attention: City Manager
Facsimile Number: (616) 456-3166

With a copy to: City of Grand Rapids
Parking Services Department
50 Ottawa Avenue, N.W.
P.O. Box 1968
Grand Rapids, Michigan 49501-1968
Attention: Parking Services Director
Facsimile Number: (616) 456-4322

Either party may change its designated address/facsimile number by delivery of written
notice of the change to the other party. Notices shall be deemed effective upon actual receipt.
Actual receipt of facsimile transmissions shall be presumed based upon the transmitting party's
receipt of a confirmation of transmission.

GRAPIDS 61448-165 261460v1



Section 16. General Provisions.

(a) This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the CAA and the City
related to the subject matter hereof, i.e., the operation of the Parking Spaces, and may be

modified or amended in whole or in part from time to time only by mutual written agreement of
the CAA and the City.

(b)  As used in this Agreement the term "Owner's Representative" shall mean the
general manager of the Convention Center or such other person as shall be designated to the
Department by the CAA in writing.

(c) This Agreement shall be interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of
Michigan.

(d)  Nothing in this Agreement is intended by the parties hereto to create, nor shall
anything in it be construed as creating, any obligations to, or rights in, any party not a signatory
to this Agreement that would not exist independent of this Agreement.

(e) If any particular portion of this Agreement is rendered invalid, illegal,
unenforceable or otherwise of no effect, the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall remain
in full force and effect so that the essence and intent of this Agreement is preserved.

® A failure of either party to give notice or insist upon the immediate performance
of any right that it has under this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of that right or any
other right under this Agreement.

(g)  The section headings of this Agreement are for convenience only and shall not be
considered a part of the substance of this Agreement or affect the interpretations of this
Agreement.

(h)  This Agreement shall not be assigned, transferred or conveyed by either party
without the prior written consent of the other party.

) The City shall act solely as an independent contractor with respect to the
operation of the Parking Spaces. The relationship of the City and the CAA under this Agreement
shall in no way be construed to create a joint venture or partnership, or to constitute either party
as an agent or employee of the other for any purpose.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have signed this Agreement on the day first
written above.

GRAND RAPIDS-KENT COUNTY
CONVENTION/ARENA AUTHORITY

Steven R. Heacock, Chairman

GRAPIDS 61448-165 261460v1



CITY OF GRAND RAPIDS

George K. Heartwell, Mayor
Attest:

Lauri S. Parks, City Clerk

GRAPIDS 61448-165 261460v]



. z ¥ v . v .

- o

) R,
*C ) TAGAVT DRasmls

_ {1 ! i
I

104 dD
32 35VHa

I

o
-~
.\/.k!

()

.u-
m
4

|

Loz

NOISNVJXI :
. ¥3IN3D NOLLNIANOD

o
oo s ews
AU SEACLATT LA ALY S8 ey

NOILYAONIY ONY

OAY UBSIYDIN

s g A WOER AN S Al A o0 D 5§ SO

(- T gt e Sy

) A i e,
mnm e v ey e SN LRI

LERRERERS I
et s Looh o N d. e i o ~ N
WE | otmmsEE D EOEEO0NEEOOW OO
mmw”m —E RN
1
. . . . . . , v LIigiHX=3 . : .

GRAPIDS 61448-165 261460v1



H1dD:
‘3w

.
LNCAYY OB ¢
N T DA

g

.
.
o
2.2
mnmm
H1528
s
2 3
i o

1)

B

yt
e i

ol
5

i

]

4
i

e0wds SEL

$ % z

S002 waen

he

of

€ obed v LigiHX3

A-2

i 1 A e g

B

(s ST

GRAPIDS 61448-165 261460v1



GRAND RAPIDS-KENT COUNTY

CONVENTION / ARENA AUTHORITY

ENTERTAINMENT. CCNYENTION., SHOW & SPORTS FACILITIES

Memorandum
To: Grand Rapids — Kent County
Convention/Arena Authority
From: Robert J. White
Date: May §, 2011
Re: DeVos Place® Parking Operation Agreement

The Board agenda for May 6, 2011, includes a proposed resolution and agreement providing for
operation of the DeVos Place® parking facility, for a three-year period beginning on July 1,
2011, and ending on June 30, 2014. This is a renewal of an agreement between the parties which
dates from the original opening of the facility in calendar year 2005.

The only change of significance in the agreement is included in Section 8, on page 3, where final
decision making authority for the establishment of parking rates is vested in the
Convention/Arena Authority Board. This change will allow the Authority Board discretion to set
rates which are deemed to be in the best interests of the convention facility.

The current and proposed rates for the DeVos Place® parking facility are noted as follows:

Parking Rates

Current Proposed

DeVos Place Parking Rates: FY 2011 FY 2012
30 Minutes $ 1.00 $ 1.00
Daily Maximum 10.00 12.00
Overnight surcharge - 6.00
Event 7.00 8.00
Monthly -Public 142.50 150.00
-Reserved Premium 52.50 52.50

-County/SMG (O+M) 18.31 45.00 est.

It is expected that the change in event rate will generate approximately $60,000 per annum,
while the increase in the County/SMG monthly rate will generate approximately $60,000 per
annum. The “County/SMG” rate reflects solely the operating and maintenance costs associated
with the parking facility. In FY 2011, the rate was significantly reduced to reflect the anticipated



full-year savings to be derived from automation of the parking revenue control equipment. The
increase is dictated in part by the fact that operating savings will not be as great as those
originally anticipated. In addition, the rate increase reflects a once-every-several-year
sealing/restriping of the facility and one-time surcharge to collect for the shortfall anticipated for
FY 2011. It is anticipated these new rates would take effect on or about July 1, 2011.

A brief history of the revenues and expenses related to this parking facility is noted as follows:

Est. Est.
FY 2009 FY 2010 FY 2011 FY 2012
Revenues $822,559 $780,867 $805,000 $930,000
Expenses (221,029) (171,651) (194,081) (213,579)

Net $601,530 $609,216 $610,919 $716,421




PLACE

DE VOS PLACE

OPERATING BUDGET
FISCAL YEAR ENDING JUNE 30, 2012

***INCLUDES MARCH ROLLING FORECAST***

Distribution:

Grand Rapids — Kent County Convention / Arena Authority
Robert White

Hank Abate

Gary McAneney

Howard Feldman

Richard MacKeigan

Chris Machuta

An SMG Managed Facllity



DeVos Place
Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2012
Lead Income Statement

Event Income

Direct Event Income
Rental Income
Service Income
Service Expenses
Total Direct Event Income

Ancillary Income
F & B Concessions
F & B Catering
Novelty Sales
Booth Cleaning
Telephone/Long Distance
Electrical Services
Audio Visual
Internet Services
Equipment Rental
Total Ancillary Income

Other Event Income
Ticket Rebates (Per Event)
Total Other Event Income

Total Event Income
Other Operating Income
Adjusted Gross Income

Operating Expenses
Employee Salaries and Wages
Benefits
Less: Event Labor Allocations
Net Employee Wages and Benefits
Contracted Services
General and Administrative
Operations
Repair & Maintenance
Supplies
Insurance
Utilities
SMG Management Fees
Total Operating Expenses

Net Income (Loss) From Operations

Other Income (Expenses)

Net Income After Other Income (Expenses)

Budget - DeVos Place - FY 2012

Prior Year Variance Percentage Varance Percentage
kY 2011 More Change FY 2010 More Change
FY 2012 Rolling / Increase Actual / Increase

Budget Forecast (Less) (Decrease) (Less) (Decrease)
2,577,530 2,710,042 (132,512) -4.89% 2,492,062 85,468 3.43%
1,943,940 1,890,329 53,611 2.84% 2,168,236 (224,296) -10.34%
(1,990,300) (2,037,064) 46,764 -2.30% (2,212,444) 222,144 -10.04%
2,531,170 2,563,307 (32,137) -1.25% 2,447,854 83,316 3.40%
127,931 154,520 (26,589) -17.21% 144,379 (16,448) -11.39%
554,520 577,987 (23,467) -4.06% 541,299 13,221 2.44%
15,100 13,549 1,551 11.45% 14,973 127 0.85%
266,815 284,156 (17,341) -6.10% 237,495 29,320 12.35%
21,500 18,225 3,275 17.97% 4,395 17,105 389.19%
414,600 429,571 (14,971) -3.49% 411,817 2,783 0.68%
277,200 254,321 22,879 9.00% 290,952 (13,752) -4.73%
44,000 50,002 (6,002) -12.00% 49,831 (5,831) -11.70%
168,600 170,075 (1,475) -0.87% 148,271 20,329 13.71%
1,890,266 1,952,406 (62,140) -3.18% 1,843,412 46,854 2.54%
163,245 142,000 21,245 14.96% 139,236 24,009 17.24%
163,245 142,000 21,245 14.96% 139,236 24,009 17.24%
4,584,681 4,657,713 (73,032) -1.57% 4,430,502 154,179 3.48%
55,000 50,992 4,008 7.86% 45,311 9,689 21.38%
4,639,681 4,708,705 (69,024) -1.47% 4,475,813 163,868 3.66%
2,778,139 2,781,569 3,430 0.12% 2,723,993 (54,146) -1.99%
720,240 789,503 69,263 8.77% 738,508 18,268 2.47%
(1,476,327) (1,551,487) (75,160) 4.84% (1,507,507) (31,180) 2.07%
2,022,052 2,019,585 (2,467) -0.12% 1,954,994 (67,058) -3.43%
280,080 293,325 13,245 4.52% 300,870 20,790 6.91%
341,700 338,344 (3,356) -0.99% 288,747 (52,953) -18.34%
117,741 92,217 (25,524) -27.68% 107,023 (10,718) -10.01%
503,065 423,765 (79,300) -18.71% 471,784 (31,281) -6.63%
229,000 177,232 (51,768) -29.21% 168,882 (60,118) -35.60%
206,301 191,147 (15,154) -1.93% 233,403 27,102 11.61%
1,553,400 1,515,060 (38,340) -2.53% 1,364,395 (189,005) -13.85%
161,845 160,417 (1,428) -0.89% 158,672 3,173) -2.00%
5,415,184 5,211,092 (204,092) -3.92% 5,048,770 (366,414) -7.26%
(775,503) (502,387) (273,116) 54.36% (572,957) (202,546) 35.35%
(775,503) (502,387) (273,116) 54.36% (572,957) (202,546) 35.35%

Lead Income Statement Compare

4/25/2011, 1140 AM



DeVos Place
Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2012
Lead Income Statement

Prior Year Variance
FY 2011 More
Rolling /
Total Forecast (Less)
Gross Services Billed
Advertising 30,045 29,216 829
Changeover 10,440 10,153 287
Stagehands 1,133,762 1,161,628 (27,866)
Security 228,149 197,217 30,932
Ushers/Ticket Takers 147,219 143,159 4,060
Box Office - Labor 18,733 18,217 516
Box Office - Ticketing Services 194,475 154,617 39,858
Utilities 9,864 9,592 272
City/Police/Fire 15,974 15,534 440
EMT's 34,400 33,452 948
Cleaning 33,720 32,790 930
Insurance 4,971 4,834 137
Group Sales Commission 1,900 1,848 52
Telephone 3,144 3,057 87
Other Production 77,143 75,016 2,127
Total Services Billed 1,943,940 1,890,329 53,609
Gross Services Expense
Advertising 49,283 50,440 (1,157)
Stagehands 1,023,313 1,047,356 (24,043)
Security 295,985 302,940 (6,955)
Ushers/Ticket Takers 94,162 96,375 (2,213) .
Box Office - Labor 23,042 23,583 (541)
Box Office - Ticketing Services 42,965 43,974 (1,009)
City/Police/Fire 10,760 11,013 (253)
EMT's 29,343 30,032 (689)
Cleaning 312,158 319,492 (7,334)
Insurance 4,132 4,229 97
Group Sales Commission 1,574 1,611 (€Y))
Telephone 598 612 (14)
Other Production 102,986 105,406 (2,420)
Total Services Expense 1,990,300 2,037,064 (46,762)
Total Service Income (Loss) (46,360) (146,735) 100,371




SMG DeVos Place
Grand Rapids - Kent County Convention/Arena Authority
Event Summary Report
For Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2012

Events/Days

Event Type FY 2012 FY 20!l Attendance Rent Service Anciilary Total FY 2011 Variance
Convention/Trade Shows 125 134 145,000 980,000 (70,000) 953,000 1,863,000 1,794,894 68,106
Consumer/Gated Shows 50 50 140,000 653,000 (16,000) 285,225 922,225 961,256 (39,031)
Banquets 36 37 23,400 85,680 (19,500) 197,280 263,460 268,513 (5.053)
Meetings 80 85 24,000 175,000 (9,000) 163,850 329,850 326,054 3,796
Other 40 45 18,000 155,000 (20,000) 189,855 324,855 325,309 (454)
Devos Performance Hall 20 20 25,000 120,000 - 87,500 207,500 269,038 (61,538)
Arts Groups 126 137 137,600 408,850 88,140 176,801 673,791 712,649 (38,858)

GRAND TOTALS 477 508 513,000 2,577,530 (46,360) 2,053,511 4,584,681 4,657,713 (73,032)



VAN ANDEL

GRAND RAPIDS

VAN ANDEL ARENA

OPERATING BUDGET
FISCAL YEAR ENDING JUNE 30, 2012

***[NCLUDES MARCH ROLLING FORECAST***

Distribution:

Grand Rapids — Kent County Convention / Arena Authority
Robert White

Hank Abate

Gary McAneney

Howard Feldman

Richard MacKeigan

Chris Machuta

An SMG Managed Facllity



Van Andel Arena
Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2012
Lead Income Statement

Event Income

Direct Event Income

Rental Income

Service Income

Service Expenses

Total Direct Event Income

Ancillary Income

F & B Concessions

F & B Catering
Novelty Sales

Booth Cleaning

Other Ancillary

Total Ancillary Income

Other Event Income

Ticket Rebates (Per Event)
Total Other Event Income

Total Event Income
Other Operating Income
Adjusted Gross Income

Operating Expenses

Employee Salaries and Wages
Benefits

Less: Event Labor Allocations
Net Employee Wages and Benefits
Contracted Services

General and Administrative
Operations

Repair & Maintenance
Supplies

Insurance

Utilities

SMG Management Fees

Total Operating Expenses

Net Income (Loss) From Operations

Other Income (Expenses)

Net Income After Other Income (Expenses)

Budget - Van Andel Arena - FY 2012

Prior Year Variance Percentage Prior Year Variance Percentage
FY 2011 More Change FY 2011 More Change
FY 2012 Rolling / Increase / Increase

Budget Forecast (Less) (Decrease) Actual {(Less) (Decrease)
1,705,703 1,498,929 206,774 13.79% 1,829,252 (123,549) -6.75%
1,259,835 1,333,324 (73,489) -5.51% 1,865,280 (605,445) -32.46%
(1,706,090) (1,835477) 129,387 -1.05% (2,217,841) 511,751 -23.07%
1,259,448 996,776 262,672 26.35% 1,476,691 (217,243) -14.71%
916,306 986,011 (69,705) -1.07% 1,104,694 (188,388) -17.05%
64,778 83,081 (18,303) -22.03% 87,813 (23,035) -26.23%
89,671 98,689 (9,018) -9.14% 101,664 (11,993) -11.80%
- 1,055 (1,055) -100.00% 1,065 (1,065) -100.00%
30,800 30,776 24 0.08% 33,620 (2,820) -8.39%
1,101,555 1,199,612 (98,057) -8.17% 1,328,856 (227,301 -17.11%
426,990 385,500 41,490 10.76% 380,498 46,492 12.22%
426,990 385,500 41,490 10.76% 380,498 46,492 12.22%
2,787,993 2,581,888 206,105 7.98% 3,186,045 (398,052) -12.49%
2,208,450 2,038,239 170,211 8.35% 2,116,071 92,379 4.37%
4,996,443 4,620,127 376,316 8.15% 5,302,116 (305,673) -5.77%
1,931,080 1,869,643 (61,437) -3.29% 1,923,507 (7,573) -0.39%
540,414 497,036 (43,378) -8.73% 491,236 (49,178) -10.01%
(873,667) (812,657) 61,010 -7.51% (811,330) 62,337 -7.68%
1,597,827 1,554,022 (43,805) -2.82% 1,603,413 5,586 0.35%
265,680 249,753 (15,927) -6.38% 236,105 (29,575) -12.53%
333,100 344,755 11,655 3.38% 328,126 (4,974) -1.52%
56,900 45,343 (11,557) -25.49% 39,819 (17,081) -42.90%
211,185 176,165 (35,020) -19.88% 198,384 (12,801) -6.45%
210,600 187,258 (23,342) -12.47% 155,769 (54,831) -35.20%
130,085 132,392 2,307 1.74% 160,393 30,308 18.90%
958,000 959,083 1,083 0.11% 932,113 (25,887) -2.78%
161,845 160,417 (1,428) -0.89% 158,672 (3,173) -2.00%
3,925,222 3,809,188 (116,034) -3.05% 3,812,794 (112,428) -2.95%
1,071,221 810,939 260,282 32.10% 1,489,322 (418,101) -28.07%
1,071,221 810,939 260,282 32.10% 1,489,322 (418,101) -28.07%

Lead Income Statement Compare

4/25/2011, 11:40 AM



Van Andel Arena

Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2012

Summary of Service Income

Gross Services Billed
Advertising
Labor
Changeover
Stagehands
Security
Ushers/Ticket Takers
Box Office - Labor
Box Office - Ticket Service
City/Police/Fire
EMT's
Cleaning
Group Sales Commission
Telephone
Other Production
Total Service Income Billed

Gross Services Expense
Advertising
Labor
Contracted Changeover
Stagehands
Contracted Security

Contracted Ushers/Ticket Takers

Box Office Labor

Contracted Ticketing Service

City/Police/Fire

Contracted EMT's

Contracted Cleaning

Group Sales Commission

Allocated Telephone

Other Production Expense
Total Services Expense

Total Service Income (Loss)

Prior Year Variance
FY 2011 More
Rolling /

Total Forecast (Less)
327,881 347,007 (104,155)
10,617 11,236 (2,696)
73,959 78,273 (19,250)
396,024 419,125 (105,879)
60,905 64,458 (15,705)
53,458 56,577 (12,613)
4,441 4,700 (797)
63,034 66,711 (18,445)
6,127 6,484 (1,783)
9,440 9,990 (2,786)
56,176 59,453 (12,058)
16,086 17,024 (5,600)
9,596 10,156 (2,841)
172,092 182,130 (73,011)
1,259,835 1,333,324 (377,618)
317,780 341,880 (24,100)
7,671 8,252 (581)
120,035 129,139 (9,104)
374,907 403,339 (28,432)
148,275 159,520 (11,245)
132,858 142,933 (10,075)
3,018 3,247 (229)
50,853 54,710 (3,857)
12,579 13,533 (954)
18,195 19,575 (1,380)
126,249 135,824 (9,575)
5917 6,365 (448)
2,554 2,748 (194)
385,200 414,413 (29,213)
1,706,090 1,835,477 (129,387)
(446,255) (502,153) (248,231)




SMG Van Andel Arena
Grand Rapids - Kent County Convention/Arena Authority
Event Summary Report
For Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2012

Events/Days

Event Type FY 2012 FY 2011 Attendance Rent Service Ancillary Total FY 2011 Variance
Family Shows 22 21 61,500 224,800 (112,931) 100,916 212,785 197,649 15,136
Sports 9 10 40,000 147,900 (57,921) 136,676 226,655 386,217 (159,562)
Concerts 21 16 181,500 816,503 55,800 779,223 1,651,526 1,049,488 602,038
Griffins 38 40 224,200 388,000 (301,920) 453,440 539,520 599,618 (60,098)
Other 10 17 35,000 128,500 (29,283) 58,290 157,507 348916 (191,409)
GRAND TOTALS 100 104 542,200 1,705,703 (446,255) 1,528,545 2,787,993 2,581,888 206,105



SMG - Van Andel Arena / DeVos Place
Grand Rapids - Kent County Convention/Arena Authority

Full Time Employee Summary & Allocation

Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2012

F/Y 2011 F/Y 2012

Position VAA DvP Total VAA DVP Total Change
General Manager 0.50 0.50 1.00 0.50 0.50 1.00 -
Administrative Assistant 0.50 0.50 1.00 0.50 0.50 1.00 -
Director of Finance 0.50 0.50 1.00 0.50 0.50 1.00 -
Accounting Manager 1.00 1.00 2.00 1.00 1.00 2.00 -
Accounting Support 1.50 1.50 3.00 1.50 1.50 3.00 -
Box Office Manager 0.80 0.20 1.00 0.80 0.20 1.00 -
Assistant Box Office Manager 1.00 1.00 2.00 1.00 1.00 2.00 -
Premium Seat/Suite 1.00 - 1.00 1.00 - 1.00 -
Box Office Support 1.00 - 1.00 1.00 - 1.00 -
Director of Marketing 0.50 0.50 1.00 0.50 0.50 1.00 -
Marketing Manager 1.00 - 1.00 1.00 - 1.00 -
Marketing Support 1.00 - 1.00 1.00 - 1.00 -
Group Sales Manager 1.00 - 1.00 1.00 - 1.00 -
Assistant General Manager - Ops 0.50 0.50 1.00 0.50 0.50 1.00 -
Director of Facilities 0.33 0.67 1.00 0.33 0.67 1.00 -
Maintenance Assistant 0.33 0.67 1.00 0.33 0.67 1.00 -
Maintenance Support 4.00 7.00 11.00 4.00 6.00 10.00 (1.00)
Operations Manager 1.00 1.00 2.00 1.00 1.00 2.00 -
Operations Support 9.00 8.00 17.00 9.00 8.00 17.00 -
MIS/IT 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 -
Assistant General Manager - Sales - 1.00 1.00 - 1.00 1.00 -
Director of Sales - 1.00 1.00 - 1.00 1.00 -
Sales Manager 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 -
Sales Support - 1.00 1.00 - 1.00 1.00 -
Director of Event Services - 1.00 1.00 - 1.00 1.00 -
Event Coordinators 2.00 4.00 6.00 1.00 4.00 5.00 (1.00)
House Manager 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 -
Receiptionist/Admin Support 1.00 1.00 2.00 1.00 1.00 2.00 -
Total 2946 3554 65.00 2846 3454 63.00 (2.00)



SMG - Van Andel Arena & DeVos Place
Grand Rapids - Kent County Convention/Arena Authority
Management Fee Summary
Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2012

PLEASE NOTE: The below summary is based on the continuation of current terms of the Management
Agreement and are subject to change based on finalization of new Agreement.

MANAGEMENT FEE SUMMARY

Arena DeVos Place Total FY 2011
Estimate Estimate Estimate Forecast
Net Revenue above Expenses 1,071,221 (775,503) 295,718 308,552
Benchmark 700,000 700,000
Excess 1,071,221 (775,503) (404,282) (391,448)

Incentive Fee Calculation (Only if above greater than zero)

Arena DeVos Place Total Total
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
Base Fee 161,845 161,845 323,690 320,834
Incentive Fee
Revenue 4,996,443 4,639,681 9,636,124 9,328,832
Benchmark Revenue 4,850,000 4,250,000 9,100,000 9,000,000
Revenue Excess 146,443 389,681 536,124 328,832
Incentive Fee ** - - - -
Total SMG Management Fee 161,845 161,845 323,690 320,834

** Incentive fee is 25% of the first $500,000 in excess, 30% of remaining capped at base fee amount,



GRAND RAPBIDS-KENT COUNTY

CONVENTION / ARENA AUTHORITY

ENTERTAINMENT. CCNVYENTION, SHOW & SPORTES FACILITIES

Memorandum
To: Grand Rapids — Kent County
Convention/Arena Authority
From: Robert J. White
Date: May 3, 2011
Re: Convention/Arena Authority (CAA)

Fiscal Year 2012 Budget Request

The attached material summarizes a requested CAA Administrative Operating Budget and
Consolidated Income Statement for the Fiscal Year beginning July 1, 2011 (Fiscal Year 2012).
The format of the report provides the Committee with an overview of Fiscal Year 2010 actual,
Fiscal Year 2011 estimate, and Fiscal Year 2012 preliminary recommendations. Preliminary
Finance Committee review will be held on May 6th with final Board review scheduled for June
3rd.

Table A provides a summary of the facility manager (SMG) budget documents submitted under
separate cover. Based on SMG’s most recent “budget roll,” the current year forecast has been
updated to a net operating income balance of $308552. Funding, requested for FY 2012, would
generate a net operating income of $245,718.

The Fiscal Year 2012 consolidated income statement (Table C) forecasts a net operating income
totaling $409,531. This income will be applied to finance, in part, a capital outlay request
totaling $901,000. The balance of the funds requested will be supported by interest earnings and
a drawdown from the capital reserve account.

Table B provides a summary of the CAA administrative budget. Revenues in this account
include regularly scheduled transfers from the facility manager, parking, interest and other
miscellaneous contributions to the organization. Expenditures from this account include
provision for utilities, capital repair/replacement/improvement (as defined in the SMG
management contract), parking management fees, landscape plantings, and other administrative
expenses. Table B-1, attached hereto, provides additional details concerning utility and
miscellaneous administrative expenditure accounts.



On the basis of these initial budgetary estimates, it is expected that the CAA will close its Fiscal
Year 2011 activities with a “fund balance” approximating $21.7 million. This would include a
recommended minimum operating reserve balance of $6 million and a capital
repair/replacement/improvement reserve of $15.7 million.

Prior fiscal year budget recommendations included a Table D entitled “Capital
Repair/Replacement/Improvement Reserve — Projection of Receipts, Disbursements and
Balances.” The table, last prepared as a part of the Fiscal Year 2009 budget, forecasted capital
requirements of approximately $1 million per annum during the period of Fiscal Year 2010
through Fiscal Year 2014, inclusive, rising to an annual level of approximately $3 million per
annum for the following five fiscal years. Allowing for this level of capital requirements, the
forecast identified a Fund Balance of $13 million at June 30, 2019. Table D has not been
updated as part of this Fiscal Year 2012 budget request. Funding for an “Arena Long-Term
Capital Study” (see Administrative/Other) was approved as a part of the FY 2011 budget, to
provide additional assistance in updating the forecast.

Table D has been included along with the original Fiscal Year 2012 budget materials. This
report provides a “Budget Summary by Facility/Other” formatted report. It organizes revenues
and expenses in three activity areas including Van Andel Arena®, DeVos Place® Convention
Center, and other. This report provides all of the same information contained in Table C, but
also allows the reader to view the overall operations of each facility incorporating therein the
revenues generated by the parking facilities attached or adjacent to the buildings.

Rich MacKeigan, Chris Machuta, Sue Waddell, and I participated in preparation of the attached
recommended budget. We would expect to present this to the Finance Committee, at its May
meeting, and be prepared to answer any additional questions which may arise from a review of
this material.

Attachments: FY 2012 Recommended Budget



Table A
Grand Rapids-Kent County Convention/Arena Authority
SMG Facilities Budget
Fiscal Years Ending June 30, 2010 - 2012

FY 2010 FY 2011 FY 2012
Actual Budgfet Estimate Recommendation
Van Andel Arena
Operating - Revenues $ 5,302,116 $ 5,136,171 $ 4,620,127 $ 4,996,443
- Expenses - Facilities (3,654,125) (3,767,884) (3,648,771) (3,763,377)
- Base Management Fees (158,672) (158,672) (160,417) (161,845)
Net Operating Income $ 1,489,319 $ 1,209,615 $ 810,939 $ 1,071,221
DeVos Place
Operating - Revenues $ 4,475,813 $ 4,507,596 $ 4,708,705 $ 4,639,681
- Expenses - Facilities (4,890,100) (5,059,868) (5,050,675) (5,253,339)
- Base Management Fees (158,672) (158,671) (160,417) (161,845)
Net Operating Loss $ (572,959) $ (710,943) $ (502,387) § (775,503)
Net Available to CAA:
Van Andel Arena $ 1,489,319 $ 1,209,615 $ 810,939 $ 1,071,221
DeVos Place (572,959) (710,943) (502,387) (775,503)
Less - SMG Incentive (238,379) - - -
- DeVos Parking Maintenance (10,000) 0 (50,000)

$ 677,981 $ 488,672 $ 308,552 $ 245,718




Table B
Grand Rapids-Kent County Convention/Arena Authority
Administrative - Operating / Capital Replacement Budget

FY 2012 Recommendation
FY 2010 FY 2011 FY 2012
Actual Budget Estimate Recommendation
Revenues:

Facility Operations $ 677,981 $ 488,672 $ 308,552 $ 245,718
Utility Reimbursement 2,141,458 2,197,800 2,316,143 2,349,600
Transfers from SMG 2,819,439 2,686,472 2,624,695 2,595,318
DeVos Place Parking 780,867 857,613 805,000 930,000 @
VanAndel Parking 123,112 125,003 144,452 190,000 ©
Interest 322,422 435,000 210,000 206,000 @
Miscellaneous 95,217 30,000 30,000 30,000 ©

Total Revenues 4,141,057 4,134,088 3,814,147 3,951,318

Expenditures:

Utilities 2,141,458 2,197,800 2,316,143 2,349,600 ©
Other Operating 270,392 417,842 373,081 391,579 ©
Administration/Other 426,123 549,984 538,642 594,608
Capital-Repair 279,028 - - -
Capital 415,117 4,085,000 3,557,841 901,000

Total Expenditures 3,532,118 7,250,626 6,785,707 4,236,787

Net Excess (Deficit) $ 608939 §(3,116,538) $ (2,971,560) $ (285,469)

Notes: See Following




Table B-1
Grand Rapids-Kent County Convention/Arena Authority
Administrative - Operating / Capital Replacement Budget
FY 2012 Recommendation

Notes:
MDeVos Place Parking Rates: FY 2011 FY 2012
30 Minutes $ 1.00 $ 1.00
Daily Maximum 10.00 10.00
Event 7.00 8.00
Monthly -Public 142.50 150.00
-Reserved Premium 52.50 52.50
-County/SMG (O+M) 18.31 45.00
Van Andel Arena Parking Rates:
Event $ 8.00 $ 9.00
Non-Event Coin Unit 3.00 $ 5.00
Monthly -Public 65.25 80.00
@ $20.6 million (1/31/11 pool balance) in invested funds at 1%.
@ Wine & Food Festival - $16,000 and other Miscellaneous.

@ FY 2011 Carryover Projects:

Theater Shell Upgrade DVP § 100,000

FY 2012 Eligible Projects:

Timing/Scoring Function/Displays VAA $ 220,000
SW Elevator Drive VAA 17,000
Portable Radio Communications VAA 50,000
Water Purification Ice Making VAA 35,000
Portable Radio Communications DVP $ 50,000
Energy/Sustainability Efforts DVP 38,000
Theater Outdoor Marquee DVP 50,000
Fuel Storage Tank DVP 17,000
Theater Shell Compressor DVP 9,000
Security Upgrades DVP 65,000
Technology DVP 40,000
Bathroom Upgrades DVP 50,000
Merchandise Cart VAAF&B §$ 10,000
Electronic Menu Board Sysbem VAAF&B 150,000

Total Capital Request $ 901,000



Table B-1

Grand Rapids-Kent County Convention/Arena Authority

FY 2012 Recommendation
FY 2010 FY 2011 FY 2012
Actual Budget Estimate Recommendation
Utilities®:
Electricity $ 1,303,446 $ 1,239,000 $ 1,426,686 $ 1,400,800
Steam/Gas 725,817 846,000 775,790 836,000
Water/Sewer 112,195 112,800 113,667 112,800
$ 2,141,458 $ 2,197,800 $ 2,316,143 $ 2,349,600
Other Operating®;
Parking Management $§ 171,651 $ 119342 $ 194,081 $ 213,579
Marketing Campaign - 100,000 - -
Landscaping 13,393 90,000 25,000 30,000
Pedestrian Safety 85,348 85,000 104,000 108,000
Repairs - F&B - 23,500 50,000 40,000
$ 270,392 $ 417,842 $ 373,081 $ 391,579
Administration/Other'”:
Wages $ 81,085 $ 106,984 $ 111,934 $ 118,944
Benefits 24,441 24,500 23,044 24,443
Accounting/Audit 34,967 36,000 33,000 36,000
Legal Services 39,711 35,000 32,000 35,000
DID Assessment 53,175 53,500 55,103 58,721
Insurance 22,903 24,000 23,561 24,000
Meetings/Supplies 42,436 15,000 15,000 20,000
Arena Long-Term Capital Study - 50,000 50,000 7,500
Marketing - CVB 75,000 75,000 75,000 75,000
Marketing - Sports Commission 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000
Diversity Initiative 15,106 40,000 40,000 50,000
Procurement of Art (ArtPrize) - 25,000 25,000 30,000
Other 12,299 40,000 30,000 90,000
$ 426,123 $ 549,984 $ 538,642 $ 594,608

Notes:

Detail of Expenditure Estimates

“Downtown Improvement District special assessment contribution from CAA based on benefit allocation formula.

DFyY 2012 budget recommendation anticipates continuing requirement for consulting assistance, plus $50,000 for an

economic impact study.



Table C
Grand Rapids-Kent County Convention/Arena Authority
Consolidated Income Statement
Fiscal Years Ending June 30, 2010-2012

FY 2010 FY 2011 FY 2012
Actual Budget Estimate Recommendation
Operating Revenue:
Event - VanAndel Arena $ 1,476,691 $ 1,460,958 $ 996,776 $ 1,259,448
- DeVos Place 2,447,855 2,409,380 2,563,307 2,531,170
Ancillary - VanAndel Arena 1,328,856 1,230,438 1,199,612 1,101,555
- DeVos Place 1,843,411 1,907,266 1,952,406 1,890,266
Other - VanAndel Arena 2,496,569 2,444,775 2,423,739 2,635,440
- DeVos Place 184,547 190,950 192,992 218,245
-Administration 95,217 30,000 30,000 30,000
Parking - VanAndel Arena 123,112 125,003 144,452 190,000
- DeVos Place 780,867 857,613 805,000 930,000
10,777,125 10,656,383 10,308,284 10,786,124
Operating Expense / Appropriations:
Facility Operations
- VanAndel Arena 3,654,125 3,767,884 3,648,771 3,763,377
- DeVos Place 4,890,100 5,059,868 5,050,675 5,253,339
- Management 555,723 317,343 320,834 323,690
- Parking Maintenance - 10,000 - 50,000
Other Operating 270,392 417,842 373,081 391,579
Capital-Repair 279,028 - - -
Administration/Other 426,123 549,984 538,642 594,608
10,075,491 10,122,921 9,932,003 10,376,593
Operating Income 701,634 533,462 376,281 409,531
Non-Operating Revenue:
Interest 322,422 435,000 210,000 206,000
Transfer (to) from Capital Acct. (415,117) (4,085,000) (3,557,841) (901,000)
(92,695) (3,650,000) (3,347,841) (695,000)
Net Income (Loss) 608,939 (3,116,538) (2,971,560) (285,469)
Fund Balance, beg. of yr. 24,119,455 24,728,394 24,728,394 21,756,834
Fund Balance, end of yr. $ 24728394 § 21,611,856 $§ 21,756,834 $ 21,471,365




Table D
Grand Rapids-Kent County Convention/Arena Authority
Budget Summary by Facility/Other
FY 2012 Recommendation

FY 2010 FY 2011 FY 2012
Actual Budget Estimate Recommendation
Van Andel Arena
Operating - Revenues $ 5,302,116 $ 5,136,171 $ 4,620,127 $ 4,996,443
- Expenses - Facilities (3,654,125) (3,767,884) (3,648,771) (3,763,377)
- Base Management Fees (158,672) (158,671) (160,417) (161,845)
Net Operating Income 1,489,319 1,209,616 810,939 1,071,221
Parking (net of allocated expenses) 123,112 125,003 144,452 190,000
Net Proceeds from VAA 1,612,431 1,334,619 955,391 1,261,221
DeVos Place Convention Center
Operating - Revenues 4,475,813 4,507,596 4,708,705 4,639,681
- Expenses - Facilities (4,890,100) (5,059,768) (5,050,675) (5,253,339)
- Base Management Fees (158,672) (158,671) (160,417) (161,845)
Net Operating Loss (572,959) (710,843) (502,387) (775,503)
Parking (net of allocated expenses) 609,216 738,271 610,919 716,421
Net Proceeds (Cost) of DVP 36,257 27,428 108,532 (59,082)
Other
Revenues
Interest 322,422 435,000 210,000 206,000
Miscellaneous 95,217 30,000 30,000 30,000
417,639 465,000 240,000 236,000
Expenses
Other Operating 377,769 298,500 179,000 178,000
Administration/Other 426,123 549,984 538,642 594,608
Less - SMG Incentive 238,379 - - -
- DeVos Parking Maintenance - 10,000 - 50,000
1,042,271 858,484 717,642 822,608
Net Other (624,632) (393,484) (477,642) (586,608)
Total Operating $ 1,024,056 $ 968,563 $ 586,281 $ 615,531
Capital Expenditures 415,117 4,085,000 3,557,841 901,000
Results Net of Capital Expenditures $ 608,939 $(3,116,437) $(2,971,560) $ (285,469)




GRAND RAPIDS-KENT COUNTY
B

VENTION / ARENA AUTHORlTY

ENIERIAINMENI CONVENTION, SHOW & SPOR

May 2, 2011

TO: CAA Finance Committee

THROUGH: Ric% @i‘ieg n, General Manager, DeVos Place/Van Andel Arena
FROM: ddie Tadlock, Assistant General Manager, DeVos Place

RE: Rental Rates, DeVos Place

Convention | would like to take this opportunity to present SMG’s recommendations for Room
Arena Rental Rates for DeVos Place, effective FY July 2012 through FY June 2016.
Authority SMG has established a 5 year rate card for DeVos Place to provide potential
clients the option to secure rental rates in outlying years, and in some instances
sieven Heacock,  MUItiple years. Historically, while rental rates at DeVos Place have not increased

Chairman more than 3.25% each year over the past few years (averaging between 2.75% -
Birgit Klohs 3%); our rates continue to hover in the mid-range on the regional average. Our
Clif Charles current pricing schedules reflect current economic assumptions in the regional

Gary Mcnemey  marketplace and knowledge of rental rates of comparable venues of similar size
George Heartwell in the area.

Joseph Tomaselli

Lew Chamberlin

We consider our current five year rate card to be a key marketing element for the
facility. Given the flexibility to negotiate rental rates with clients (limited to an
increase or reduction no greater than 20% of the approved rates) current rates
afford us continued opportunities to be competitive in the bidding process for
Regional and National Conventions. By keeping our current 5 year rental rate
card, we position ourselves appropriately to deliver the most value for the quality
of product we serve.

Within the current structure of the rental rate cards approved by the CAA last
fiscal year, SMG is committed to providing the best services required in the
marketing of the facilities.

Attachments: Rental Rate Schedules FY’s, 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015 *2016

*Seeking Approval

X7 Ty ]
} 'SPLACE
Van Anldel AV:/encw 203 M DeV:s Pllgli/:
130 Fulton est onroe Ave. \
Grand Rapids, MI 49503-2601 Grand Rapids, Mél 19;23 ggg(
616.742.6600
Fax 616.742.6197 Fax 616.742.659(

SME>

——————
E—r——TT—



ROOM RENTAL RATES
FY 2012 (July 1, 2011 - June 30, 2012)

ONE DAY
ROOM PERFORM ARTS GROUPS CONVENTION  CONSUMER MEETING  BANQUET
DeVos Hall $2,800 vs $2,800/1" Performance N/A N/A $2,800 N/A
(Sun - Thurs) 12% $1,400/2™ Performance
DeVos Hall $3,300 vs $3,300/1* Performance N/A N/A $2,800 N/A
(Fri-Sat) 12% $1,650/2™ Performance
Hall A-C $18,450 N/A $15,075 or $18,450 or $.29 $18,450 $9,450
vs 12% $.25 net sq. ft. net sq. ft.
Hall A-B $12,300 N/A $10,050 or $12,300 or $12,300 $6,300
or B-C vs 12% $.25 net sq. ft $.29 net sq. ft.
Hall A, B, $6,150 vs N/A $5,025 or $6,150 or $6,150 $3.150
OorC 12% $.25 net sq. ft. $.29 net sq. ft.
Meeting Rooms $1,350 vs N/A $1,100 or $1,350 or $1,350 3975
Grand Gallery 12% $.25 net sq. ft. $.29 net sq. ft.
1* or 2™
Meeting Rooms $450 vs N/A $450 or $450 or $450 $450
Grand Gallery 12% $.25 net sq. ft. $.29 net sq. fi.
Individual
Ballroom $5,450 vs N/A $4,450 or $5,450 or $5,450 $3,200
12% $.25 net sq. ft. 3.29 net sq. ft.
Ballroom $1,900 vs N/A $1,800 or $1,900 or $1.900 $1,450
AB,C-D 12% $.25 net sq. ft. $.29 net sq. ft.
Ballroom $1.050 vs N/A $1,000 or $1,050 or $1,050 $950
CorD 12% $.25 net sq. ft. $.29 net sq. ft.
River Overlook $450 vs N/A $450 per day $450 per day 3450 3450
Meeting Rooms 12%
Board Room N/A N/A $500 per day $500 per day $500 $500
Monroe Mceting $950 vs N/A $900 per day $950 per day $950 $900
Rooms A-D 12%
Monroe Meeting N/A N/A $350 per day $350 per day $350 $350
Room B, C,or D
Recital Hall or $675 vs N/A $675 per day $675 per day $675 3675
Monroe Meeting 12%
Room A

As managers of DeVos Place, SMG has the right 1o negotiate rental rates with clients, but

agrees that such negotiations will be limited to an increase or reduction no greater than 20% of
approved rental rates. These fluctuations may be considered if it became the shared position of
affected area businesses that mutual special consideration is necessary to attract the business.
SMG also has the right to negotiate rates for labor and equipment in accordance with industry

standards, including charging tor items which may not be included on this rental rate sheet




ROOM RENTAL RATES
FY 2013 (July 1, 2012 - June 30, 2013)

ONE DAY
ROOM PERFORM ARTS GROUPS CONVENTION  CONSUMER MEETING  BANQUET
DeVos Hall $2,900 vs $2,900/1" Performance N/A N/A $2,900 N/A
(Sun - Thurs) 12% $1,450/2 Performance
DeVos Hall $3,400 vs $3,400/1* Performance N/A N/A $2,900 N/A
(Fri-Sat) 12% $1,700/2™ Performance
Hall A-C $18,975 N/A $15,600 or $18,975 or $18,975 $9,750
vs 12% $.25 net sq. ft. $.29 net sq. 1.
Hall A-B $12,650 N/A $10,400 or $12,650 or $12,650 $6,500
or B-C vs 12% $.25net sq. ft $.29 net sq. ft.
Hall A, B, $6,325 vs N/A $5.200 or $6,325 or $6,325 $3,250
OrC 12% $.25net sq. ft. $.29 net sq. ft.
Meeting Rooms $1,400 vs N/A $1,150 or $1,400 or $1,400 $1,000
Grand Gallery 12% $.25 net sq. ft, $.29 net sq. fi.
1" or 2™
Meeting Rooms $475 vs N/A $475 or $475 or $475 3475
Grand Gallery 12% $.25 net sq. ft. $.29 net sq. ft.
Individual
Ballroom $5,600 vs N/A $4,600 or $5,600 or $5,600 $3,300
12% $.25 net sq. ft. $.29 net sq. ft.
Ballroom $1,950 vs N/A $1,850 or $1,950 or $1,950 $1,500
A.B,C-D 12% $.25 net sq. ft. $.29 net sq. ft.
Baliroom $1,100 vs N/A $1,050 or $1,100 or $1,100 $1.000
CorD 12% $.25 net sq. ft. $.29 net sq. fi.
River Overlook $475 vs N/A $475 per day $475 per day $475 $475
Meeting Rooms 12%
Board Room N/A N/A $525 per day $525 per day $525 $525
Monroe Meeting $1,000 vs N/A 3950 per day $1,000 per day $1,000 $950
Rooms A-D 12%
Monroe Meeting N/A N/A $375 per day 3375 per day $375 $375
Room B, C, or D
Recital Hall or $700 vs N/A $700 per day $700 per day $700 S700
Monroe Meeting 12%
Room A

As managers of DeVos Place, SMG has the right to negotiate rental rates with clients, but

agrees that such negotiations will be limited to an increase or reduction no greater than 20% of
approved rental rates. These fluctuations may be considered if it became the shared position of
affected area businesses that mutual special consideration is necessary to attract the business,
SMG also has the right to negotiate rates for fabor and equipment in accordance with mdustry
standards. including charging for items which may not be included on this rental rate sheet



ROOM RENTAL RATES
FY 2014 (July 1, 2013 - June 30, 2014)

ONE DAY
ROOM PERFORM ARTS GROUPS CONVENTION  CONSUMER MEETING  BANQUET
DeVos Hall $3,000 vs $3,000/1* Performance N/A N/A $3.000 N/A
(Sun - Thurs) 12% $1,500/2™ Performance
DeVos Hall $3,500 vs $3.500/1" Performance N/A N/A $3,000 N/A
(Fri-Sat) 12% $1,750/2"™ Performance
Hall A-C $19,500 N/A $16,125 or $19,500 or $19,500 $10,050
vs 12% $.25 net sq. ft. $.29 net sq. ft.
Hall A-B $13,000 N/A $10,750 or 313,000 or $13,000 $6,700
or B-C vs 12% $.25 net sq. ft $.29 net sq. ft.
Hall A, B, $6,500 vs N/A $5,375 or $6,500 or $6,500 $3,350
orC 12% $.25 net sq. ft. $.29 net sq. ft.
Meeting Rooms $1,450 vs N/A $1.200 or $1,450 or $1,450 $1,025
Grand Gallery 12% $.25 net sq. ft. $.29 net sq. f.
1* or 2™
Meeting Rooms $500 vs N/A $500 or $500 or $500 $500
Grand Gallery 12% $.25 net sq. ft. $.29 net sq. ft.
Individual
Ballroom 85,750 vs N/A $4,750 or $5,750 or $5,750 $3,400
12% $.25 net sq. fi. $.29 net sq. ft.
Ballroom $2,000 vs N/A $1,900 or $2,000 or $2,000 31,550
A,B.C-D 12% $.25 net sq. ft. $.29 net sq. ft.
Ballroom $1,150 vs N/A $1,100 or $1.150 or $1,150 $1,050
CorD 12% $.25 net sq. ft. $.29 net sq. ft.
River Overlook $500 vs N/A $500 per day $500 per day $500 $500
Meeting Rooms 12%
Board Room N/A N/A $550 per day $550 per day $550 $550
Monroe Meeting $1,050 vs N/A $1.000 per day $1,050 per day 51,050 $1,000
Rooms A-D 12%
Monroe Meeting N/A N/A $400 per day $400 per day S400 %400
Room B, C, or D
Recital Hall or $750 vs N/A 3750 per day 3750 per day $750 $750
Monroe Meeting 12%
Room A

As managers of DeVos Place, SMG h

as the right to negotiate rental rates with clients, but

agrees that such negotiations will be limited to an increase or reduction no greater than 20% of
approved rental rates. These fluctuations may be considered if it became the shared position of
affected area businesses that mutual special consideration is necessary to attract the business
SMG also has the right to negotiate rates for labor and equipment in accordance with mndustry
standards. including charging for items which may not be included on this rentad rate sheet,



ROOM RENTAL RATES
FY 2015 (July 1, 2014 - June 30, 2015)

ONE DAY
ROOM PERFORM ARTS GROUPS CONVENTION  CONSUMER MEETING  BANQUET
DeVos Hall 33,100 vs $3,100/1" Performance N/A N/A $3,100 N/A
(Sun - Thurs) 12% $1,550/2™ Performance
DeVos Hall $3,600 vs $3,600/1" Performance N/A N/A $3,100 N/A
(Fri-Sat) 12% $1,800/2™ Performance
Hall A-C $20,025 N/A $16,650 or $20,025 or $20,025 $10,350
vs 12% $.25 net sq. ft. $.29 net sq. ft.
Hall A-B $13,350 N/A $11,100 or $13,350 or $13,350 $6,900
or B-C vs 12% $.25 net sq. fi $.29 net sq. ft.
Hall A, B, 36,675 vs N/A $5,550 or $6,675 or $6,675 $3,450
orC 12% $.25 net sq. ft. $.29 net sq. fi.
Meeting Rooms $1,500 vs N/A $1,250 or $1,500 or $1,500 $1,050
Grand Gallery 12% $.25 net sq. ft. $.29 net sq. ft.
1" or 2™
Meeting Rooms $525 vs N/A $525 or $525 or $525 $525
Grand Gallery 12% $.25net sq. ft. $.29 net sq. ft.
Individual
Ballroom $5,900 vs N/A $4,900 or $5,900 or $5,900 $3,500
12% $.25 net sq. ft. $.29 net sq. fi.
Ballroom $2,050 vs N/A $1,950 or $2,050 or $2,050 $1,600
A,B,C-D 12% $.25 net sq. fi. $.29 net sq. ft.
Ballroom $1.200 vs N/A $1,150 or $1,200 or $1,200 31,100
CorD 12% $.25 net sq. ft. 3.29 net sq. fi.
River Overlook $525 vs N/A $525 per day $525 per day $525 $525
Meeting Rooms 12%
Board Room N/A N/A $575 per day $575 per day $575 $575
Monroe Meeting SLI100 vs N/A $1,050 per day $1,100 per day $1,100 $1,050
Rooms A-D 12%
Monroe Meeting N/A N/A 3425 per day $425 per day $425 S425
Room B, C,or D
Recital Hall or $775 vs N/A $775 per day $775 per day 3775 $775
Monroe Meeting 12%
Room A

As managers of DeVos Place, SMG has the right to negotiate rental rates with clients, but

agrees that such negotiations will be linited to an increase or reduction no greater than 20% of
approved rental rates. These fluctuations may be considered if it became the shared position of
affected area businesses that mutual special consideration is necessary to attract the business.
SMG also has the right to negotiate rates for labor and equipment in accordance with industry

standards, including charging for items which may not be included on this rental rate sheet




ROOM RENTAL RATES
FY 2016 (July 1, 2015 - June 30, 2016)

ONE DAY
ROOM PERFORM ARTS GROUPS CONVENTION CONSUMER MEETING  BANQUET
DeVos Hall $3,200 vs $3,200/1* Performance N/A N/A $3,200 N/A
(Sun - Thurs) 12% $1,600/2™ Performance
DeVos Hall $3,700 vs $3,700/1* Performance N/A N/A $3,200 N/A
(Fri-Sat) 12% $1,850/2™ Performance
Hall A-C $20,550 N/A $17,175 or $20,550 or $20,550 $10,650
vs 12% $.25 net sq. fi. $.29 net sq. fi.
Hall A-B $13,700 N/A $11,450 or $13,700 or 813,700 $7,100
or B-C vs 12% $.25 net sq. f $.29 net sq. fi.
Hall A, B, $6,850 vs N/A $5,725 or $6,850 or $6,850 $3,550
orC 12% $.25 net sq. fi. $.29 net sq. f1.
Meeting Rooms $1,550 vs N/A $1,300 or $1,550 or $1.550 $1,075
Grand Gallery 12% $.25 net sq. ft. $.29 net sq. ft.
ls( or 2nd
Meeting Rooms $550 vs N/A $550 or $550 or $550 $550
Grand Gallery 12% $.25 net sq. ft. $.29 net sq. ft.
Individual
Ballroom $6,050 vs N/A $5,050 or $6,050 or $6.050 $3.600
12% $.25 net sq. 1. $.29 net sq. ft.
Ballroom $2,100 vs N/A $2,000 or $2,100 or $2.100 $1,650
A,B,C-D 12% $.25 net sq. f. $.29 net sq. A,
Ballroom $1,250 vs N/A $1,200 or $1,250 or $1,250 $1,150
CorD 12% $.25 net sq. f. $.29 net sq. fi.
River Overlook $550 vs N/A $550 per day $550 per day $550 $550
Meeting Rooms 12%
Board Room N/A N/A $600 per day $600 per day $600 $600
Monroe Meeting $1,150 vs N/A $1,100 per day $1,150 per day $1.150 $1,100
Rooms A-D 12%
Monroe Meeting N/A N/A $450 per day 3450 per day $450 $450
Room B, C,or D
Recital Hall or 5825 vs N/A $825 per day $825 per day £825 $825
Monroe Meeting 12%
Room A

As managers of DeVos Place, SMG has the right to negotiate rental rates with clients, but

agrees that such negotiations will be limited to an increase or reduction no greater than 20% of
approved rental rates. These fluctuations may be considered if it became the shared position of
atfected arca businesses that mutual special consideration is necessary to attract the business.
SMG also has the right to negotiate rates for labor and equipment in accordance with industry

standards. including charging for items which may not be included on this rental rate sheet




Item 4

GRAND RAPIDS-KENT COUNTY
CONVENTION/ARENA AUTHORITY

RESOLUTION APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION
OF A MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT WITH SMG FOR THE VAN
ANDEL ARENA® AND DEVOS PLACE®

Boardmember , supported by Boardmember ,

moved the adoption of the following resolution:

WHEREAS, the current Management Agreement, as amended between the Grand
Rapids-Kent County Convention/Arena Authority (the "CAA"), and SMG dated as of July 1,
2006, terminates on June 30, 2011; and

WHEREAS, the CAA and SMG have negotiated a new Management Agreement to be
dated and effective July 1, 2011 (the "Management Agreement"); and

WHEREAS, the CAA Board desires to approve and authorize the execution of the
Management Agreement substantially in the form presented at this meeting.

RESOLVED:

1. That the Management Agreement substantially in the form presented at this
meeting is hereby approved with such modifications not materially adverse to the CAA approved
as to content by the CAA Chairman and as to form by the CAA’s legal counsel and the Chairman
is authorized and directed to execute the approved Management Agreement for and on behalf of
the CAA.

2. That all resolutions and parts of resolutions in conflict herewith shall be, and the
same are hereby, rescinded to the extent of such conflict.

YEAS: Boardmembers

NAYS: Boardmembers

GRAPIDS 61448-159 263325v1



ABSTAIN: Boardmembers

ABSENT: Boardmembers

Dated: May 6, 2011

Susan Waddell
Administrative Manager/Recording Secretary

CERTIFICATION

I, the undersigned duly qualified and acting Administrative Manager/Recording Secretary
of the Grand Rapids-Kent County Convention/Arena Authority (the "CAA"), do hereby certify
that the foregoing is a true and complete copy of a resolution adopted by the CAA Board at a
regular meeting held on May 6, 2011, and that public notice of said meeting was given pursuant
to and in compliance with Act 267 of the Public Acts of Michigan of 1976, as amended.

Dated: May 6, 2011

Susan Waddell
Administrative Manager/Recording Secretary

GRAPIDS 61448-159 263325v1



5/3/11 RAW

COMPARISON OF KEY PROVISIONS OF EXISTING AND
NEW MANAGEMENT AGREEMENTS BETWEEN CAA AND SMG

Provision Existing Agreement New Agreement
Relationship CAA’s Agent Independent Contractor
CAA Administrative | Appointed by CAA Board Appointed by CAA Board, if no

Official

appointment, CAA Board Chair
serves in capacity

Term 3-year term and one 2-year CAA | 3-year term and two 2-year options
option ending June 30, 2011 ending June 30, 2018
Base Fee $321,000 FY 2012 (increased | $325,000 FY 2013 (increased

annually by CPI capped at 3% per
year) plus $50,000 if F&B

annually by CPI capped at 3% per
year) plus $50,000 if F&B

Agreement terminated Agreement terminated
Incentive Fee May not exceed 100% of base fee | Same
25% of first $500,000 of Revenue | Same

Increase over Revenue Benchmark
and 30% over $500,000

Revenue Benchmark - $9,000,000
FY 2011 (began at $8,600,000 and
increased $100,000 annually)

Revenue Benchmark - $9,100,000
FY 2012 and increasing $100,000
annually thereafter

Threshold net operating income
$700,000 - 100% of incentive fee

Threshold net operating income of
$700,000 or more but less than
$750,000 - 75% of incentive fee, if
$750,000 or more 100% of incentive
fee

Internal Audits

SMG required to periodically
conduct internal audits and
immediately thereafter provide the
CAA with copies of such audits

SMG required to periodically
conduct internal audits and upon
request provide CAA Administrative
Official with a copy of audit

Early Termination

CAA may terminate early upon
180 days' notice with a majority
vote of Boardmembers currently
serving and the payment to SMG
of the greater of the remaining
balance of the current annual base
fee or one-half of such base fee

Same

GRAPIDS 61448-159 263383vl1




5/5/11 RAW

MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT
between the

GRAND RAPIDS-KENT COUNTY
CONVENTION/ARENA AUTHORITY

and
SMG

Dated as of July 1, 2011




Section 1.1.

Section 2.1.
Section 2.2.
Section 2.3.
Section 2.4.
Section 2.5.
Section 2.6.
Section 2.7.
Section 2.8.
Section 2.9.

Section 3.1.
Section 3.2.

Section 4.1.
Section 4.2.

Section 5.1.
Section 5.2.
Section 5.3.
Section 5.4.
Section 5.5.
Section 5.6.

Section 6.1,

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v1v4

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1
DEFINITIONS

DEfINItIONS ..cververieneecienerteeeetreneeeeereerieesseessessaesessensentessessasssensessassessonsonsassennes 2

ARTICLE 11

ENGAGEMENT OF SMG; SCOPE OF SERVICES

ENgagement ........ccovviiiiiiiiniiiniiiiiiietretectecee et e e e saeesaesne st ssn e anas 5
SCOPE OF SEIVICES ...eeeuririiieiierrinrerieintesersteseesreessesteseessesseesseesseessasssessasssessesssens 5
SPECILIC SEIVICES ...cuvervirirrrireitiiiisistrctesreeeeessteeeressessaestessessessesssesessassassnenens 6
USE Of PIEMIISES . .cuverureneereeiirrereienieeetesienessteneesessesaessessessesssssesssessessesessassasans 8
BOOKINGS......eiiiireieeiitiretrtcreretesee e seesresssnesesassessessesasssessnssesssassasessnssassasnns 9
INSUTANCE ....oooviiiiiiiiiiiectecteentete ettt sre e s sresaeessasanessnessassnassasanesnns 9
Right of Entry RESEIved ......cocccvuiviriinininiiciiieniniiniitnecneeececeeee st 9
COMPULET SYSIEIM ....couveereireerieeeseierereessreeseesreesseseessessesssesssesssessassssssesssessassens 9
ParKing.....cccuevtrirenieeirtrree sttt ereee st e e esresee s e e sbesaesaessassnesaasanesas s sresaessassans 10

ARTICLE III

TERM AND RENEWALS

Management Term and Renewal Terms ........ccccoeveeieviecveneeciencesieneeceenieeen. 10
NEW AGIEEMENL.........cevrrrrierriereerernteneesreestesesrsesessaessessasessassssssasssassssssessessaes 11

ARTICLE 1V

SMG'S COMPENSATION

BaSE FEE ..ottt ettt r s r e saen s 11
INCENLIVE FEE ....cuviuieiiieeiccrerterccrereterenre et st e sttt s e e e sbe s e e e e sesn et e seebeeas 12

ARTICLE V

FUNDING; BUDGETS; BANK ACCOUNTS

ANNUAL BUAGELS ...c..eoveviiiiiriicrcireecstesrenreste e stesse s e see e saesaessassessesassaenees 12
FUNAING....cniiiiieieeetetencctccte st e et esee s se e e ses e saesaesasneresbasanns 14
RECEIPLS ..ttt ste st e ste et e ste s e te s s esaeae s e besss et e seeressersennensanans 14
Ticket Sales REVENUES.........ccccvcreeiiiereneneneieieee e reete e e seese e ere s ens 15
Capital Improvements; Capital Equipment .............cccceeveeeereereerereneennreceerenenes 16
Limitation of SMG LIability .......cccceceervereeveeeneeiinieserieeneereevesnessereeseesessessees 16

ARTICLE VI

RECORDS, AUDITS AND REPORTS
Records and AUdits ........ccceceeviiviiineneneeiiieceseci et e e s e ne s s enees 16
=



Section 6.2.
Section 6.3.
Section 6.4.
Section 6.5.

Section 7.1.
Section 7.2.

Section 8.1.
Section 8.2.
Section 8.3.
Section 8.4.
Section 8.5.
Section 8.6.

Section 9.1.
Section 9.2.

Section 10.1.
Section 10.2.

Section 11.1.
Section 11.2,
Section 11.3.

Section 12.1.
Section 12.2.
Section 12.3.

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v1v4

ANNUAL PIaN ...ttt sa s ee s sne e saeeresaeneenne 17
MoONthly REPOITS...cccvviiruiiiiciririeinertrercrsretseesestesseessesaesseraseessssasseseessesees 17
Annual Performance ReVIEW.........ccvvveeriniiieniniiniiiiirenineeeseeneseseessessessenenns 18
Internal AUIES......c.cocvvverieieienenicrtrcrerecenencre e e s et este st e e sbassaensaes 18
ARTICLE VII
EMPLOYEES
SMG EMPLOYEES.....ccueereireererereeieerenreniiseistssssessesesssssessersessssessessssessessessesses 18
No Solicitation of Employment by City and CAA.........ccooevvvvvenrreneeenrerenne 19
ARTICLE VIII
INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE
INdEMNIFICALION ....cuvevrereireereiereeeteirienteste e sere s e s e s e e sessesesnesessessessasaenes 19
Liability INSUIANCE.........cocvvirivirieenieinieintiesesteeereeesseesesssaesesessesesesessssesessees 20
Workers Compensation INSUTance............cceeevveeerieieeeieeseeeienenreeseererseeseessenses 21
Fidelity Bond.......ccccoviiviiiiieicieciicieicrerecesrerreneereessesesessesssesessesssssessesssensees 21
Property INSUTANCE..........cooveeeririeeetnienteceneereesrees s e e siessessesresressaeseaes 21
Certain Other INSULANCE.........c.coevveierieeniecierecteietestestessesee e senenesesssesessessessenns 22
ARTICLE IX
OWNERSHIP OF ASSETS
OWRNETSNIP ...venviiiiiiieiiiteineieetetetsestentetsse s sest e s s ssese s sesesaebassessassessanes 22
CAA ODBLAIONS. ....coveruererrerirrereeierieresreriesesesseressessessesssssessesessssesesssssessensorsenes 23
ARTICLE X
ASSIGNMENT; AFFILIATES
ASSIZIIMENL. ..c.vcuviuiiieiirreerietrenrertrtertsestesteesse e sessessessssssssssessesessasnesessassarsenns 23
SMG ASFIHALES. ...coeiuiriiierererrerteenenie et ettt seeressessessese s e s sessesaesaenens 23
ARTICLE XI
LAWS AND PERMITS
Permits, Licenses, Taxes and LIENS......ccccevvvcveeerieeinieeiierieeeeseeseeeseesessessesesssnes 24
Governmental COMPLIANCE..........ccceriririeeririierieeerrereeeerenrestesresressesseeseesensens 24
No Discrimination in Employment ...........c.cocoueveieeentenreeeeeinniereseeneeneneseens 24
ARTICLE XII
TERMINATION
Termination Upon Default. .........coocevuieerrerereerenireneenreeeeeeerersneseeessesennns 25
Termination Other than Upon Default ............cccooeveveeevneceneceneeereeeeeeevne 25
Effect of Termination ...........cccceveeeveeenenieienenieseeeeeseeseeseesesesseseesessessessesneseees 25
-ii-



Section 12.4. NON-EXCIUSIVE REMEAIES .....evviiieeieeeeieeeieeeerereeeeersseesesssseressssssssssssssesesssssessns 26

Section 12.5.  Surrender of PremiSes ..........covveeerrrerenrrirenserereresererinsessssesessessesesessesessssssenes 26
ARTICLE XIII
MISCELLANEOUS
Section 13.1. Use of the Facilities at Direction of the County, the City or the CAA ............ 27
Section 13.2.  Alternative Dispute ReSOIULION ........cecveueereereeeiereeeirtereeneer et veseenens 27
Section 13.3. No Partnership Joint Venture; Prohibited Relationships............ccoceevrvereeennne. 29
Section 13.4. EnNtir€ AGreement ...........cceevervrererurerecrrrerieressesessssssesssssesssessessessesesssesessssesenes 29
Section 13.5. Written AMENAMENLS .......cccoveveerrrereririeereiesieereneresaesessersesensesassessssesessesesensens 29
Section 13.6. FOrce MaJEUrE..........ccoueuireviererieiniiernrrerenesessesessesesssseseseesesssesssssssssossssssssssans 30
Section 13.7. Binding Upon Successors and Assigns, No Third-Party Beneficiaries............ 31
SeCtion 13.8. NNOLCES...cccccceuriririrriirieirtiinteesnts e sse e e ssest s e s s se s s sessenesssessassesensans 31
Section 13.9. Section Headings and Defined Terms..........cooevevveriveerineevniniericineeneeeeenensnennens 32
Section 13.10. COUNLEIPAITS ......coveverereereerrrererertriereessetesessesseseseesesesenesesnesesessessesessssessssssseneans 32
Section 13.11. SeVEIability........cccovvirerirrrririnienirirersiesereesessseeesee s sresessesresesssserssssesessans 32
Section 13.12. NON-WAIVET .......cccouruirirrrrrinteeniireieinirneestssesesstesssssseseseeseessesnesessssesesssesssenes 32
Section 13.13. APPIOVALS ........cceceeireirerieiritereeree e st es b s ebesssbestssesnebesesssssenas 32
Section 13.14. Michigan Law to APPLY .....cccecevirrenrrernrentnenieenseeeterenereeseessenessssesessesesesenns 33
Section 13.15. Certain Other Representations of the CAA .........cccocevrieeereneeerererereeeererererenes 33
Section 13.16. Host Neighborhood ProviSions. ..........cccceeeeveviviereriierieiiniesereesseseseesesesnesesenne 33
EXHIBIT A Pedestrian WalkWay ..........ccccvveeriiniienenieiiecrieeecreeereeesesesessersessesessessssennes A-1
-iii-

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670vIv4



MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT

THIS MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is dated as of July 1, 2011,
between the GRAND RAPIDS - KENT COUNTY CONVENTION/ARENA AUTHORITY,
a Michigan authority created pursuant to Act 203 of the Public Acts of Michigan of 1999 (the
“CAA”), whose current address is 303 Monroe Avenue, N.W., Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503
and SMG, a Pennsylvania general partnership (“SMG”), whose current address is 300
Conshohocken State Road, Suite 770, West Conshohocken, Pennsylvania 19428.

RECITALS

A. The CAA has leased the Van Andel Arena (the “Arena”) as more fully described
herein and located at 130 West Fulton Street in the City of Grand Rapids, Kent County,
Michigan (the “City”), from the Downtown Development Authority of the City of Grand Rapids
(the “DDA”) which lease will remain in effect until the outstanding tax-exempt bonds of the
DDA used in part to finance the Arena have been paid in full or defeased after which the CAA
will become the owner of the Arena.

B. During the term of the lease with the DDA and thereafter the CAA is responsible
for operating the Arena.

C. The CAA has leased DeVos Place Convention Center consisting of the Steelcase
Ballroom, DeVos Performance Hall, exhibit space and other meeting rooms and conference areas
(the “Convention Center”) as more fully described herein and located at 303 Monroe Avenue,
N.W. in the City from the City of Grand Rapids and County of Kent Joint Building Authority
(the “Building Authority”) which lease will remain in effect until the outstanding tax-exempt
bonds of the Building Authority used in part to finance the Convention Center have been paid in
full or defeased and after which the CAA will become the owner of the Convention Center.

D. During the term of the lease with the Building Authority and thereafter the CAA
is responsible for operating the Convention Center.

E. SMG is engaged in the business of providing management services, including
operations and marketing services, for public assembly facilities such as the Arena and the
Convention Center.

F. The CAA and SMG are currently parties to a Management Agreement dated as of
July 1, 2006, and modified by a First Addendum to Management Agreement dated as of
December 29, 2008, a Second Addendum to Management Agreement dated as of February 23,
2009, a Third Addendum to Management Agreement dated as of April 29, 2009, and a First
Amendment to Management Agreement dated as of July 1, 2006 (collectively, the “2006
Management Agreement”), pursuant to which SMG is currently providing management services
to the Arena and the Convention Center. The term of the 2006 Management Agreement ends
June 30, 2011.

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v4



G. The CAA and SMG desire to enter into a new agreement for the management of
the Arena and the Convention Center to be effective July 1, 2011.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises, covenants and
agreements herein contained, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, hereby agree as
follows:

ARTICLE 1
DEFINITIONS

Section 1.1. Definitions.
For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms have the following meanings:

"Affiliate" means a person that directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries,
controls or is controlled by, or is under common control with, a specified person. For purposes
of this definition, "control" means ownership of equity securities or other ownership interests
which represent more than 40% of the voting power in the controlled person.

"Approved Budget" means the annual operating budget for the Arena or the Convention
Center, as approved by the CAA Board and amended in accordance with Article V hereof.

"Arena" means the Van Andel Arena® located at 130 W. Fulton Street in the City and
shall include the Pedestrian Walkway.

"Arena Operating Account" means the account maintained by SMG in accordance with
Article V hereof (with signature authority in such SMG employees as SMG may from time to
time determine) at the banking institution currently serving in such capacity as identified in
Section 5.2(b) hereof or to be replaced as provided in said Section 5.2(b).

"CAA" means the Grand Rapids-Kent County Convention/Arena Authority, a Michigan
authority created pursuant to Act 203 of the Public Acts of Michigan of 1999.

"CAA Board" means the Board of Directors of the CAA, its governing body.

"CAA Administrative Official" means the administrative official of the CAA as from
time to time appointed by the CAA Board or such person as may from time to time be authorized
in writing by such CAA Administrative Official to act for him/her with respect to any or all
matters pertaining to this Agreement. If there shall be no CAA Administrative Official
appointed and serving, the Chairperson of the CAA Board shall be deemed to be the CAA
Administrative Official.

"Capital Equipment” means any and all furniture, machinery or equipment, either

additional or replacement, having a per item original cost of $6,000 or more and an expected
useful life of more than one year.

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v14



"Capital Improvements" means any and all building additions, alterations, renovations,
repairs (which extend the original useful life of the repaired asset) or improvements that have an
initial dollar cost of not less than $30,000 per project.

"City" means the City of Grand Rapids, Kent County, Michigan.
"City Commission" means the City Commission of the City, its governing body.

"Convention Center" means the DeVos Place convention center including the Steelcase
Ballroom, DeVos Performance Hall, exhibit space, meeting rooms, conference areas and to the
extent provided in Section 2.9(a) hereof, the below grade parking facility in the Convention
Center located at 303 Monroe Avenue, N.W., in the City.

"Convention Center Operating Account" means the account maintained by SMG in
accordance with Article V hereof (with signature authority in such SMG employees as SMG may
from time to time determine) at the banking institution currently serving in such capacity as
identified in Section 5.2(b) hereof or to be replaced as provided in said Section 5.2(b).

"County" means Kent County, Michigan.
"County Board" means the Board of Commissioners of the County, its governing body.

"Facility" or "Facilities" means individually and collectively the Arena and the
Convention Center.

"First Renewal Term" means, subject to Section 3.1(b) hereof, the 2-year period from
July 1, 2014, to June 30, 2016, for which this Agreement may be renewed (beyond the Initial
Term) at the option of the CAA Board in accordance with Section 3.1 hereof.

"Fiscal Year" means a one year period beginning July 1 and ending June 30.

"Initial Term" means, subject to Section 3.1(a) hereof, the 3-year period commencing on
July 1, 2011 and ending on June 30, 2014.

"Net Operating Income/Incentive Benchmark" shall have the meaning set forth in Section
4.2 hereof.

"Operating Expenses" means any and all expenditures or obligations of whatever kind or
nature incurred, directly or indirectly, by SMG on behalf of the CAA in promoting, operating,
maintaining, marketing or managing each Facility, including, but not limited to: employee
compensation (e.g., base salaries, bonuses and car allowances); employee benefits and related
costs (e.g., relocation expenses and parking); the purchase of operating supplies; advertising
costs; cleaning expenses; data processing costs; dues, subscriptions and membership costs, the
costs of procuring and maintaining the insurance and fidelity bond referred to in Article VIII
below; amounts expended to procure and maintain permits and licenses and to pay charges,
taxes, excises and fees, professional fees, printing and stationery costs, all event-related expenses
(e.g., fees payable to promoters and performers, costs for event staffing and costs relating to set-
up and clean-up); postage and freight costs; equipment rental costs; computer line charges;

-3-

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v14



repairs and maintenance costs; security expenses; the cost of office supplies; utility and
telephone charges; travel expenses; reasonable entertainment expenses; the cost of employee
uniforms; exterminator and trash removal costs; CAA internal service charges; reimbursable
corporate (travel) expenses directly related to SMG's management of each Facility; the cost of
annual independent audits; the costs of operation and maintenance responsibilities of the CAA
related to the Pedestrian Walkway; the costs of maintenance responsibilities of the CAA related
to the below grade parking facility in the Convention Center; as provided in Section 2.9(a)
hereof; the cost of compliance with all laws with respect to each Facility; and the fixed
management fees payable to SMG pursuant to Section 4.1 hereof; all damages, losses or
expenses suffered or paid by the CAA, or, at the CAA’s direction, by SMG, as a result of any
and all claims, demands, suits, causes of action, proceedings, judgments and liabilities including
reasonable attorney fees incurred in litigation or otherwise, assessed, incurred or sustained, all as
determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and recognized on a full
accrual basis; provided that Operating Expenses shall not include expenditures in connection
with Capital Improvements and Capital Equipment purchases (and any capital reserves related
thereto), the incentive fees payable pursuant to Section 4.2 hereof and any capital costs or
operating expenses of any nature whatsoever relating to the operation of the parking lots
servicing the Arena. Solely for purposes of (i) calculating Net Operating Income/Incentive
Benchmark and (ii) identifying Operating Expenses for each Facility which will be budgeted in
the applicable Approved Budgets, Operating Expenses shall exclude fees paid to promoters and
other amounts which are excluded from Operating Revenues (in accordance with the second to
last sentence in the definition of Operating Revenues), among other things, in calculating SMG's
incentive fee hereunder. For the sake of clarity, the fees and amounts, which are excluded from
Operating Expenses pursuant to the immediately preceding sentence, shall include all event-
related expenses (including costs for event staffing and costs relating to set-up and clean-up).

"Operating Revenues" means any and all revenues of every kind or nature derived from
operating, managing or promoting each Facility, including, but not limited to, license, lease and
concession fees and rentals; revenues from merchandise sales; advertising sales; equipment
rentals; utility revenues; box office revenues; commissions or other revenues from decoration,
set-up and security subcontractors; the revenues the CAA receives from the Pedestrian Walkway;
miscellaneous operating revenues, revenues generated from separate agreements with SMG
Affiliates pertaining to each Facility; and interest revenues, all as determined in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles and recognized on a full accrual basis. Solely for
purposes of (i) calculating Net Operating Income/Incentive Benchmark, (ii) identifying
Operating Revenues for each Facility which will be budgeted in applicable Approved Budgets,
(iii) calculating any Revenue Increase pursuant to Section 4.2 hereof, and (iv) determining
amounts of Operating Revenues to be deposited by SMG into the appropriate designated
depository(ies) pursuant to Section 5.3 hereof, Operating Revenues will be calculated on a "net"
basis to exclude (v) Operating Revenues which are paid to promoters of events, (w) Operating
Revenues which are collected in the first instance by and retained by concessionaires at each
Facility, (x) Operating Revenues which are collected in the first instance by and retained by
subcontractors working within or for each Facility, (y) Operating Revenues which are used to
pay event-related (or comparable) expenses and which, in accordance with principles applied by
SMG on a consistent basis at each Facility are to be netted against Operating Expenses in
calculating budgeted Operating Revenues and (z) revenues received from the below grade
parking facility in the Convention Center and from the surface parking lot south and adjacent to

4-

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v14



the Arena. In addition, solely for purposes of calculating the Net Operating Income/Incentive
Benchmark, and any Revenue Increase pursuant to Section 4.2 hereof Operating Revenues (A)
from advertising sales shall consist of such revenues after deduction for payments (1) of any
commissions owing in respect of such advertising sales and (2) in respect of advertising sales
due under any long term tenant agreement(s) (including without limitation the hockey team and
any other long term Arena sports tenant), and (B) from food and beverage concession sales shall
consist of such revenues after deduction for payments in respect of such sales due under any long
term tenant agreement(s) (including without limitation the hockey team and any other long term
Arena sports tenant).

“Operations Manual” means a document developed by SMG which contains terms
regarding the management and operation of each of the Facilities, including detailed policies and
procedures to be implemented in operating each Facility, as agreed upon by both the CAA and
SMG. The parties acknowledge that to the extent that such manual contains any proprietary
information of SMG (e.g., SMG-wide, not Facility-specific, operating policies, procedures and
software) such information shall remain the property of SMG and shall not be kept at the
Facilities after the expiration or sooner termination of this Agreement.

"Pedestrian Walkway" means an enclosed elevated pedestrian walkway extending from
the west wall of the Arena to Plaza Towers located at the northwest corner of Fulton Street and
Monroe Avenue, N.W., in the City as identified in Exhibit A attached hereto.

"Revenue Benchmark" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.2 hereof.
"Revenue Increase" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.2 hereof.
"SMG" means SMQG, a Pennsylvania general partnership.

“Second Renewal Term” means, subject to Section 3.1(b) hereof, the 2-year period from
July 1, 2016, to June 30, 2018, for which this Agreement may be renewed (beyond the First
Renewal Term) at the option of the CAA Board in accordance with Section 3.1 hereof.

"State" means the State of Michigan.

ARTICLE 11
ENGAGEMENT OF SMG; SCOPE OF SERVICES

Section 2.1. Engagement. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, the CAA
hereby engages SMG to promote, operate, maintain, market and manage the Facilities during the
Initial Term, the First Renewal Term, if any, and the Second Renewal Term, if any, and SMG
hereby accepts such engagement.

Section 2.2. Scope of Services. SMG shall perform and furnish such management
services and systems as are appropriate or necessary to operate, maintain, market, manage and
promote the Facilities in a manner consistent with SMG's policies and procedures and the
operations of other similar first-class facilities. SMG shall have exclusive authority over the
day-to-day operation of the Facilities and all activities therein; provided, that SMG shall, subject
to Section 2.5 hereof, follow the booking policy for each Facility as now in effect and as

-5-

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v14



amended from time to time and all other policies and guidelines of the CAA hereafter established
by the CAA, that the CAA notifies SMG in writing are applicable to each Facility; provided,
further, that to the extent that such policies or guidelines hereafter established by the CAA
materially affect revenues or expenses at either Facility, then and in that event, the Net Operating
Income/Incentive Benchmark and the Revenue Benchmarks for the affected Facility, as
appropriate, shall be correspondingly adjusted by mutual agreement of the CAA and SMG so
that they properly reflect the changed costs or adjusted revenues resulting from such policies or
guidelines. For purposes hereof, changes in the policies and guidelines of the CAA shall include,
but not be limited to, changes in the assumptions relating to expense allocations of the CAA
from those contained in the Approved Budgets for the Arena and the Convention Center for the
Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2011.

Section 2.3. Specific Services. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, SMG
shall have, without prior approval of the CAA, except as otherwise expressly provided below,
the sole right, responsibility and authority to:

(a) employ, subject to Section 7.1 hereof, supervise and direct employees and
personnel at each of the Facilities consistent with the provisions of this Agreement;

(b) administer relationships with all subcontractors, concessionaires and all other
contracting parties and assume responsibility for (i) negotiating, subject to subsection (c) below,
any renewals and extensions of such agreements to the extent necessary or desirable, and (ii) the
compliance with, and enforcement of, such agreements;

© negotiate, execute and enter into, in its own name, pursuant to the terms of this
Agreement, and administer any and all licenses, occupancy agreements, booking commitments
(subject to Section 2.5 hereof), advertising agreements, concession, agreements, supplier
agreements service contracts (including, without limitation, contracts for cleaning, decorating,
and set-up; snow removal, general maintenance; maintenance and inspection of HVAC systems,
elevators, stage equipment, floor control panel and other safety equipment; staffing and
personnel needs including guards and ushers; and other services which are necessary or
appropriate) and all other contracts in connection with the management, maintenance, promotion
and operation of the Facilities, provided that in the event SMG desires to execute or enter into a
written agreement and such agreement (i) involves a long term lease with a sports team or (i) is
for a term longer than the Initial Term or the First or Second Renewal Term then in effect, SMG
shall obtain the approval of the CAA Board prior to executing and delivering any such
agreement. Said written agreements shall be executed or entered into in accordance with the
policies adopted by the CAA from time to time. Upon request SMG will promptly provide legal
counsel designated by the CAA Board with fully executed copies of service agreements, service
contracts, license agreements, rental agreements, settlement reports, and any other agreements
referenced herein. In connection with its activities under this subparagraph (c), SMG will give
consideration, where appropriate, to local contractors and suppliers;

(d)  to the extent that funds provided by the CAA are made available therefor,
maintain the Facilities in the condition received, reasonable wear and tear excepted; provided
that the CAA shall be responsible for undertaking all Capital Improvements and Capital

-6-

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v14



Equipment purchases as pursuant to Section 5.5 hereof; provided, further, SMG shall develop,
annually update and adhere to a maintenance plan with respect to each Facility which plan will
include specific timeframes for required repairs and refurbishings and shall be approved by the
CAA Board or, upon the direction of the CAA Board, the CAA Administrative Official;

(e) to the extent that funds provided by the CAA are made available therefor, rent,
lease or purchase all equipment and maintenance supplies necessary or appropriate for the
operation and maintenance of the Facilities, provided that the CAA shall be responsible for
undertaking all Capital Improvements and Capital Equipment purchases pursuant to Section 5.5
hereof;

® establish and adjust prices, rates and rate schedules for licenses, agreements,
contracts and any other commitments relating to each Facility to be negotiated by SMG in the
course of its management, maintenance, operation and promotion of each Facility, provided,
however, that such adjustments that would bind the CAA or changes to rate schedules in effect at
either Facility shall be subject to the prior approval of the CAA Board which approval shall not
be unreasonably withheld. In determining such prices and proposing rate schedules for approval
by the CAA Board, SMG shall evaluate comparable rates and charges at similar facilities;

(g)  collect Operating Revenues for each Facility in accordance with Sections 5.3 and
5.4 hereof;

(h)  pay Operating Expenses for each Facility using funds on deposit in the Arena
Operating Account or the Convention Center Operating Account, respectively;

@) after consultation with and approval of the CAA Board, institute on behalf of the
CAA and at the reasonable expense of the CAA with counsel selected by SMG and approved by
the CAA Board (which counsel will be from the Grand Rapids area if such action is filed in the
Grand Rapids area), such legal actions or proceedings as SMG shall deem necessary or
appropriate in connection with the operation of the Facilities, including, without limitation, to
collect charges, rates, rents or other revenues due to the CAA or SMG as Operating Revenues
hereunder or to cancel, terminate or sue for damages under any license, use, advertisement or
concession agreement for the breach thereof or default thereunder by any licensee, user,
advertiser, or concessionaire at either Facility;

§)) maintain a master set of all booking records and schedules for each Facility and
provide the CAA Board with a monthly update at each regular meeting of the CAA Board or
otherwise upon request of the CAA Board;

(k)  provide day-to-day administrative services in support of its management activities
pursuant to applicable Approved Budgets and annual plans described herein, including, but not
limited to, the acquisition of services, equipment, supplies and facilities; internal budgeting and
accounting; maintenance and property management; personnel management; record-keeping;
billing and collections; and similar services;

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v14



) engage in such advertising, solicitation, and promotional activities as SMG deems
necessary and appropriate to develop the potential of each Facility and the cultivation of broad-
community support (including without limitation selling advertising inventory and securing
product rights for each Facility in a manner which is not in violation of any long term tenant
agreement); provided, however, that CAA funds shall not be used to co-promote any event at
either Facility without the prior consent of the CAA Board. SMG shall work with Experience
Grand Rapids Convention and Visitors Bureau to market the Facilities for conventions, trade
shows and entertainment events. In advertising relating to the Facilities, SMG shall be permitted
to use the terms "Van Andel Arena," "DeVos Place,” "DeVos Place Convention Center," "Grand
Rapids-Kent Convention/Arena Authority” or "CAA" and related logos, subject to the prior
approval of the CAA's Administrative Official;

(m) develop a general customer feedback system for each Facility which permits users
and event attendees to complete focus surveys and/or evaluation reports, which SMG agrees to
make available to the CAA upon request;

(n)  periodically review and implement, as needed, improvements to box office
operations for the Facilities;

(o)  represent the interests of each Facility, as necessary or appropriate, with City and
County departments, the City Commission, the County Board and the CAA Board;

(p) use reasonable efforts to negotiate multiyear occupancy or license agreements
with key Convention Center tenants;

(@ develop, implement and maintain a policy for commercial advertising within each
Facility, which policy shall be subject to the approval of the CAA Board or, upon the direction of
the CAA Board, the CAA Administrative Official. Said policy for commercial advertising shall
be reflected in either a stand-alone policy or in a written agreement with the provider of such
services; and

() maintain each of the Facilities in accordance with its respective Operations
Manual and the terms of this Agreement, including but not limited to, routine repairs,
preventative maintenance, janitorial services, groundskeeping services, maintenance of all
interior and exterior walls, maintenance of landscaping and a walking inspection of each of the
Facilities on a daily basis.

Section 2.4. Use of Premises.
SMG may use and occupy the premises of each Facility only for the purpose of operating,

maintaining, promoting, marketing and managing each Facility consistent with the terms and
conditions of this Agreement and any tenant leases that may be in effect from time to time.

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v14



Section 2.5. Bookings.

SMG shall have the sole authority to book events in each Facility, provided that all
bookings shall be consistent with a booking policy for each Facility approved by the CAA
Board. SMG shall periodically review each such policy and make recommendations for
revisions as appropriate to the CAA Board.

Section 2.6. Insurance.

SMG shall obtain certificates or other evidence of insurance carried by licensees, users,
promoters, exhibitors, concessionaries or other persons contracting for use of either Facility.
SMG shall require that the CAA, SMG, the City, the County, the DDA and the Building
Authority to be named as additional insured on such insurance policies, which shall be issued by
companies licensed to do business in the State or qualified by virtue of being surplus lines
carriers. Upon request SMG shall provide the CAA's Administrative Official with such
insurance certificates or other evidence of insurance coverage.

Section 2.7. Right of Entry Reserved.

Representatives of the CAA designated by the CAA Administrative Official shall have
the right, in the course of performing their responsibilities for the CAA, upon reasonable advance
notice to SMG and at appropriate times, to enter all portions of each Facility to inspect same, to
observe the performance of SMG of its obligations under this Agreement, to install, remove,
adjust, repair, replace or otherwise handle any equipment, utility lines, or other matters in, on, or
about the premises, or to do any act or thing which the CAA may be obligated or have the right
to do under this Agreement or otherwise. Nothing contained in this Section 2.7 is intended or
shall be construed to limit any other rights of the CAA under this Agreement. The CAA shall
not interfere with the activities of SMG hereunder, and the CAA's actions shall be conducted
such that disruption of SMG activities shall be kept to a minimum. Nothing in this Section 2.7
shall impose or be construed to impose upon the CAA any independent obligation to maintain or
make repairs, replacements, alterations, additions or improvements to the Facilities or creates
any independent liability for any failure to do so.

Section 2.8. Computer System.

(@) The CAA has installed a computer system for the Facilities in connection with its
operation, management, maintenance and promotion of such Facilities. The hardware and
software for such computer system is and shall remain the property of the CAA.

(b) SMG may, as an Operating Expense for the Facilities or as a Capital Expenditure
pursuant to Section 5.5 hereof, purchase additional hardware and/or software which shall be and
remain the property of the CAA.

(c) SMG may elect to provide proprietary software to be used on the CAA-provided
computer system for the management and operation of the Facilities. SMG may charge for the
use of such proprietary software provided such cost is competitive and is included in Operating

9.

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v14



Costs. Such software may also be housed on a third party site with access provided to the staff
of the Facilities. All copies of such software shall be returned to SMG (or access thereto
terminated) upon the expiration or termination of this Agreement, provided that all records
within the database of such software shall remain the property of the CAA and shall be turned
over to the CAA or such other party as the CAA may designate upon such expiration or
termination.

(d) SMG shall, on or prior to the commencement of the Initial Term, provide a list to
the CAA of SMG’s proprietary software described in Section 2.8(c) above.

Section 2.9. Parking.

(a) Other than the provision of custodial services and electrical, plumbing and other
routine maintenance, striping and signage, SMG shall have no management, operation or
promotion rights or obligation with respect to the parking facility located below grade in the
Convention Center, unless the CAA elects to provide SMG with the funds to make any
expenditures related to such parking facility. It is acknowledged by the parties that (i) the cost of
supplies of light bulbs, ballasts and ceiling tiles for such parking facility will continue to be paid
by the CAA, and (ii) any re-striping work for such parking facility shall be paid for by the CAA.
The general manager and all director-level employees at the Convention Center employed by
SMG shall be entitled to park in such facility as provided in the Approved Budget. Other full
time employees of SMQG located at the Convention Center shall have parking privileges at such
facility at a cost comparable to those offered to full-time County and City employees.

(b) SMG employees located at the Arena shall be entitled to park in the lot adjacent
and to the South of the Arena as provided in the Approved Budget.

ARTICLE 111
TERM AND RENEWALS

Section 3.1. Initial Term and Renewal Terms.

(a) The Initial Term of this Agreement with respect to both Facilities shall commence
at 12:01 a.m. on July 1, 2011, and will end at midnight on June 30, 2014, unless (i) earlier
terminated pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement or (ii) renewed for the First Renewal
Term as provided in subsection (b) below.

(b)  The CAA Board, in its sole discretion, may extend the term of this Agreement for
(1) the First Renewal Term upon not less than 180 days’ written notice to SMG prior to the end
of the Initial Term, i.e. June 30, 2014, unless otherwise terminated pursuant to the provisions of
this Agreement, to commence on July 1, 2014, at 12:01 a.m. and end at midnight on June 30,
2016, unless earlier terminated pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement and (ii) thereafter
for the Second Renewal Term, upon not less than 180 days’ written notice to SMG prior to the
end of the First Renewal Term, i.e. June 30, 2016, unless otherwise terminated pursuant to the
provisions of this Agreement, to commence on July 1, 2016, at 12:01 a.m. and end at midnight
on June 30, 2018, unless earlier terminated pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement.

-10-

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v14



Section 3.2. New Agreement.

If the CAA intends, upon termination of the Initial Term, the First Renewal Term or the
Second Renewal Term, as applicable, to continue to provide for the promotion, operation,
maintenance and management of either Facility through a private party and this Agreement has
not been terminated upon a default by SMG or pursuant to Section 12.2(b) hereof, then the CAA
will during the final year of the Initial Term, the First Renewal Term or the Second Renewal
Term, as applicable, negotiate and discuss in good faith a new contract or arrangement with
SMG for the provision of such services following the completion of such term. The obligation to
negotiate with SMG is not intended to guarantee any rights for a future agreement with SMG or
any specific terms of a new agreement.

ARTICLE 1V
SMG'S COMPENSATION

Section 4.1. Base Fee.

As base compensation to SMG for providing the services herein specified during the Initial
Term, the First Renewal Term, if any, or the Second Renewal Term, if any, the CAA shall pay
SMG during the Initial Term, the First Renewal Term, if any, or the Second Renewal Term, if
any, an annual fixed base fee of $325,000 for the first year of the Initial Term, which amount
shall be adjusted upward on the first day of each subsequent Fiscal Year during the term hereof
by the percentage change in the Consumer Price Index All Urban Consumers (CPI-U), U.S. city
average, during the one year period ending in June immediately preceding such Fiscal Year, as
published by the U.S. Department of Labor, provided, that for purposes of this adjustment the
amount of any yearly increase in the foregoing index in excess of 3% shall be disregarded. The
foregoing annual fixed compensation shall be payable in equal monthly installments due on or
before the last day of each month during each such Fiscal Year from the advances of funds
pursuant to Sections 5.2 and 5.3 hereof. During each Fiscal Year the fixed base fee shall be
allocated equally between the Facilities. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section
4.1, in the event that a certain Food and Beverages Services Agreement dated as of July 1, 2011,
by and between the CAA and SMG Food and Beverage, LLC (the “F&B Agreement”) is
terminated during the course of any Fiscal Year during the term of this Agreement, then (a) the
fixed base fee for such Fiscal Year shall be immediately increased by $50,000, provided,
however, such $50,000 increase shall be paid to SMG on a pro rata basis taking into account the
number of months having elapsed in such Fiscal Year; and (b) in lieu of the annual fixed base fee
otherwise described in this Section 4.1, the CAA shall pay SMG such increased annual fixed fee
base amount for the subsequent Fiscal Year and each Fiscal Year thereafter during the Initial
Term, the First Renewal Term, if any, and the Second Renewal Term, if any. For example, if the
F&B Agreement is terminated in June, 2013, and the annual fixed base fee at such time is
$330,000, then (a) the monthly installment due SMG for June, 2013 which would otherwise be
$27,500 would be increased by $4,167, and (b) the annual fixed base year for the Fiscal Year
beginning July 2013 would be $380,000.

-11-

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v14



Section 4.2. Incentive Fee.

(a) SMG shall be entitled to an annual incentive fee with respect to each Fiscal Year
during the Initial Term, the First Renewal Term, if any, and the Second Renewal Term, if any,
which shall be equal to the amount established in accordance with the following sentence,
provided, however, that in no event shall the incentive fee for any Fiscal Year exceed 100% of
the base fee payable for such Fiscal Year pursuant to Section 4.1 hereof. Subject to the proviso
in the immediately preceding sentence, the annual incentive fee shall be an amount calculated
with respect to each Fiscal Year equal to the sum of (i) 25% of the first $500,000 of any Revenue
Increase and (ii) 30% of any Revenue Increase in excess of $500,000.

(b)  Notwithstanding the foregoing paragraph, the incentive fee, calculated as
provided in Section 4.2(a) above, shall only be paid in any Fiscal Year pursuant to the threshold
levels set forth below:

Amount By Which Operating Revenues Percentage of Incentive Fee under
Exceed Operating Expenses Section 4.2(b) Payable to SMG
$700,000 or More and Less Than $750,000 75%

$750,000 or More 100%

(c) Revenue Increase means the amount by which Operating Revenues for a given
Fiscal Year exceed the Revenue Benchmark for such Fiscal Year. The Revenue Benchmark, for
the first year of the Initial Term, shall be an amount equal to the total of $9,100,000. After the
first year of the Initial Term, the Revenue Benchmark shall be adjusted upward $100,000
annually during the remainder of the term hereof.

(d)  The CAA shall pay SMG any incentive fee earned under this Section 4.2 within
30 days of its receipt of audited financial statements for the Facilities for the applicable Fiscal
Year for which the incentive fee is payable. Such audited financial statements shall include a
supplemental statement containing the calculation of any incentive fee payable.

ARTICLE V
FUNDING; BUDGETS; BANK ACCOUNTS

Section S.1. Annual Budgets.

(a) It is the intention of the parties that SMG maintain separate financial records and
accounts, as well as prepare separate budgets, for each Facility. In connection with the
preparation of budgets for each Facility, SMG will seek to identify areas of Operating Expenses
(such as, split-function personnel, equipment and vendor supervision) where possible synergies
from its management of both Facilities can be achieved and in such instances specifically
identify and allocate such Operating Expenses between both Facilities in such budgets and
provide such information to the CAA.

-12-

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v14



(b) In conjunction with the preparation of the annual budget the CAA Board shall
adopt an annual operating budget for each of the Facilities (the "Approved Budgets").

(©) For each Fiscal Year during the Initial Term, the First Renewal Term, if any, or
the Second Renewal Term, if any, SMG will prepare a recommended annual operating budget
for each Facility which it believes will meet the scope of services and objectives under this
Agreement. The budget shall contain estimates of Operating Revenues and Operating Expenses,
as well as any recommendations for Capital Improvements or Capital Equipment in such detail
and format as the CAA Board or the CAA's Administrative Official may reasonably require.
Such proposed annual budgets shall be submitted in a timely manner with a fully documented
draft version no later than April 1 and a final budget submission no later than May 1 immediately
preceding each new Fiscal Year. SMG shall cooperate with the CAA's Administrative Official,
as it relates to the preparation and submission to the CAA Board of the annual operating budget
for each Facility, including such meetings with the CAA Board and committees of the CAA
Board, as may be reasonably necessary to explain the proposed annual budget.

(d)  Upon adoption of the Approved Budget for each of the Facilities for any Fiscal
Year, which in no event shall be later than the June 30 immediately preceding such Fiscal Year,
the CAA's Administrative Official shall provide SMG with Approved Budgets for each of the
Facilities for such Fiscal Year.

(e) If the Approved Budget for either Facility for a Fiscal Year modifies the proposed
annual operating budget for such Fiscal Year submitted by SMG to such an extent that, in SMG's
reasonable judgment, such budget would materially interfere, impede or impair the ability of
SMG to manage, operate, maintain or promote such Facility, SMG shall have the right to
terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 12.2(a) hereof, and the exercise of such right shall
not be considered a breach of this Agreement. Any exercise of SMG's right to terminate under
this subsection (e) shall be exercised within 30 days of receipt of the applicable Approved
Budgets from the CAA's Administrative Official or shall be considered waived for such Fiscal
Year.

6)) At any time during a Fiscal Year, SMG shall have the right to seek an amendment
to the Approved Budget for either Facility for such Fiscal Year. Nothing in this subsection (f)
shall require the CAA, to grant such requests, nor shall the denial of any such requested
amendment constitute grounds for termination of this Agreement by SMG. The CAA's
Administrative Official shall also have the right to request amendments to the applicable
Approved Budget for each Facility, provided that such requested amendments shall not, without
SMG's prior consent, reduce the aggregate amount of budgeted Operating Expenses for such
Facility. Upon approval by the CAA Board of any such requested amendment (a copy of which
shall be promptly furnished to SMG), the Approved Budget for such Facility shall thereafter be
as amended. SMG shall have the right to request an amendment to the Approved Budget for
either Facility as may be necessary or appropriate as the result of the scheduling by SMG of
additional events or activities at either Facility (and the incidence of additional Operating
Expenses arising from the scheduling of additional events or activities at either Facility) as long
as prior to the scheduling of such events or activities, SMG has a good faith belief that the

-13-

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v14



combined Net Operating Income/Incentive Fee Benchmark for the Facilities would not be
adversely affected as a result of such additional events or activities.

Section 5.2. Funding.

@) Utilizing the Approved Budget for each Facility for a Fiscal Year, SMG shall
prepare an analysis of the monthly cash flow needed for the operation of each Facility and shall
furnish a copy of same to the CAA's Administrative Official. At the commencement of the
Fiscal Year beginning July 1, 2011 and annually thereafter, the CAA shall advance to SMG
sufficient funds to satisfy the cash flow needs for operation of the Arena and the Convention
Center, respectively, for each month covered thereby as provided in Section 5.3 hereof. Such
funds shall be deposited into the respective Arena Operating Account and the Convention Center
Operating Account established by SMG in accordance with subsection (b) hereof at the banking
institution of its choice, licensed to conduct business within the State and be conducting business
within the County. SMG may use these funds for the payment of the respective Operating
Expenses as approved in the Approved Budgets for the Arena and the Convention Center
respectively.

(b) Currently SMG has established the Arena Operating Account and the Convention
Center Operating Account with Fifth Third Bank. If during the Initial Term, the First Renewal
Term, if any, or the Second Renewal Term, if any, SMG decides to change the banking
institution providing such services, SMG may, but shall not be obligated to, rebid such services.
Any subsequent banking institution selected shall be approved by the CAA Board or upon
designation by the CAA Board, the CAA Administrative Official, licensed to conduct business
within the State and be conducting business in the County.

Section 5.3. Receipts.

(a) Upon receipt by SMG, all Operating Revenues for each Facility shall be deposited
by SMG in the Arena Operating Account or the Convention Center Operating Account,
respectively. SMG shall pay event-related and other Operating Expenses for each Facility out of
the funds on deposit from time to time in such Account for such Facility. If requested by the
CAA, within 30 days following the end of each fiscal quarter, SMG shall provide the CAA a
cash reconciliation of the Operating Revenues and Operating Expenses for each Facility for the
fiscal quarter just ended.

(b) In addition, if requested by the CAA, 30 days prior to the end of each fiscal
quarter, SMG will prepare a projected cash flow for the upcoming fiscal quarter for each
Facility. Based on SMG's cash flow projections, if Operating Revenues for such upcoming fiscal
quarter are not sufficient to pay Operating Expenses in a timely fashion for either Facility, SMG
shall prepare a request for funds to satisfy the cash flow needs for each month representing the
upcoming fiscal quarter for the affected Facility, and the CAA will make available to SMG the
funds necessary to pay such Operating Expenses based upon the Approved Budget in effect for
such Fiscal Year for such Facility. If the Operating Revenues exceed the Operating Expenses for
either Facility for the fiscal quarter just ended, the amount of SMG's request for funds for such
Facility under this subsection (b) shall be reduced by the amount of such excess or by an amount

-14-

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v14



which SMG estimates at the time of the funding of such request for funds to be the probable
amount of such excess.

(©) If the excess (based on actual numbers or on SMG's estimates at the time of
funding of a request for funds under subsection (b)) of Operating Revenues over Operating
Expenses for either Facility for the fiscal quarter just ended) exceeds SMG's entire request for
funds for such Facility under subsection (b) above for the upcoming fiscal quarter, then the
amount of such excess under this subsection (c) shall be promptly paid to the CAA.

(d)  To the extent that any such estimates by SMG are used under subsections (b) or
(c), the quarterly cash reconciliation's shall include a reconciliation of the difference between (i)
such estimates of the excess of Operating Revenues over Operating Expenses for the prior fiscal
quarter, if any, and (ii) the actual amount of such excess. At the time of the yearend audit
pursuant to Section 6.1 hereof, SMG and the CAA shall perform a final cash reconciliation for
the Arena Operating Account and the Convention Center Operating Account for the previous
Fiscal Year. All such Operating Revenues shall, from the time received by SMG, be the sole
property of the CAA. Any breach of the provisions of this Section 5.3 shall constitute a material
breach of this Agreement.

(e) With respect to each of the Arena Operating Account, the Convention Center
Operating Account and the accounts for each Facility referred to in Section 5.4 hereof (such
other accounts being referred to as the "Ticket Sales Accounts"), (i) title to each such account
shall include, in addition to SMG, the name of the CAA, (ii) to the extent that any such account
contains signing authority, a designated representative(s) of the CAA shall be added to the list of
individuals who have signing authority thereunder, and (iii) the funds therein are the property of
the CAA (x) subject to the rights granted SMG under this Agreement to make deposits and
withdrawals from each such account and to be entitled to receive payments therefrom for any
fees and reimbursements due SMG hereunder and, (y) with respect to Ticket Sales Accounts,
subject to the rights of the CAA and SMG as provided in Section 5.4 hereof.

Section 5.4. Ticket Sales Revenues.

SMG shall hold in a separate interest-bearing account for each Facility (each a "Ticket
Sales Account") in a banking institution depository licensed by the State, operating in the
County, approved by the CAA Board or upon designation by the CAA Board, the CAA
Administrative Official, any ticket sales revenues which it receives with respect to an event to be
held at each Facility pending the completion of the event. Such monies are to be held for the
protection of ticket purchasers, the CAA and SMG, and to provide a source of funds, as required
for payments to performers and promoters and for payments of Operating Expenses for such
Facility in connection with the presentation of events as may be required to be paid
contemporaneously with the event. Following the satisfactory completion of each event, SMG
shall immediately deposit such funds into the Convention Center Operating Account or the
Arena Operating Account, respectively. The balance of such funds that remain after the payment
by SMG, from funds deposited in such account, of event-related and other Operating Expenses
excluded from the definition of Operating Expenses pursuant to the last sentence thereof, shall
remain in the applicable operating account and be used to pay Operating Expenses or paid to the

-15-

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v14



CAA as provided in Section 5.3 hereof. SMG will promptly upon request of the CAA provide
full event settlement reports for review by the CAA. Interest which accrues on amounts
deposited in the Ticket Sales Accounts shall be considered Operating Revenues for the
applicable Facility. Bank service charges, if any, on such account shall be considered Operating
Expenses for such Facility.

Section 5.5. Capital Improvements; Capital Equipment.

The obligation to pay for, and authority to perform, direct and supervise Capital
Improvements and Capital Equipment purchases shall remain with the CAA, as the case may be,
and will not be considered Operating Expenses for either Facility. All capital improvements and
equipment purchases which do not constitute Capital Improvements or Capital Equipment
hereunder shall be included in the applicable annual budget prepared by SMG for each Facility,
and to the extent provided for in the Approved Budget for the applicable Facility, shall be
acquired and installed at the direction of SMG and accounted for as Operating Expenses for the
applicable Facility. The annual plan submitted pursuant to Section 6.2 hereof shall include
SMG's recommendation for Capital Improvements and Capital Equipment purchases to be
accomplished during the Fiscal Year for each Facility and shall be accompanied by an estimate
of the cost of all such items and projects and a request that the CAA budget funds therefor. The
CAA shall retain the discretion to determine whether and to what level to fund Capital
Improvements and Capital Equipment purchases to the respective Facility.

Section 5.6. Limitation of SMG Liability.

Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary and except for SMG's express
indemnification responsibilities in Section 8. 1 hereof, SMG shall have no obligation to fund any
cost, expense or liability with respect to the operation, maintenance, management or promotion
of the Facilities beyond the extent of the funds deposited for each Facility from time to time in
the Arena Operating Account or the Convention Center Operating Account, respectively.

ARTICLE VI
RECORDS, AUDITS AND REPORTS

Section 6.1. Records and Audits.

SMG shall keep full and accurate accounting records relating to its activities at each
Facility in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. SMG shall maintain a
system of bookkeeping adequate for its operations hereunder. SMG shall upon request give an
authorized representative(s) of the CAA as designated by the CAA Board or CAA
Administrative Official access to such books, records and other information maintained at each
Facility and to inspect and audit such books and records concerning the management and
operation of each Facility as is deemed necessary and desirable by the CAA during reasonable
business hours and upon reasonable advance notice. SMG shall keep and preserve for at least 3
years following each Fiscal Year all sales slips, rental agreements, purchase orders, sales books,
credit card invoices, bank books or duplicate deposit slips, and other evidence of Operating
Revenues and Operating Expenses for each Facility for such period. In addition, on or before

-16-

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v14



September 30th following each Fiscal Year, SMG shall furnish to the CAA a set of special
purpose financial statements and notes thereto in a format consistent with disclosure contained in
such statements previously provided for the year ended June 30, 2010, accompanied by an
independent auditor's report of a nationally recognized, independent certified public accountant
or firm of independent certified public accountants. The audit shall contain an opinion expressed
by the independent auditor of the accuracy of financial records kept by SMG for such Facility.
The audit shall also provide a certification of (i) Operating Revenues and Operating Expenses for
such Fiscal Year and (ii) the calculation of the incentive fee under Section 4.2 hereof. The CAA
shall have the right to participate in the pre-audit meeting(s) with the auditors. The audit shall be
conducted by a reputable individual or firm selected by SMG with approval by the CAA. The
CAA shall not withhold or delay such consent or approval unreasonably. Notwithstanding
anything to the contrary herein, the costs of such audit for each Facility shall be deemed
Operating Expenses for such Facility. In addition, SMG shall cooperate with the CAA and its
employees and designated representatives in the preparation of CAA consolidated financial
statements. The CAA reserves the right to conduct performance audits during the term of this
Agreement, the results of which shall be shared with SMG.

Section 6.2. Annual Plan.

SMG shall provide to the CAA on or before May 1 of each year, an annual management
plan for each Facility, which shall include the annual operating budget proposed by SMG for
such Facility for the next Fiscal Year. The annual plan for each Facility shall include
information regarding SMG's anticipated operations for such Facility for such Fiscal Year,
including planned operating maintenance activities by SMG, requested Capital Improvements
and Capital Equipment purchases and an anticipated budget therefor, anticipated events at such
Facility, anticipated advertising and promotional activities, and planned equipment and
furnishings purchases. The annual plan for each Facility shall be used by the CAA Board in
reviewing and making decisions upon the annual operating budget for the applicable Facility.
The annual plan shall be subject to review, revision and approval by the CAA. Following review
and revision by the CAA, SMG shall have 30 days to incorporate the CAA’s revision to the
annual plan. Upon approval by the CAA, such annual plan shall constitute the operating
program for SMG for the following Fiscal Year.

Section 6.3. Monthly Reports.

At each regular CAA Board meeting, SMG shall provide to the CAA Board a written
monthly report in a form approved by the CAA and similar to that used in other SMG-managed
facilities setting out the anticipated activities and financial condition of the applicable Facility for
the upcoming month and reporting on the prior month's activities and finances. Such monthly
reports shall include such detail that is not less than that currently being provided at the effective
date of this Agreement. In addition, SMG shall cooperate with the CAA and its employees and
designated representatives in the preparation of a consolidated report covering both Facilities.

-17-

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v14



Section 6.4. Annual Performance Review.

SMG shall provide a self-review of SMG's performance hereunder based upon operating
results, SMG's reporting systems and such other criteria as the CAA and SMG mutually agree.
Any such annual review shall be delivered to the CAA prior to October 1 following any Fiscal
Year during the term hereof. The CAA shall consider SMG’s self-review and, if the CAA
desires, prepare a report and recommendations regarding SMG performance. SMG shall, if
appropriate, respond to such performance review in its annual plan for the Fiscal Year following
the delivery of such a review.

Section 6.5. Internal Audits.

SMG agrees that during the term of this Agreement it will periodically conduct internal
audits of the operations of each Facility in accordance with written internal procedures on file
with SMG and available for review by an authorized CAA representative(s) upon request. Upon
request of the CAA Administrative Official, SMG shall provide a copy of the audit.

ARTICLE VI
EMPLOYEES

Section 7.1. SMG Employees.

(a) SMG shall select, train and employ at each Facility such number of employees as
SMG deems necessary or appropriate to satisfy its responsibilities under this Agreement. SMG
shall use its best efforts to recruit and hire employees who will be proficient, productive, and
courteous to patrons. SMG shall have the authority to hire, terminate and discipline any and all
personnel working at either Facility.

(b) SMG shall assign to the Facilities a competent, full-time general manager who
shall, except upon the prior written approval of the CAA, have no duties other than the day-to-
day operation and management.of the Facilities. At the time of selection, the general manager
shall be subject to interview and approval by the CAA. Such approval shall not be unreasonably
withheld or delayed. The general manager shall report to the CAA Board or, upon direction of
the CAA Board, the CAA Administrative Official.

() SMG shall not, without the prior approval of the CAA Board or, upon direction of
the CAA Board, the CAA Administrative Official, assign work to the general manager or a
director-level employee other than work for, or directly related to, the Facilities. The foregoing
restrictions shall not apply to assistance provided to other SMG-managed facilities in the same
fashion as the Facilities have received in the past from other SMG employees who are located at
other SMG-managed facilities, provided, the CAA Administrative Official is notified by SMG in
advance of such assignment.

(d Except as otherwise agreed by SMG and the CAA in writing. SMG employees at
the Facilities shall not for any purpose be considered to be employees of the CAA. SMG shall
be solely responsible for their supervision, daily direction and control, compensation (and tax

-18-

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v14



withholding), any employee benefits, unemployment insurance and worker's compensation
liability, and insurance expenses, provided that the foregoing expenses shall be considered
Operating Expenses of the applicable Facility.

Section 7.2. No Solicitation of Employment by CAA.

During the period commencing on the date hereof and ending 1 year after the termination
of this Agreement, except with SMG's prior written consent, the CAA will not, for any reason,
solicit for employment any of the senior management personnel employed by SMG at the
Facilities, including, without limitation, the general manager and director-level employees. In
addition to any other remedies which SMG may have, specific performance in the form of
injunctive relief shall be available for the enforcement of this provision.

ARTICLE VIII
INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE

Section 8.1. Indemnification.

(@) SMG shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the CAA and its officers,
boardmembers, agents and employees (the "CAA Indemnified Persons") from and against any
and all losses, liabilities, claims, damages and expenses (including reasonable attorneys fees)
(collectively, the "Losses") arising from (i) any negligent act or omission or willful misconduct
of SMG or its officers, employees or agents, or (ii) any act that exceeds SMG’s authority under
this Agreement or is not otherwise authorized by this Agreement, provided, however, that the
foregoing indemnification shall not extend to Losses to the extent such Losses (A) arise from any
breach or default by the CAA of its obligations under subsection (b) below or (B) are of the type
that are or would normally be covered by commercial insurance covering the premises at each
Facility, or (C) arise from violations of the Michigan Liquor Control Act, Act 8 of the Public
Acts of Michigan of 1933, as amended, and the regulations promulgated pursuant thereto to the
extent such Act 8 and regulations prohibit such indemnification. The CAA Indemnified Persons
shall be required to exhaust all available insurance coverage for the Facilities prior to asserting
any claim against SMG pursuant to this subsection (a).

(b) The CAA shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless SMG, its partners, officers,
agents and employees (the "SMG Indemnified Persons") from and against any and all Losses
arising from (i) any negligent act or omission or willful misconduct of the CAA or its officers,
boardmembers employees or agents, (ii) the fact that either Facility is not, or has not been, in
compliance with all Laws (as defined in Section 11.2 hereof), (iii) the fact that there is any
condition on, above, beneath or arising from the premises occupied by either Facility which
might under any Law, give rise to liability or which would or may require any “response,”
“removal” or “remedial action” as such terms are defined under the Comprehensive
Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act, as amended by the Superfund
Amendments and Reauthorization Act; provided, however, that the foregoing indemnification in
clauses (i), (ii) or (iii) above shall not extend to Losses to the extent such Losses arise from any
negligent act or omission or willful misconduct of SMG or its partners, officers, employees or
agents, (iv) any structural defect with respect to either Facility or the premises occupied by either

-19-

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v14



Facility, (v) any obligation or liability under or in respect of any contract, agreement or other
instrument properly executed by SMG as authorized herein, (vi) any obligation or liability for
physical damage, except for such physical damage caused by the negligence of SMG or its
officers, employees or agents, or other Loss to any real property assets located at either Facility
or intended to be incorporated therein, whether such property is insured by the CAA or whether
the CAA decides not to insure for such Losses, or (vii) any act or omission carried out by SMG
at or pursuant to the written direction or instruction of the CAA, its agents or employees. SMG
Indemnified Persons shall be required to exhaust all available insurance coverage for the
Facilities prior to asserting any claim against the CAA pursuant to this subsection (b).

() The provisions set forth in subsections (a) and (b) above shall survive termination
of this Agreement, provided, however, that except for indemnification based upon subsection
(b)(iv), (v), (vi) or (vii) above, a claim for indemnification pursuant to this Section 8.1 shall be
valid only if the party entitled to such indemnification provides written notice thereof to the other
party prior to 3 years following the date of termination of this Agreement.

(d) The terms of all insurance policies referred to in this Article VIII shall preclude
subrogation claims against SMG, the CAA, the City, the County, the DDA, the Building
Authority and their respective partners, boardmembers, officers, employees or agents. In
addition, if the CAA fails to maintain commercial insurance covering the premises at either
Facility then the CAA hereby waives any subrogation claims that it may have against SMG and
its partners, officers, employees or agents with respect to Losses that would normally be covered
by such insurance.

Section 8.2. Liability Insurance.

(a) SMG has secured and delivered to the CAA prior to the commencement of this
Agreement, and shall keep in force at all times during the term of this Agreement, a commercial
liability insurance policy, including public liability and property damage, in such form and from
such company as is reasonably acceptable to the CAA, covering the Facilities, the operations
hereunder with respect thereto, and any negligent acts or omissions of SMG or the CAA in
connection therewith, in the amount of $3,000,000 for bodily injury and $2,000,000 for property
damage, or in a combined single limit of $5,000,000 for each occurrence and in the annual
aggregate.

(b) SMG shall also maintain comprehensive automotive bodily injury and property
damage insurance for business use covering all vehicles operated by SMG officers, agents and
employees in connection with either Facility, whether owned by SMG, the CAA, or otherwise,
with a combined single limit of not less than $2,000,000.

(©) SMG shall be an insured under all such policies referred to in subsections (a) and
(b). The CAA, the County, the City, the DDA and the Building Authority, shall be an additional
insureds under the foregoing insurance policies, as their respective interests may appear, and said
policies shall contain a provision covering the CAA’s and SMG’s indemnification liabilities to
each other. Except as otherwise approved by the CAA, all such policies must be written by
companies licensed to do business in the State.

20-

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v14



(d)  The original or a certified copy of the above policy, or policies, or certificates
evidencing the existence thereof, all in such form as the CAA Administrative Official may
reasonably require, shall be delivered to the CAA Administrative Official prior to the
commencement of the term of this Agreement. Each such policy or certificate shall contain a
valid provision or endorsement stating, "This policy or certificate of insurance will not be
canceled or materially changed or altered without first giving 30 days' written notice thereof to
the Grand Rapids-Kent County Convention/Arena Authority, 303 Monroe Avenue, N.W., Grand
Rapids, Michigan 49503, sent by certified mail, return receipt requested."”

(e) A certificate of insurance shall be delivered to the CAA Administrative Official at
least 15 days prior to the expiration date of the expiring policy or policies and, upon request, a
renewal policy or policies will be delivered following the renewal, except for any policy or
policies expiring on the termination date of this Agreement or thereafter. If a certificate of
insurance is not available by said date, SMG will provide to the CAA other documentation
acceptable to the CAA confirming coverage.

® All insurance procured by SMG in accordance with the requirements of this
Agreement shall be primary over any insurance carried by the CAA and shall not require
contribution by the CAA.

Section 8.3. Workers Compensation Insurance.

SMG shall at all times maintain worker's compensation insurance (including occupational
disease hazards) with an authorized insurance company, through the Michigan State
Compensation Insurance Fund or through an authorized self-insurance plan approved by the
State, insuring its employees at the Facilities in amounts equal to or greater than required under
State law.

Section 8.4. Fidelity Bond.

SMG shall provide to the CAA a fidelity bond covering all of SMG's officers, employees
and agents under this Agreement in the amount of $1,000,000 for each loss, to reimburse the
CAA for losses experienced due to the dishonest acts of SMG's officers, employees or agents.

Section 8.5. Property Insurance.

(@ SMG shall maintain or cause to be maintained sufficient property damage or loss
insurance to cover personal property owned by the CAA, the DDA, the Building Authority, and
SMG at each Facility and shall maintain such insurance throughout the term of this Agreement.

(b)  If the CAA elects to maintain property insurance covering the premises of the
Facilities, the CAA shall cause SMG to be named as an additional insured under all of the CAA's
property and hazard insurance policies covering or relating to the Facilities. Nothing in this
Agreement is intended to require SMG to maintain property and hazard insurance covering the

21-

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v14



premises of either Facility or business interruption insurance for the activities held at either
Facility.

(©) The original or a certified copy of the above policy, or policies, referred to in
subsection (b), or certificates evidencing the existence thereof, all in such form as SMG may
reasonably require, shall be delivered to SMG. Each such policy or certificate shall contain a
valid provision or endorsement stating, "This policy will not be canceled or materially changed
or altered without first giving 30 days' written notice thereof to SMG, Risk Management
Director, 300 Conshohocken State Road, Suite 770, West Conshohocken, PA, 19428, sent by
certified mail, return receipt requested."

(d) A renewal policy (or satisfactory evidence of such renewal) shall be delivered to
SMG following the renewal, except for any policy expiring on the termination date of this
Agreement or thereafter.

Section 8.6. Certain Other Insurance.

_ If SMG enters into any agreements during the term of this Agreement with any
independent contractors for the provision of services hereunder, SMG shall have the right to
require such contractors to name SMG, the CAA, the County, the City, the DDA and the
Building Authority as an additional insured under any insurance required by SMG thereunder
and to deliver to SMG prior to the performance of such services a certified copy of such
policy(ies) or a certificate(s) evidencing the existence thereof, which policy(ies) contains the
same type of endorsements and provisions as provided in Section 8.5(c) hereof.

ARTICLE IX
OWNERSHIP OF ASSETS

Section 9.1. Ownership.

The ownership of buildings and real estate, technical and office equipment and facilities,
furniture, displays, fixtures, vehicles and similar tangible property located at either of the
Facilities shall remain with the CAA. Ownership of, and title to, all intellectual property rights
of whatsoever value, held in the name of the CAA, shall remain in the name of the CAA and any
intellectual property rights acquired by SMG pursuant to its management of the Facilities shall
be placed in the name of the CAA. The ownership of consumable assets, such as office supplies
and cleaning materials, purchased with funds of the CAA shall remain with the CAA, but such
assets may be utilized and consumed by SMG in the performance of services under this
Agreement. The ownership of data processing programs and software owned by the CAA shall
remain with the CAA and the ownership of data processing programs and software owned by
SMG shall remain with SMG. SMG shall not take or use, for its own purposes, customer or
exhibitor lists or similar materials developed by or for the CAA for the use of the Facilities,
unless written consent is granted by the CAA Administrative Official. Ownership of equipment,
furnishings, materials or fixtures not considered to be real property and other personal property
purchased by SMG with funds of the CAA for use at or for either Facility shall vest in the CAA
automatically and immediately upon purchase or acquisition. The assets of the CAA as

22

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v14



described herein shall not be pledged, liened, encumbered or otherwise alienated or assigned
without the prior approval of the CAA.

Section 9.2. CAA Obligations.

Except as herein otherwise set forth, throughout the term of this Agreement, the CAA
will maintain full beneficial use and ownership of, respectively, the Arena and the Convention
Center and will pay, keep, observe and perform all payments, terms, covenants, conditions and
obligations under any bonds, debentures or other security agreements or contracts relating,
respectively, to the Arena and the Convention Center to which the CAA may be bound.

ARTICLE X
ASSIGNMENT; AFFILIATES

Section 10.1. Assignment.

Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights or obligations hereunder may be assigned by
either party hereto without the prior written consent of the other party hereto. The parties
acknowledge that the foregoing does not preclude the assignment by SMG of its right to receive
its fees hereunder to its lender(s) as collateral security for SMG's obligations under any credit
facilities provided to it by such lender(s) provided that such collateral assignment shall not in any
event cover SMG's right to manage, promote, maintain or operate the Facilities hereunder.

Section 10.2. SMG Affiliates.

(a) Any contract entered into between SMG and an Affiliate of SMG relating to the
Facilities shall be on terms and for prices customarily charged in the industry for comparable
goods and services. In addition, SMG may rent either Facility or any part thereof to itself in
connection with any event in the promotion of which SMG is involved, so long as such rental is
made on rates and terms that comply with the booking policy for such Facility as then in effect.
SMG shall notify the CAA in writing, whenever any such transaction with an SMG Affiliate is
contemplated.

(b)  The CAA acknowledges that SMG manages other public assembly facilities
which may, from time to time, be in competition with the Facilities. Subject to subparagraph (ii)
below, the management of competing facilities will not, in and of itself, be deemed a conflict of
interest or breach of SMG's duties hereunder, provided, however, in all instances in which either
Facility is in competition with other public assembly facilities managed by SMG for the
solicitation of certain events, SMG shall not involve its principal office (currently in West
Conshohocken, Pennsylvania) on behalf of any such other facility in an attempt to influence the
decision-making process regarding the selection of a site for such events.

(c) During the term hereof, neither SMG nor any SMG Affiliate shall, without the
prior written approval of the CAA, render on-site management services to any facility other than
the Facilities within a 100 mile radius of the Facilities; provided that notwithstanding such

23-

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v14



defined territory, SMG shall be entitled to provide on-site management services to any facility
within the Detroit Metropolitan area.

ARTICLE XI
LAWS AND PERMITS

Section 11.1. Permits, Licenses, Taxes and Liens.

SMG shall use reasonable efforts to procure any permits and licenses required for the
business to be conducted by it hereunder. The CAA shall cooperate with SMG in applying for
such permits and licenses. SMG shall upon request deliver copies of all such permits and
licenses to the CAA Administrative Official. SMG shall pay promptly from Operating Revenues
of the applicable Facility or funds provided by the CAA under this Agreement all taxes, excise
and license, permit fees of whatever nature arising from its operation, maintenance, promotion
and management of the Facilities (all of such taxes, excise and license and permit fees constitute
Operating Expenses of the applicable Facility). SMG shall use reasonable efforts to prevent
mechanic's or materialman's or any other lien from becoming attached to the premises or
improvements at either of the Facilities or any part or parcel thereof, by reason of any work or
labor performed or materials furnished by any mechanic or materialman.

Section 11.2. Governmental Compliance.

SMQG, its officers, agents and employees shall comply with all federal, state, local and
municipal regulations, ordinances, statutes, rules, laws and constitutional provisions
(collectively, "Laws") applicable to SMG's operation, maintenance, management and promotion
of the Facilities hereunder. SMG shall take all reasonable and appropriate measures to enforce
such Laws against its invitees and licensees at the Facilities.

Section 11.3. No Discrimination in Employment.

SMG agrees not to discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment, to be
employed in the performance of this Agreement, with respect to hire, tenure, terms, conditions or
privileges of employment, or any matter directly or indirectly related to employment, because of
race, color, religion, national origin, age, sex, height, weight, handicap or marital status. Breach
of this covenant may be regarded as a material breach of this Agreement as provided for in Act
453 of the Public Acts of Michigan of 1976, as amended, entitled “Michigan Civil Rights Act.”
SMG further agrees to review or examine with the CAA Administrative Official upon request
relevant employment data and other information pertaining to its hiring practices. SMG further
agrees that it will require similar covenants from all sub-contractors under this Agreement.

24-

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v14



ARTICLE XII
TERMINATION

Section 12.1. Termination Upon Defaulit.

Either party may terminate this Agreement upon a default by the other party hereunder.
A party shall be in default hereunder if (i) such party fails to pay any sum payable hereunder
within 30 days after same is due and payable, or (ii) such party fails in any material respect to
perform or comply with any of the other terms, covenants, agreements or conditions hereof and
such failure continues for more than 60 days after written notice thereof from the other party. In
the event that a default (other than a default in the payment of money) is not reasonably
susceptible to being cured within the 60-day period, the defaulting party shall not be considered
in default if it shall within such 60-day period have commenced with due diligence and dispatch
to cure such default and thereafter completes with dispatch and due diligence the curing of such
default. Any termination pursuant to this Section 12.1 will be effective upon notice from the
non-defaulting party following the expiration of all of the applicable aforementioned time
periods.

Section 12.2. Termination Other than Upon Default.

(a) SMG shall have the right to terminate this Agreement upon one hundred eighty
(180) days written notice to CAA (i) under the circumstances described in Section 5.1(e) hereof,
or (ii) if the CAA fails to make Capital Improvements or Capital Equipment purchases at either
Facility to the extent that such omission, in SMG's judgment, materially interferes with, impedes
or impairs the ability of SMG to manage such Facility effectively.

b) The CAA shall have the right to terminate this Agreement upon 180 days prior
written notice to SMG if the CAA Board by affirmative vote of at least a majority of its members
currently serving, determines that it is in the best interest of the CAA to do so. Prior to taking
any action to terminate under this provision, the CAA Administrative Official shall provide SMG
with a written list of concerns or deficiencies relating to SMG's performance under this
Agreement. SMG shall have 45 days to cure such deficiencies or respond to such concerns in
writing to the CAA Board. Upon the expiration of such 45-day period, the CAA Board shall
have the right to conduct such other hearing into the matter as it, in its sole discretion, deems
appropriate. Any action to terminate under this provision shall only be taken at a public meeting
to which SMG has been provided at least 10 days prior written notice.

(c) Either party hereto shall have the right to terminate this Agreement under the
circumstances specified in Section 13.6(d) hereof.

Section 12.3. Effect of Termination.

In the event this Agreement is terminated, (i) all Operating Expenses for the Facilities
incurred or committed for prior to the date of termination shall be paid by SMG out of funds
deposited in the Arena Operating Account and the Convention Center Operating Account,
respectively; provided that (a) to the extent that the funds on deposit in each such account are

25-

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v14



insufficient for the Operating Expenses of the applicable Facility, the CAA shall promptly
reimburse SMG therefor and shall indemnify and hold SMG harmless therefrom and (b) to the
extent the funds on deposit in each such account exceed the aggregate amount of such Operating
Expenses for the applicable Facility, SMG shall deposit such excess into the account designated
by the CAA Administrative Official, (ii) the CAA shall promptly pay SMG all fees earned to the
date of termination (the base and incentive fees described in Section 4 hereof being subject to
proration), provided that in the case of a termination by the CAA pursuant to Section 12.1
hereof, the CAA shall be entitled to offset against such unpaid fees any costs incurred by the
CAA in remedying any default by SMG hereunder which resulted in such termination (other than
the fees or expenses of any replacement manager for the Facilities), (iii) in the case of a
termination pursuant to Section 12.2(b) hereof, the CAA shall, as liquidated damages for such
early termination and in addition to the foregoing, promptly pay SMG a termination fee equal to
the greater of the remaining balance of SMG's current annual base fee for the Facilities under
Section 4.1 hereof in effect for the Fiscal Year during which termination occurs or the amount
equal to one-half of such current annual base fee, and (iv) without any further action on the part
of SMG or the CAA, the CAA shall, or shall cause another management company retained by it
to, accept the assignment of SMG’s rights, and assume and perform all of SMG’s obligations,
arising after the date of expiration or termination of this Agreement, under any licenses,
occupancy agreements, rental agreements, booking commitments, advertising agreements,
concession agreements, and any other contracts relating to the Facility which have been executed
by SMG hereunder, except (A) to the extent that any such license, agreement, commitment or
contract was executed by SMG in violation of any of the restrictions applicable to SMG’s right
to execute such licenses, agreements, commitments or contracts contained in this Agreement and
(B) for any such license, agreement, commitment or contract to which the consent of the other
party thereto is required for such assignment and assumption unless such consent is obtained (in
the case of any such consent, SMG will use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain such
consent and the CAA will cooperate in any reasonable manner with SMG to obtain such
consent). Upon the expiration of this Agreement or a termination pursuant to Section 12.1, all
further obligations of the parties hereunder shall terminate except for the obligations in this
Section 12.3 and in Sections 7.2, 8.1, 8.2(c) and 12.5 hereof;, provided, however, that if such
termination is the result of a willful default, the non-defaulting party exercising its right to
terminate this Agreement shall be entitled to recover damages for breach arising from such
willful default.

Section 12.4. Non-Exclusive Remedies.

Each party's rights of termination pursuant to this Article XII are in addition to any other
rights it may have hereunder or otherwise and the exercise of a right of termination shall not be
an election of remedies.

Section 12.5. Surrender of Premises.

Upon termination of this Agreement (termination shall, for all purposes in this
Agreement, include termination pursuant to the terms of this Article XII and any expiration of
the term hereof), SMG shall surrender and vacate the Facilities upon the effective date of such
termination. Each Facility and all equipment and furnishings shall be returned to the CAA in

-26-

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v14



good repair, reasonable wear and tear excepted, to the extent funds were made available therefor
by the CAA. All reports, records, including financial records, and documents maintained by
SMG at each Facility relating to this Agreement shall be immediately surrendered to the CAA by
SMG upon termination.

ARTICLE XIII
MISCELLANEOUS

Section 13.1. Use of the Facilities at Direction of the County, the City or the CAA.

(a) The County, the City and the CAA shall have the right to use either Facility or
any part thereof, upon reasonable advance notice and subject to availability, for such purposes as
meetings, seminars, training classes or other uses without the payment of any rental or use fee
except that direct out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with such uses shall be paid by
the County, the City or the CAA, as the case may be.

(b) The County, the City and the CAA shall not schedule use of either Facility
pursuant to subsection (a) above if such use will conflict with paying events booked by SMG and
shall in all instances be subordinate thereto in terms of priority of use of either Facility, provided,
however, that the County, the City and the CAA shall not be subordinate with respect to any
competing use which is first scheduled within the 21 day period immediately preceding the
scheduled use of the County, the City or the CAA. If either of the Facilities are to be used at the
County's, the City's or the CAA's request or by the County, the City or the CAA pursuant to
subparagraph (a) above, a normal rent or use fee which otherwise would be chargeable for such
event shall be deemed to have been paid, and any such deemed payments which exceed the
amount of $25,000 in any Fiscal Year shall constitute Operating Revenues for the respective
Facility for the purpose of calculating SMG's incentive fee pursuant to Section 4.2 hereof.

Section 13.2. Alternative Dispute Resolution.

(@) The parties desire to cooperate with each other in the management and operation
of the Facilities pursuant to the terms hereof. In keeping with the cooperative spirit and intent,
any dispute arising hereunder may, with the mutual consent of both parties, be first referred to
the parties’ respective agents or representatives prior to either party initiating a legal suit, who in
such instance will endeavor in good faith to resolve any such disputes within the limits of their
authority and within 45 days after the commencement of such discussions. If any dispute
remains unresolved after the parties have elected to follow the dispute resolution procedure set
forth above, the matter may, at the option of both parties, be resolved pursuant to subsections (b)
and (c) below.

(b) If both parties so elect, and such elections are made in written form executed by
an officer of each party legally authorized to do so and delivered to the other party in compliance
with the notice provisions hereof, (either after exhausting the procedures in subsection (a) above
or as an initial means of dispute resolution), the parties will endeavor to settle the dispute by
mediation under the then current CPR International Institute for Conflict Prevention and
Resolution ("CPR") model procedure for mediation of business disputes or, if such model

27-

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v14



procedure no longer exists, some other mutually agreeable procedure. Within 10 business days
from the date that the parties mutually elect to proceed with mediation hereunder, the CAA shall
select a neutral third party mediator, who shall be subject to the reasonable approval of SMG.
Each party will bear its own cost of mediation, provided, however, the cost charged by any
independent third party mediator will be borne equally by the parties.

(c) The parties agree that any mediation proceeding (as well as any discussion
pursuant to subsection (a) above) will constitute settlement negotiations for purposes of the
federal and State rules of evidence and will be treated as non-discoverable, confidential and
privileged communication by the parties and the mediator. No stenographic, visual or audio
record will be made of any mediation proceedings or such discussions. All conduct, statements,
promises, offers and opinions made in the course of the mediation or such discussion by any
party, its agents, employees, representatives or other invitees and by the mediator will not be
discoverable nor admissible for any purposes in any litigation or other proceeding involving the
parties and will not be disclosed to any third party.

(d) The parties agree that if the parties mutually elect to proceed with mediation
hereunder then this mediation procedure will be obligatory and participation therein legally
binding upon each of them. In the event that either party refuses to adhere to the mediation
procedure set forth in this Section 13.2, the other party may bring an action to seek enforcement
of such obligation in any court of competent jurisdiction.

(e) The parties’ efforts to reach a settlement of any dispute will continue until the
conclusion of the mediation proceeding. The mediation proceeding will be concluded when: (i)
a written settlement agreement is executed by the parties, or (ii) the mediator concluded and
informs the parties in writing that further efforts to mediate the dispute would not be useful, or
(iif) the parties agree in writing that an impasse has been reached. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, either party may withdraw from the mediation proceeding without liability therefor in
the event such proceeding continues for more that 45 days from the commencement of such
proceeding. For purposes of the preceding sentence, the proceeding will be deemed to have
commenced following the completion of the selection of a mediator as provided in subsection

(b).

® If the parties mutually elect to proceed with the above dispute resolution
procedures and any dispute has not been resolved pursuant to those procedures, either party can
then initiate litigation and/or terminate the Agreement as provided in Article XII hereof. If the
parties mutually elect to proceed with the above disputed resolution procedures, then such
procedures shall be the sole and exclusive procedures for the resolution of disputes between the
parties arising out of or relating to this Agreement provided, however, that a party, without
prejudice to the above procedures (if they have been so selected by the parties) may file a
complaint to seek a preliminary injunction or other provisional judicial relief, if in its sole
discretion such action is necessary to avoid irreparable damage or to preserve the status quo.
Despite such action, the parties will continue to participate in good faith in the procedures
specific in this Section 13.2, if they have been so selected by the parties.

28-

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v14



(g)  All applicable statutes of limitation and defenses based upon the passage of time
shall be tolled while the procedures specific in this Section 13.2 are pending. The parties will
take such action, if any, required to effectuate such tolling. Each party shall be required to
perform its obligations under this Agreement pending final resolution of any dispute arising out
of or relating to this Agreement, unless to do so would be impossible or impracticable under the
circumstances.

Section 13.3. No Partnership Joint Venture; Prohibited Relationships.

(a) It is understood that nothing herein contained is intended or shall be construed in
any way to create or establish the relationship of partners or a joint venture between the CAA
and SMG. Except as otherwise specifically agreed by the CAA and SMG in writing, none of the
officers, agents or employees of SMG shall be or be deemed to be employees of the CAA for any
purpose whatsoever.

(b)  None of the voting power of the CAA Board is vested in SMG and its directors,

officers, partners or employees, and the chief executive officer of SMG is not a member of the
CAA Board.

(c) None of the voting power of the management committee of SMG is vested in the
CAA, the CAA Board and the CAA's officers and employees, and the chairperson of the CAA is
not a member of the management committee of SMG.

(d) SMG and the CAA are not related parties within the meaning of 144(a)(3) of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and are not members of the same controlled group
within the meaning of U.S. Treasury Regulations Section 1.150-1(¢).

(e) As required by, and limited to, the provisions of, the Michigan Liquor Control
Act, Act 8 of the Public Acts of Michigan of 1933, as amended, and the rules promulgated
pursuant hereto, and subject to the terms of this Agreement, the CAA shall be responsible for the
conduct of Arena and Convention Center operations and the activities of SMG and its
employees.

Section 13.4. Entire Agreement.

This Agreement, together with the Exhibit A attached hereto, contains the entire
agreement among the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof. In addition, this
Agreement shall supersede all prior agreements and understandings with respect to the subject
matter hereof.

Section 13.5. Written Amendments.

This Agreement shall not be altered, modified or amended in whole or in part, except in a
writing executed by both of the parties hereto.

229

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v14



Section 13.6. Force Majeure.

(a) Neither party hereto shall be liable to the other for any failure, delay, or
interruption in performing its obligations hereunder due to causes or conditions beyond its
control. In the event of strikes, boycotts, picketing, slowdowns, work stoppages or labor
disputes of any other type affecting either Facility, SMG shall not thereby be deemed to be in
default or to have breached any part of this Agreement unless such event shall have been caused
solely by unfair labor practices of SMG or violations by SMG of applicable collective bargaining
agreements.

(b)  No party hereto shall be under any obligation to supply any service or services if
and to the extent and during any period that the supplying of any such service or services or the
provision of any component necessary therefor shall be prohibited or rationed by any federal,
State, municipal law, rule, regulation, order or directive.

(©) Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, no abatement,
diminution or reduction of the payments payable to SMG shall be claimed by the CAA or
charged against SMG, nor shall SMG be entitled to additional payments beyond those provided
for in this Agreement for any inconvenience, interruption, cessation, or loss of business or other
loss caused, directly or indirectly, by any present or future laws, rules, requirements, orders,
directives, ordinances or regulations of the United States, or of the State, or the CAA or of any
other lawful authority whosoever, or by priorities, rationing, or curtailment of labor or materials,
or by war or any matter or thing.

(d) In the event of damage to or destruction of either Facility by reason of fire, storm
or other casualty or occurrence of any nature or any regulatory action or requirements that, in
either case, is expected to render either Facility materially untenantable, notwithstanding the
reasonable efforts of the CAA to remedy such situation, for a period estimated by an architect
mutually selected by the CAA and SMG of at least 180 days from the happening of the fire,
other casualty or any other such event, the CAA on the one hand, or SMG, on the other hand,
may terminate this Agreement upon written notice to the other. In the event that either Facility
becomes either wholly or partially untenantable as a result of any of the foregoing, appropriate
adjustments to the Net Operating Income/Incentive and Revenue Benchmarks shall be made.

(e) SMG may suspend performance required under this Agreement with respect to
either Facility, without any further liability, in the event of any act of God or other occurrence,
which act or occurrence is of such effect and duration as to effectively curtail the use of the
affected Facility so as to effect a substantial reduction in the need for the services provided by
SMG for a period in excess of 90 days; provided, however, that for the purposes of this
subsection (€), SMG shall have the right to suspend performance retroactively effective as of the
date of the use of the affected Facility was effectively curtailed. "Substantial reduction in the
need for the services provided by SMG" shall mean such a reduction as shall make the provision
of any services by SMG economically impractical. No payments of the management fees
otherwise due and payable to SMG shall be made by the CAA during the period of suspension
with respect to the affected Facility. In lieu thereof, the CAA's Administrative Official and SMG
may agree to a reduced management fee payment for the period of reduction in services.

-30-

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v14



Section 13.7. Binding Upon Successors and Assigns, No Third-Party Beneficiaries.

(a) This Agreement and the rights and obligations set forth herein shall inure to the
benefit of, and be binding upon, the parties hereto and each of their respective successors and
permitted assigns.

(b)  This Agreement shall not be construed as giving any person, other than the parties
hereto and their successors and permitted assigns, any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim
under or in respect of this Agreement or any of the provisions herein contained, this Agreement
and all provisions and conditions hereof being intended to be, and being, for the sole and
exclusive benefit of such parties and their successors and permitted assigns and for the benefit of
no other person or entity.

Section 13.8. Notices.

All notices or other communications permitted or required under this Agreement shall be
in writing and shall be sufficiently given if and when hand delivered to the persons set forth
below or if sent by documented overnight delivery service or registered or certified mail, postage
prepaid, return receipt requested, or by telegram, telex or telecopy, receipt acknowledged,
addressed as set forth below or to such other person or persons and/or at such other address or
addresses as shall be furnished in writing by either party hereto to the other. Any such notice or
communication shall be deemed to have been given as of the date received, in the case of
personal delivery, or on the date shown on the receipt or confirmation therefor in all other cases.

To the CAA:

Grand Rapids-Kent County
Convention/Arena Authority
303 Monroe Avenue, N.W.
Grand Rapids, MI 49503
Attention: Chairperson

With a copy to:

Richard A. Wendt, Esquire
Dickinson Wright PLLC
200 Ottawa Avenue, N.-W.
Suite 1000

Grand Rapids, MI 49503

To SMG:

SMG

300 Conshohocken State Road, Suite 770
West Conshohocken, PA 19428
Attention: President

31-

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v14



With a copy to:

William R. Sasso, Esquire or

Steven A. Scolari, Esquire

Stradley, Ronon, Stevens & Young, LLP
2600 One Commerce Square
Philadelphia, PA 19103-7098

Section 13.9. Section Headings and Defined Terms.

The section headings contained herein are for reference purposes only and shall not in
any way affect the meaning and interpretation of this Agreement. The terms defined herein and
in any agreement executed in connection herewith include the plural as well as the singular and
the singular as well as the plural, and the use of masculine pronouns shall include the feminine
and neuter. Except as otherwise indicated, all agreements defined herein refer to the same as
from time to time amended or supplemented or the terms thereof waived or modified in
accordance herewith and therewith.

Section 13.10. Counterparts.

This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be
deemed an original and either party may become a party hereto by executing a counterpart
hereof, but all of such counterparts together shall be deemed to be one and the same instrument.
It shall not be necessary in making proof of this Agreement or any counterpart hereof to produce
or account for any of the other counterparts.

Section 13.11. Severability.

The invalidity or unenforceability of any particular provision, or part of any provision, of
this Agreement shall not affect the other provisions or parts hereof, and this Agreement shall be
construed in all respects as if such invalid or unenforceable provisions or parts were omitted.

Section 13.12. Non-Waiver.

A failure by either party to take any action with respect to any default or violation by the
other of any of the terms, covenants, or conditions of this Agreement shall not in any respect
limit, prejudice, diminish or constitute a waiver of any rights of such party to act with respect to
any prior, contemporaneous or subsequent violation or default or with respect to any
continuation or repetition of the original violation or default.

Section 13.13. Approvals.
The CAA and SMG each represent and warrant to the other that all required approvals

have been obtained, and that each has full legal right, power and authority to enter into and
perform its obligations hereunder.

-32-

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v14



Section 13.14. Michigan Law to Apply.

This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State and any
action brought in law or equity arising out of its construction or enforcement shall be filed in the
Circuit Court for the 17th Judicial District of Michigan (Kent County Circuit Court) or in the
United States District Court for the Western District of Michigan, Southern Division.

Section 13.15. Certain Other Representations of the CAA.

The CAA hereby represents and warrants to SMG that it has full legal right, power and
authority to enter into this Agreement and to perform its obligations hereunder and that its
obligations hereunder are not subject to appropriations, budgeting or any other funding
contingency.

Section 13.16. Host Neighborhood Provisions.

(a) For purposes of this Section 13.17, the "Host Neighborhood" means the following
areas in the City which are bounded by: (i) U.S. 131 on the west, Michigan Street on the north,
Franklin Street on the south, and College Avenue on the east (the "Primary Area") and (ii)
Lexington Avenue on the west, Leonard Street on the north, Hall Street on the south, and
College Avenue on the east (the "Secondary Area"). With respect to subsection (b) hereof,
SMG's efforts thereunder shall be focused on the Primary Area; however, if SMG is unable to
meet the employment goals under subsection (b) from the Primary Area, SMG shall be entitled
to expand such efforts to include the Secondary Area.

(b) SMG agrees that it will engage in every reasonable good faith effort to recruit,
employ and retain residents of the Host Neighborhood for employment at each Facility. Such
good faith efforts will include, but not be limited to:

(i) Utilizing appropriate Host Neighborhood and other applicable human
service agencies to identify employment opportunities, candidates and training opportunities for
Host Neighborhood residents.

(i)  Establishing a goal of not less than 10% of all permanent and part-time
jobs at the Facilities for Host Neighborhood residents.

Upon the request of the CAA, SMG agrees to report to the CAA on its compliance efforts with
the terms of this Section 13.17 and to share with the CAA such information and data as will
enable the CAA to review SMG's reasonable good faith efforts hereunder. Nothing contained in
this Section 13.16 shall require SMG to take, or omit to take, any action which is in violation of
any applicable law, regulation or court order.

-33-

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v14



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement has been duly executed by the parties hereto
as of the day and year first written above.

GRAND RAPIDS-KENT COUNTY
CONVENTION/ARENA AUTHORITY

By:

Steven R. Heacock
Chairperson

SMG

Name:
Title:

-34-

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v14



EXHIBIT A

PEDESTRIAN WALKWAY

EXHIBIT 4 OTTAWA/MARKET/FULTON
PEDESTRIAN WALKWAY -
SECTION A, B, C, D AND TOWE

<

! /
%
i / /
: H ]
; PLAZA TOWERS / !
. ? /
ﬁ;,z..mmzm / 7
’ / ; a6 20 49 5o go

NS
\\

|
E

i
§
I

\\

|

Al

FULTON

=)
AT
4
\ -

|
|
%
J
.

m,"r“-v

I
= //

TCWEF.

O1TAWA

”/'_.._.,,._,A BRi % B ;: T
ARRTIE ,:a'*ﬁ/../'éfﬂ‘/_zzf. 7

>

VAN ANDEL
: ; : ARENA

/ J ARENA ;
k / i STATION

GRAPIDS 61448-159 259670v4



Item 5

GRAND RAPIDS-KENT COUNTY
CONVENTION/ARENA AUTHORITY

RESOLUTION APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION
OF A FOOD AND BEVERAGE SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH SMG
FOOD AND BEVERAGE, LL.C FOR THE VAN ANDEL ARENA®

Boardmember , supported by Boardmember ,

moved the adoption of the following resolution:

WHEREAS, the current Food and Beverage Services Agreement, as amended, between
the Grand Rapids-Kent County Convention/Arena Authority (the "CAA"), and SMG Food and
Beverage, LLC dated as of July 1, 2006, terminates on June 30, 2011; and

WHEREAS, the CAA and SMG have negotiated a new Food and Beverage Services
Agreement to be dated and effective July 1, 2011 (the "F&B Agreement"); and

WHEREAS, the CAA Board desires to approve and authorize the execution of the F&B
Agreement substantially in the form presented at this meeting.

RESOLVED:

1. That the F&B Agreement substantially in the form presented at this meeting is
hereby approved with such modifications not materially adverse to the CAA approved as to
content by the CAA Chairman and as to form by the CAA’s legal counsel and the Chairman is
authorized and directed to execute the approved F&B Agreement for and on behalf of the CAA.

2. That all resolutions and parts of resolutions in conflict herewith shall be, and the
same are hereby, rescinded to the extent of such conflict.

YEAS: Boardmembers

NAYS: Boardmembers

ABSTAIN: Boardmembers

GRAPIDS 61448-160 263326v1



ABSENT: Boardmembers

Dated: May 6, 2011

Susan Waddell
Administrative Manager/Recording Secretary

CERTIFICATION

I, the undersigned duly qualified and acting Administrative Manager/Recording Secretary
of the Grand Rapids-Kent County Convention/Arena Authority (the "CAA"), do hereby certify
that the foregoing is a true and complete copy of a resolution adopted by the CAA Board at a
regular meeting held on May 6, 2011, and that public notice of said meeting was given pursuant
to and in compliance with Act 267 of the Public Acts of Michigan of 1976, as amended.

Dated: May 6, 2011

Susan Waddell
Administrative Manager/Recording Secretary

GRAPIDS 61448-160 263326v1



5/3/11 RAW

COMPARISON OF KEY PROVISIONS OF EXISTING AND
NEW FOOD AND BEVERAGE SERVICES AGREEMENTS
BETWEEN THE CAA AND SMGFB

Provision Existing Agreement New Agreement
Term Initial 3-year term with one 2-year | Initial 3-year term to June 30,
renewal at option of CAA to |2014, with two 2-year options of
June 30, 2011 CAA to June 30, 2018
Scope of Services Manage, operate and oversee all [ Same

food and Dbeverage services
including sale of alcoholic beverages

Capital Contribution

$50,000 towards amphitheater
feasibility study

$250,000 towards costs related to
addition and new point-of-sales
system amortized over 5 years

Compensation

53% of concessions gross revenues

19.5% of catering and suite services
gross revenues

30% of sports bar gross revenues

Same

Menus and Pricing

Existing menu and pricing remain in
effect for one year, thereafter any
change submitted to CAA for
review, comment and approval

Same

Performance Bond

$100,000  performance  bond
required

Eliminate  performance  bond
requirement

GRAPIDS 61448-160 263350v1




5/3/11 RAW

FOOD AND BEVERAGE SERVICES AGREEMENT
between the

GRAND RAPIDS-KENT COUNTY
CONVENTION/ARENA AUTHORITY

and
SMG FOOD AND BEVERAGE, LLC

Dated as of July 1, 2011




TABLE OF CONTENTS

Section 1. DEfINItiONS.....cccocvviriiiniriinieniiirentreiereee et s sesessesesseseseseseesseseneneenes 1
SECHON 2. TEIM c.cverueiririrericecririeerest et st s bbb b sse st esenssoneseststenesensarneneas 3
Section 3.  Engagement and SCOPE Of SEIVICES ........cuevivevreririveeeiriicceiieseereesessessesssesesnens 3
Section 4.  Representations, Warranties, and Covenants of the CAA. ......ooveveeveeevvvereveereereseenns 3
Section 5.  Representations, Warranties and Covenants of SMGFB...........ccovvivierenencncnenenenn. 4
Section 6. SMGFB INVESMENL. .......cccevrriririieririirereriieererereseeeesetesesessssesesessssesssossseseasessesanas 4
Section 7. COMPENSALION ......veueurererereiererererereesiseeeseeeseesrssesessssssstsssesesesessosssessstesesessnsessnssesnsne 4
Section 8. Reporting ObliZations .......ccceeviuiuereererenrirereeeieerereeeesese st sseeesesessesssssesessnensnses 5
Section 9. EMPIOYEES .....cccoevvrueririeniierineeererceteteseseerereresissssesesseressssesesssssosesenssaesenssssssnsssssenes 5
Section 10. No Discrimination in EMpPlOYMENL.........c.c.eovveeveeruieiiniriieeiiecceineeeceestetseeseseseenenenens 5
Section 11.  SMGFB'S Operational Responsibilities. ...........c.ceevvvuererirveirrereseeeeeenereresseserersseenes 6
Section 12.  Responsibilities 0f the CAA .........covevevereeeieeiiecrceceeerereeetereseseseseeesessessesesesesenses 7
Section 13 Insurance; Indemnification; Performance Bond ...........ccoceeeveeeeeevveeeeeeesreeresessesnns 7
Section 14. Licenses, Permits and TaXES.........ovevevuierereieieieiireeseererssessesressessessesssessessessessessessens 10
Section 15.  Laws and REGUIAHONS .........cccceeriuereeenrerereeeieeerercresceecserereseseesesessasenenesssenesssenenns 10
Section 16.  Independent CONLIACIOT ......c.e.eeerrererereererereeererererescecsteseeseessenesesessasesesenenessnsenns 11
Section 17, Casualty LOSS.......cccceevreriririeriieieesinsesesesessesesesesesessssssssssesesessssssesessssosssssssssesssnens 11
Section 18.  FOICE MAJEUIE ........cvvvveueerireereriteieieieieree s esescsssesesesesssensasssasaee 11
Section 19, TerMINAtION. .......cceceurerieerrreereenieieresesene e eseses et ese s sesese e e ssesesesesesescssnsasaee 11
Section 20.  Assignment; SUDCONTIACHNG ........ccvvevevereeiiierieircecceie s eeeeeeneeseeseseseseens 12
SECHON 21, NOLICES ...vumrerreerieieirirtseertstetee et oo s et ess e ss st s e s snsssseseststensesseneennene 12
Section 22.  GOVEIMING LAW ......ccccevvirrirererrinieieriiieeesseeesessee e e s e sesesesesesessasssssasasasaee 13
Section 23. N0 WaiVer; REMEIES .......cveveerereireetereeeeeeeeereeeeessersesseseesssesessessssssessessessessessessessesses 13
Section 24.  ENtre AGIEEIMENL ........c.c.eererererererrsnerrereerereseesesesssesesessssssesesesestssesesessesssssssesessoseserenen 13
Section 25.  SeVETADILILY .........cevueerireeeeeecee ettt sttt et a sttt ae 13
SECtON 26.  CAPLIONS ....eevrreereiiriireeiirtee et sebesessssstsesssns et esesessreteseseresssssesesanns 14
SeCtion 27.  FUINET ACES......ccoveieieieieriitnictetcieteie et ess s s esess s e sasssasasasasassenes 14
Section 28.  COUNLEIPAITS.......ccvvvererrrerrrrrriirnteieiessseeeserresessssses e ssssssssssasssssesssesesesesssssasssasaes 14
Exhibit A = COMMUSSION ....c.covruriirierriernieieeseceeeceseessseseese e sssse s oo e esorssaessasassesssnens A-1
-l—

GRAPIDS 61448-160 259846v1



FOOD AND BEVERAGE SERVICES AGREEMENT

THIS FOOD AND BEVERAGE SERVICES AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is
dated as of July 1, 2011, between the GRAND RAPIDS-KENT COUNTY
CONVENTION/ARENA AUTHORITY, a Michigan authority created pursuant to Act 203 of
the Public Acts of Michigan of 1999 (the “CAA”), whose current address is 303 Monroe
Avenue, N.W., Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503, and SMG FOOD AND BEVERAGE, LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company (“SMGFB”), whose current address is 300 Conshohocken
State Road, Suite 770, West Conshohocken, Pennsylvania 19428.

RECITALS

A. The CAA has leased the Van Andel Arena (the “Arena”) located at 130 West
Fulton Street in the City of Grand Rapids, Kent County, Michigan, from the Downtown
Development Authority of the City of Grand Rapids (the “DDA”) which lease will remain in
effect until the outstanding tax-exempt bonds of the DDA used in part to finance the Arena have
been paid in full or defeased at which time the CAA will become the owner of the Arena.

B. During the term of the lease with the DDA and thereafter, the CAA is responsible
for operating the Arena.

C. SMGFB is engaged in the business of providing food and beverage services for
public assembly facilities such as the Arena.

D. The CAA and SMGFB are currently parties to a Food and Beverage Services
Agreement dated as of July 1, 2006, as amended by a First Addendum to Food and Beverages
dated as of January 24, 2007 (the “2006 F&B Agreement”), pursuant to which SMGFB is
currently providing food and beverage services at the Arena. The term of the 2006 F&B
Agreement ends June 30, 2011.

E. The CAA and SMGFB desire to enter into a new agreement for the provision of
food and beverage services at the Arena to be effective July 1, 2011.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises, covenants and
agreements herein contained, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, hereby agree as
follows:

Section 1.  Definitions.

For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms have the following meanings:

"Arena" shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals of this Agreement.

"CAA" shall have the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph of this Agreement.

GRAPIDS 61448-160 259846v1



“CAA Administrative Official” means the administrative official of the CAA as from
time to time appointed by the CAA Board or such person as may from time to time be authorized
in writing by such CAA Administrative Official to act for him/her with respect to any or all
matters pertaining to this Agreement. If there shall be no CAA Administrative Official
appointed and serving, the Chairperson of the CAA Board shall be deemed to be the CAA
Administrative Official.

“CAA Board” means the Board of Directors of the CAA, its governing body.
“City” means the City of Grand Rapids, Michigan.

“County” means Kent County, Michigan.

“DDA” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals of this Agreement.

“First Renewal Term” means, subject to Section 2(b) hereof, the 2-year period from
July 1, 2014, to June 30, 2016, for which this Agreement may be renewed (beyond the Initial
Term) at the option of the CAA Board in accordance with Section 2 hereof.

"Gross Revenue" means all revenue generated in connection with the Services (including,
without limitation, all income, fees and rental and services charges whether charged by
SMGEFB or any subcontractor), as calculated in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, consistently applied, less (i) all applicable sales, use, and excise taxes thereon, (ii)
gratuities and service charges, (iii) revenue generated by the subcontractors of SMGFB which
such subcontractors retain after paying all commissions due to SMGFB, and (iv) cash
shortages not to exceed 1/2 of 1.00%. Credit card fees and bad debts shall not be deducted
from Gross Revenue.

“Initial Term” means, subject to Section 2(a) hereof, the 3-year period commencing on
July 1, 2011, and ending on June 30, 2014.

“Investment” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6 hereof.
"Laws" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 13 hereof.
"Losses" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 13 hereof.
"Policies" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 13 hereof.

“SMGFB" shall have the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph of this
Agreement.

“Second Renewal Term” means, subject to Section 2(b) hereof, the 2-year period from
July 1, 2016, to June 30, 2018, for which this Agreement may be renewed (beyond the First
Renewal Term) at the option of the CAA Board in accordance with Section 2 hereof.

"Services" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3 hereof.

GRAPIDS 61448-160 259846v1



"State" means the State of Michigan.

Section 2. Term.

(a) The Initial Term of this Agreement shall commence at 12:01 a.m. on
July 1, 2011, and will end at midnight on June 30, 2014, unless (i) earlier terminated pursuant to
the provisions of this Agreement, or (ii) renewed for the First Renewal Term as provided in
subsection (b) below.

(b) The CAA Board, in its sole discretion, may extend the term of this
Agreement for (i) the First Renewal Term upon not less than 180 days’ written notice to SMGFB
prior to the end of the Initial Term, i.e., June 30, 2014, unless otherwise terminated pursuant to
the provisions of this Agreement, to commence on July 1, 2014, at 12:01 a.m. and end at
midnight on June 30, 2016, unless earlier terminated pursuant to the provisions of this
Agreement, and (ii) thereafter for the Second Renewal Term, upon not less than 180 days’
written notice to SMGFB prior to the end of the First Renewal Term, i.e., June 30, 2016, unless
otherwise terminated pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement, to commence on July 1,
2016, at 12:01 a.m. and end at midnight on June 30, 2018, unless earlier terminated pursuant to
the provisions of this Agreement.

Section 3. Engagement and Scope of Services.

The CAA hereby grants to SMGFB the sole and exclusive right to manage, operate, and
oversee the food and beverage services at the Arena (including, without limitation, concession
and catering services) by selling food and alcoholic and non-alcoholic beverages to the extent
permitted under all applicable laws. The provision of such services shall be defined and referred
to in this Agreement as the "Services." SMGFB shall provide the Services in accordance with the
provisions of this Agreement.

Section 4. Representations, Warranties, and Covenants of the CAA.

The CAA hereby represents, warrants and covenants to SMGFB that as of the date hereof
and continuing throughout the term of this Agreement:

(a) No agreement or understanding between the CAA and any person or entity
shall reserve or grant to such person or entity the rights granted to SMGFB hereunder.

(b) The CAA has been duly authorized to, and may validly enter into, this
Agreement. The person executing this Agreement on behalf of the CAA is duly authorized to do
SO.

(c) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by the CAA will not cause
the CAA to breach or be in default under any material agreement to which the CAA is a party or
may be bound thereby. The CAA is not in default under any agreements or understandings
pertaining to its right to use, or occupy the Arena.

GRAPIDS 61448-160 259846v1



(d)  As of the date hereof, the CAA has received no notice(s), whether oral or
written, of any default(s) under any lease, financing or other agreement pertaining to the Arena
or the CAA’s use or occupancy thereof.

(e) No consents or approvals are necessary under any agreement to which the
CAA may be a party or be bound thereby in connection with the execution and delivery of this
Agreement by the CAA.

Section S. Representations, Warranties and Covenants of SMGFB.

SMGFB hereby represents, warrants and covenants to the CAA that as of the date hereof
and continuing throughout the term of this Agreement:

(a) SMGFB has been duly authorized to enter and may validly enter into this
Agreement with the CAA. The person executing this Agreement on behalf of SMGFB is duly
authorized to do so.

(b)  The execution and delivery of this Agreement by SMGFB shall not cause
SMGEFB to breach or be in default under any material agreement to which SMGFB is a party or
may be bound thereby.

(c) No consents or approvals are necessary under any agreement to which
SMGFB may be a party or may be bound thereby in connection with the execution and delivery
of this Agreement by SMGFB.

Section 6. SMGFB Investment,

SMGFB shall pay to the CAA $250,000 (the “Investment™) within thirty (30) days of the
execution and delivery of this Agreement by the parties hereto as a contribution toward the cost
incurred to add an addition to the northwest corner of the Arena including related furniture,
fixtures and equipment and a new point of sales system related to the food and beverage
operations at the Arena the specifications of which have previously been agreed to by the CAA
and SMGFB. The Investment shall be amortized over a 5-year period commencing on July 1,
2011, on a straight line non-interest bearing basis. In the event of the early termination of this
Agreement for any reason or if the CAA shall elect not to extend the term of this Agreement for
the First Renewal Term, the CAA shall pay to SMGFB the unamortized amount of the
Investment existing as of such termination or failure to extend date. The payment of any such
unamortized amount shall be made to SMGFB within 60 days after such date.

Section 7. Compensation.

(@) Except to the extent set forth in Section 6(b) below, SMGFB shall be
entitled to retain all revenue generated from its provision of the Services.

(b)  In consideration of the grant to SMGFB of the right to provide the Services
as set forth in this Agreement, SMGFB shall pay to the CAA, on a monthly basis, commissions
on Gross Revenue received by SMGFB in connection with providing the Services in accordance

4-

GRAPIDS 61448-160 259846v!



with Exhibit A attached hereto and made a part hereof. The commissions hereunder are based
upon the category of Gross Revenue described in Exhibit A which are applicable to the
particular Services. The commissions due for any calendar month shall be paid to the CAA not
later than 15 days following the end of such calendar month.

Section 8. Reporting Obligations.

Within 15 days following the end of each calendar month during the term of this
Agreement, SMGFB shall provide the CAA Administrative Official with a statement of Gross
Revenue for such calendar month including the exclusions from Gross Revenues, which
statement is in a form reasonably acceptable to the CAA’s Administrative Official.

Section 9. Employees.

(a) SMGFB shall select, train and employ at the Arena such number of
employees as SMGFB deems necessary or appropriate to satisfy its responsibilities hereunder.
All SMGFB employees involved in the sale, service, and distribution of alcoholic beverages
shall be trained by SMGFB in effective alcohol awareness, which includes training based on any
applicable laws of the State. The CAA shall have review and approval rights over SMGFB
training, including, without limitation, frequency, content and evaluation of the effectiveness of
such training.

(b) SMGFB shall employ a Food and Beverage Director (the "FBD") to oversee
the Services, which FBD at the time of selection shall be subject to interview and approval by the
CAA. Such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. The FBD shall report to
the CAA Administrative Official or his/her designee.

(c) During the term of this Agreement, SMGFB shall permanently locate one
of its regional managers (the “FB Regional Manager™) at the Arena in order to provide additional
management oversight and assistance with the design and implementation of Arena capital
projects related to the provision of food and beverage services. The parties acknowledge that the
FBD and the FB Regional Manager may be the same person and, that as of the commencement
of this Agreement, one person satisfies both positions.

(d)  Atthe request of the CAA Administrative Official, SMGFB shall promptly
remove any SMGFB employee working at the Arena, including the FBD, provided that such
removal is done in compliance with all applicable laws and rules and regulations.

Section 10. No Discrimination in Employment.

SMGFB agrees not to discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment, to
be employed in the performance of this Agreement, with respect to hire, tenure, terms, conditions
or privileges of employment, or any matter directly or indirectly related to employment, because
of race, color, religion, national origin, age, sex, height, weight, handicap or marital status.
Breach of this covenant may be regarded as a material breach of this Agreement as provided for
in Act 453 of the Public Acts of Michigan of 1976, as amended, entitled “Michigan Civil Rights
Act.” SMGFB further agrees to review or examine with the CAA Administrative Official upon

-5-

GRAPIDS 61448-160 259846v1



request relevant employment data and other information pertaining to its hiring practices.
SMGFB further agrees that it will require similar covenants from all sub-contractors under this
Agreement.

Section 11. SMGFB'S Operational Responsibilities.

(a) Periods of Operations. SMGFB shall provide the Services at such times as
shall be reasonably necessary to serve guests of the Arena as requested by the CAA.

(b) Quality. All food and beverage items offered for sale by SMGFB shall be
of high quality. SMGFB shall not offer for sale any food or beverage items which are spoiled, of
poor quality, or otherwise unfit for consumption and any such items shall immediately be
removed by SMGFB from any food preparation or service area. SMGFB shall maintain a level of
service which will provide an effective and convenient operation of food and beverage service.
All food, drinks, beverages, confections and other items sold or kept for sale at the concession
locations at the Arena will conform in all respects to applicable federal, State and local
regulations.

(c) Notice of Health Code Violations. SMGFB will provide the CAA
Administrative Official, immediately upon SMGFB's receipt, copies of any reports, citations or
notices from the local health department, as well as copies of any SMGFB field inspection
reports in response thereto. SMGFB shall promptly correct any such violations and pay any
applicable fines, the cost of which shall not be deducted from Gross Revenue.

(d) Cleaning. SMGFB shall maintain all food service equipment in a clean and
sanitary condition.

(e) Operating expenses. Except as otherwise set forth as an obligation of the
CAA in this Agreement, SMGFB shall be responsible for all operating expenses relating to the
provision of the Services hereunder.

(®  Guidelines. SMGFB shall adhere to its banquet server guidelines, suite
service guidelines and concession point of service ratio guidelines, copies of which are on file at
the Arena general offices and available for review upon request by the CAA Board, CAA
Administrative Official and any employees or agents of the CAA, its board members, employees
and agents.

(g) Menus and Pricing. All existing menu items and prices relating to food
and beverage services shall remain in place for a period of 1 year from the beginning of the
Initial Term of this Agreement, unless otherwise approved by the CAA. Thereafter, any changes
to menu items or pricing shall be submitted to the CAA Administrative Official in advance of the
proposed effective date of change for review, comment and approval. If requested by the CAA, it
shall have final approval over all products, portions and source of supply.

(h) Sponsors. SMGFB shall use, in its provision of the Services, the products
of sponsors at the Arena as identified to SMGFB from time to time by the CAA; provided, such
products are of comparable price and quality to those which SMGFB would otherwise use.

-6-

GRAPIDS 61448-160 259846v1



Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the parties hereto acknowledge and
agree that in the event that SMGFB is required to pay a franchise or royalty fee to any such
sponsor, the amount of such fee shall be deducted from the commissions that SMGFB would
otherwise be required to pay the CAA pursuant to Section 7(b) hereof.

@) Off-Premises Food and Beverage Services. Without the prior approval of
the CAA, SMGFB shall not use the Arena to provide food and beverage services at any off-

premises location not under the control of the CAA.

Section 12.  Responsibilities of the CAA.

(a) Space; Access; Use of Arena. The CAA shall provide adequate space
within the Arena for the performance of the Services and shall permit SMGFB and its employees
and agents access to the Arena in order to provide the Services. The CAA shall also make
available to SMGFB and its employees and agents such common areas, fixtures, equipment and
storage facilities within the Arena necessary for SMGFB to provide the Services as contemplated
herein. Further, the CAA shall provide office space at the Arena or another CAA facility for the
FB Regional Manager.

(b)  Utilities. The CAA shall provide without charge to SMGFB all utilities
necessary for the provision of the Services, including without limitation heating, water, cooling,
ventilation, air conditioning, general lighting and electricity for all areas used by SMGFB in
providing the Services. In addition, the CAA shall provide to SMGFB at no charge all utility
connections and hookups to permanent and portable locations, subject to the limits of the Arena's
existing utility capacity.

(©) Removal of Trash and Garbage. The CAA shall establish a central
location to which SMGFB shall deliver all trash and garbage produced by the Services. The
CAA shall, at its sole expense, regularly remove all trash and garbage placed by SMGFB at such
location.

(d) Repairs and Maintenance. The CAA shall timely make and pay for all
maintenance of, and repairs to, all improvements, utilities systems, equipment, fixtures and
structural areas within the Arena where SMGFB provides Services. The CAA shall establish a
reasonable annual repair and maintenance fund for such obligation.

(e) Capital Investment. The CAA shall, during the term of this Agreement,
make capital improvement purchases designed to improve the food service operation at the
Arena as SMGFB and the CAA shall mutually agree.

Section 13. Insurance; Indemnification; Performance Bond.

(a) Coverage. SMGFB shall obtain and maintain the following minimum
insurance coverages (collectively, the "Policies') during the term of this Agreement, which
Policies will be written with insurers licensed to do business in the State:

.

GRAPIDS 61448-160 259846v1



@) Commercial general liability insurance (including premises
operations liability inclusive of broad form contractual liability, bodily injury, and property
damage, personal injury, products and completed operations, independent contractors, medical
payments and liquor liability), with policy limits of $3,000,000 for bodily injury and $2,000,000
for property damage, or in a combined single limit of $5,000,000 for each occurrence and in the
annual aggregate.

(i)  Workers' compensation insurance (including employer's liability
and occupational disease hazards) as required by applicable State law.

(ili) Comprehensive automobile liability insurance, including owned,
non-owned, and hired and leased vehicles with combined single limit of not less than $2,000,000
for each occurrence and in the annual aggregate.

(iv)  Property damage or loss insurance to cover personal property owned
by SMGFB in connection with the provision of services pursuant to this Agreement in such
coverage amounts and terms as shall be determined solely by SMGFB.

%) The insurance required by the Michigan Liquor Control Act, Act 8
of the Public Acts of Michigan of 1933, as amended, and the regulations promulgated pursuant
thereto.

(vi)  Umbrella insurance in the amount of $10,000,000 over the coverage
amounts identified in (i), (ii) and (iii) above with umbrella coverage for worker's compensation
insurance limited to the employer's liability portion.

(b) Policies/Certificates of Insurance.

) SMGFB shall be the named insured under all of the Policies, and
the CAA, the City of Grand Rapids (the “City”), Kent County (the “County”) and the DDA shall
be an additional insured under the Policies, as their respective interests may appear, except the
property damage policy described in Section 13(a)(iv) above.

(ii)  The original or a certified copy of the Policies or certificates
evidencing the existence thereof, all in such form as the CAA Administrative Official may
reasonably require, shall be delivered to the CAA Administrative Official prior to the
commencement of the term of this Agreement. Each such policy or certificate shall contain a
valid provision or endorsement stating, “This policy or certificate of insurance will not be
canceled or materially changed or altered without first giving 30 days’ written notice thereof to
the Grand Rapids-Kent County Convention/Arena Authority, 303 Monroe Avenue, N.W., Grand
Rapids, Michigan 49503, sent by certified mail, return receipt requested.”

(iii) A certificate of insurance shall be delivered to the CAA
Administrative Official at least 15 days prior to the expiration date of an expiring policy or
policies and, upon request, a renewal policy or policies will be delivered following the renewal,
except for any policy or policies expiring on the termination date of this Agreement or thereafter.

-8-

GRAPIDS 61448-160 259846v1



If a certificate of insurance is not available by said date, SMGFB will provide the CAA other
documentation acceptable to the CAA confirming coverage.

(iv)  All insurance provided by SMGFB in accordance with the
requirements of this Agreement shall be primary over any insurance carried by the CAA and
shall not require contribution by the CAA.

V) If SMGFB enters into any agreements during the term of this
Agreement with any independent contractors for the provision of Services hereunder, SMGFB
shall have the right to require such contractors to name SMGFB, the CAA, the County, the City
and the DDA as an additional insured under any insurance required by SMGFB thereunder and
to deliver to SMGFB prior to the performance of such Services a certified copy of such
policy(ies) or a certificate(s) evidencing the existence thereof, which policy(ies) contains the
same type of endorsements and provisions as provided above in this Section 13(b).

(c) Waiver of Rights of Recovery. The CAA hereby waives any and all
rights of recovery it may hereafter have against SMGFB for any injuries or losses sustained by,
or damages caused to, the CAA, its employees, property, or the property of others under the
CAA's control, to the extent that such loss or damage is covered under the terms of the Policies.

(d)  Indemnification.

@) The CAA shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless SMGFB, its
members, officers, agents, and employees (the “SMGFB Indemnified Persons”) from and against
any and all losses, liabilities, claims, damages and expenses (including reasonable attorneys'
fees) (collectively, the "Losses") arising from (A) any material default or breach by the CAA of
its obligations specified herein; provided, however, that the foregoing indemnification shall not
extend to Losses to the extent such Losses arise from any default or breach by SMGFB of its
obligations specified herein, (B) the fact that at any time prior to, as of, or after the
commencement of the term hereof the Arena has not been operated, or the Arena, and its
premises are not or have not been, in compliance with all applicable federal, State and local laws,
regulations and ordinances (collectively, the "Laws"), including, but not limited to, the
Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. Sections 12101-12213 as amended by the Civil
Rights Act of 1991 (42 U.S.C. Section 1981(a)), as it now exists and as it may be amended in the
future by statute or judicial interpretation, (C) the fact that prior to, as of, or after the
commencement of the term hereof there is any condition on, above, beneath or arising from the
premises occupied by the Arena which might, under any law, give rise to liability or which
would or may require any "response," "removal" or "remedial action" (as such terms are defined
under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, as
amended by the Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act), (D) any structural defect or
unsound operating condition with respect to the Arena or the premises occupied by the Arena
prior to, as of, or after the commencement of the term hereof, or (E) personal or bodily injury to
or death of person or damage to the property of SMGFB to the extent caused by the negligent
acts, errors, and/or omissions or willful misconduct of the CAA or its officers, agents, or
employees, provided, however, that the foregoing indemnification shall not extend to losses to
the extent such losses arise from any negligent act or omission or willful misconduct of SMGFB
or its members, officers, employees or agents. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the

9.

GRAPIDS 61448-160 259846v1



indemnification obligations specified in this Section 13(d)(i) shall not extend to Losses caused
by the negligent acts, errors and/or omissions or willful misconduct of SMG in the performance
of its duties and obligations under that certain Management Agreement between SMG and the
CAA dated as of July 1, 2011. SMGFB Indemnified Persons shall be required to exhaust all
available insurance coverage for the Arena prior to asserting a claim against the CAA pursuant to
this subsection (d)(i).

(ii)  SMGFB shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the CAA and
its officers, boardmembers, agents and employees (the “CAA Indemnified Persons™) from and
against any and all Losses arising from (A) any negligent act or omission or willful misconduct
of SMGFB or its members, officers, employees or agents, or (B) any act that exceeds SMGFB’s
authority under this Agreement or is not otherwise authorized by this Agreement, provided,
however, that the foregoing indemnification shall not extend to Losses to the extent such Losses
(x) arise from any breach or default by the CAA of its obligations under subsection (d)(i) above,
(y) are of the type that are or would normally be covered by commercial insurance covering the
premises at the Arena or (z) arise from violations of the Michigan Liquor Control Act, Act 8 of
the Public Acts of Michigan of 1933, as amended, and the regulations promulgated thereto to the
extent such Act 8 and regulations prohibit such indemnification. The CAA Indemnified Persons
shall be required to exhaust all available insurance coverage for the Arena prior to asserting any
claim against SMGFB pursuant to this subsection (d)(ii).

(iif)  The provisions set forth in subsections (d)(i) and (d)(ii) above shall
survive termination of this Agreement, provided, however, that except for indemnification based
upon subsection (d)(i)(B), (C) and (D) above, a claim for indemnification pursuant to this
Section 13 shall be valid only if the party entitled to indemnification provides written notice
thereof to the other party prior to 3 years following the date of termination of this Agreement.

(e) Waiver of Subrogation. The terms of all insurance policies referred to in
this Section 13 shall preclude subrogation claims against SMGFB, the CAA, the City, the
County and the DDA and their respective members, boardmembers, officers, employees or
agents.

Section 14.  Licenses, Permits and Taxes.

During the term of this Agreement, SMGFB shall maintain a liquor license and all other
licenses or permits required by law in order to provide the Services. SMGFB shall pay all
federal, State and local license and permit fees and collect, withhold, remit, and/or pay for all
sales, use and excise taxes and any other taxes relating to the provision of the Services.

Section 1S. Laws and Regulations.

Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, SMGFB shall observe and comply with
all applicable laws (including without limitation, the requirements of Title I of the Americans
With Disabilities Act); provided, however, that, notwithstanding anything to the contrary
contained herein, all structural modifications to the Arena, or any part thereof, required by any
applicable laws, including without limitation federal or State occupational safety and health laws,

-10-

GRAPIDS 61448-160 259846v1



Titles II or III of the Americans With Disabilities Act, and building construction codes, shall be
made by the CAA, and such modifications shall not be made at SMGFB's expense or liability.

Section 16. Independent Contractor.

SMGFB and the CAA are and each shall be deemed an independent contractor with
respect to this Agreement. Neither SMGFB nor the CAA is in any respect acting, nor shall either
of them act, nor shall any person connected with either of them represent itself as an agent or
employee of the other.

Section 17.  Casualty Loss .

In the event the Arena or any part thereof is partially destroyed by fire or other casualty
and such partial destruction materially affects the ability of SMGFB to provide the Services, the
CAA shall use its best efforts to restore or cause to be restored such damaged portions thereof,
such that the Services may be resumed as promptly as possible. If complete operation of the
Arena must be suspended due to fire or other casualty and full operation is not resumed within
90 days from the date of such suspension, either party shall have the right to terminate this
Agreement by providing the other with 60 days' prior written notice of its intention to do so. In
the event that this Agreement is not terminated as provided under this Section 17, the term of this
Agreement shall be extended by the period of time in which SMGFB's Services hereunder were
affected by such casualty.

Section 18. Force Majeure.

Neither party shall be obligated to perform hereunder and neither party shall be deemed
to be in default if its performance is prevented by (a) fire, tornado, windstorm, earthquake, flood,
act of God, riot, civil commotion, or other occurrence or condition of a like nature; or (b) any
law of any public or military authority stemming from the existence of economic controls, riot,
hostilities, war or governmental policy.

Section 19. Termination.

(a) Termination Upon Default. In addition to any other provision herein
which confers a right of termination on the CAA or SMGFB, either party may terminate this
Agreement upon a default by the other party hereunder. A party shall be in default hereunder if
(i) such party fails to pay any sum payable hereunder within 3 days after same is due and
payable, or (ii) such party fails in any material respect to perform or comply with any of the
other terms, covenants, agreements or conditions hereof and such failure continues for more than
30 days after written notice thereof from the other party. In the event that a default (other than a
default in the payment of money) is not reasonably susceptible to being cured within the 30 day
period, the defaulting party shall not be considered in default if it shall within such 30 day period
have commenced with due diligence and dispatch to cure such default and thereafter completes
with dispatch and due diligence the curing of such default.

(b) Termination Upon Termination of Management Agreement.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, this Agreement shall automatically

-11-

GRAPIDS 61448-160 259846v1



terminate at the same time as the termination of that certain Management Agreement between
SMG and the CAA dated as of July I, 2011.

() Effect of Termination. If this Agreement is terminated as provided herein,
such termination shall have the effect of terminating the provision of the Services by SMGFB
hereunder; but, the rights of either party which have accrued prior to the date of termination shall
survive termination, including without limitation any rights under Section 13 with respect to
indemnification.

Section 20.  Assignment; Subcontracting.

(@ Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure
to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

(b) Restriction on Assignment. Neither party may assign this Agreement
without the prior written consent of the other party.

(©) Subcontracting. SMGFB shall be permitted to subcontract the provision of
any of the Services hereunder to any affiliate of SMGFB without the CAA’s prior written
consent, and to any other party with the CAA's prior written consent.

Section 21.  Notices.

All notices or other communication permitted or required under this Agreement shall be
in writing and shall be sufficiently given if and when hand delivered to the persons set forth
below or if sent by documented overnight delivery service or registered or certified mail, postage
prepaid, return receipt requested, or by telegram, telex or telecopy, receipt acknowledged,
addressed as set forth below or to such other person or persons and/or at such other address or
addresses as shall be furnished in writing by either party hereto to the other. Any such notice or
communication shall be deemed to have been given as of the date received, in the case of
personal delivery, or on the date shown on the receipt or confirmation therefor in all other cases.

To the CAA:

Grand Rapids-Kent County
Convention/Arena Authority
303 Monroe Avenue, N.W.
Grand Rapids, MI 49503
Attention: Chairperson

With a copy to:

Richard A. Wendt, Esquire
Dickinson Wright PLLC
200 Ottawa Avenue, N.W.
Suite 1000

Grand Rapids, MI 49503

-12-

GRAPIDS 61448-160 259846v1



To SMGFB:

SMG Food and Beverage, LL.C

300 Conshohocken State Road, Suite 770
West Conshohocken, PA 19428
Attention: President

With a copy to:

William R. Sasso, Esquire or

Steven A. Scolari, Esquire

Stradley, Ronon, Stevens & Young, LLP
2600 One Commerce Square
Philadelphia, PA 19103-7098

Section22.  Governing Law.

This Agreement shall be governed by, construed and enforced in accordance with, the
laws of the State, without giving effect to the principles of conflicts of law.

Section 23. No Waiver; Remedies.

The making or failure to make any payments, take any action, or waive any rights shall
not be deemed an amendment of this Agreement, nor consent to such action or to any future
action or failure to act, unless the party required to so consent or act expressly agrees in writing.
Moreover, nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed as a waiver of any rights
either party hereto may have to seek damages, specific performance or other appropriate
remedies from the other for breach of this Agreement.

Section24.  Entire Agreement.

This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement of the parties with respect to the subject
matter hereof and supersedes all prior or contemporaneous agreements, whether oral or written,
between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof. This Agreement may not be
amended or modified except in a writing signed by both of the parties hereto. No provision of
this Agreement is intended to be for the benefit of any unrelated creditor to whom any debts,
liabilities or obligations are owed by, or who otherwise has any claim against the CAA or
SMGFB, and no such creditor shall obtain any right under any such provisions or shall by reason
of such provisions make any claim in respect of any debt, liability or obligation (or otherwise)
against the CAA or SMGFB.

Section 25.  Severability.

If any paragraph, subparagraph, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this Agreement is,
for any reason, held invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, such

-13-

GRAPIDS 61448-160 259846v1



Category of Gross Revenue

Concessions
Catering and Suite Services

Sports Bar

GRAPIDS 61448-160 259846v1

Exhibit A

Commission

A-1

Commission Rate

53.00%

19.50%

30.0%



VAN ANDEL ARENA® WEEKLY

Item 6
DATE EVENT EC [ MOD ROOM TIME FUNCTION

Wed, May 4 Savor DG 5/3 Bank Vault | 6P-8P Staff training

Thur, May 5 | Available

Fri, May 6 Available

Sat, May 7 Kenny Chesney GC | CHRIS | Arena 8:00 AM Floor mark
9:00 AM Load-in
2:00 PM Chair set
4:00 PM Security meeting
6:00 PM Doors °
7P-7:30P Uncle Kracker
7:30P-7:45P | Intermission
7:45P-8:35P | Billy Currington
8:35P-9P Intermission
9P-10:55P Kenny Chesney
10:30 PM Load-out

DG Banquet All 6A-8P Backstage catering

Sun, May 8 Available

Mon, May 9 Available

Tue, May 10 | Available

Wed, May 11 | Available

Thur, May 12 | Available

Fri, May 13 East Meets West Gospel Choir GC | JIM Arena 7:30 PM Performances

Competition
Sat, May 14 East Meets West Gospel Choir GC | KATHY | Arena 12:30 PM Performances
Competition

Sun, May 15 | Available

Mon, May 16 | Available

Tue, May 17 | Available

Wed, May 18 | Available

Thur, May 19 | Available

Fri, May 20 Available .

Sat, May 21 Available

Sun, May 22 | Available

Mon, May 23 | IATSE — Local 26 GC Arena 10A-1P Rigger training — 1% session
2P-5P Rigger training — 2™ session

Tue, May 24 | Available

Wed, May 25 | Available

Thur, May 26 | New Kids on the Block GC | CHRIS | Arena 7:30 PM Performance

Fri, May 27 Available

Sat, May 28 Bob Seger GC | KATHY | Arena 8:00 PM Performance

Sun, May 29 | Available

Mon, May 30 ﬁ 4

Holiday — Memorial Day

Tue, May 31 | Available

Wed, Jun 1 Available

Thur, Jun 2 Available

Fri, Jun 3 Available

Sat, Jun 4 Available

Sun, Jun 5 Available




L/e/s

d-v wooijieq = d-v 11vd
[[eH 2ouruLIopdd SOAYd = Ad

SWO0Y SUNAIN 01O = -V NOW

J-V qOO[I8AQ JoARY = -V O

va1y A19[[eD pueln = DO

I O-V slleH ¥qyxg = D-V HA H-V swooy Sunssjyl OOSAQ = H-V O J-V swooy Sunsy A1s|en puelp = 4-V O
U] peoT uononpoid 59 wdpo:g 430 29V 99
dniss uonouny
way) pue X19 ‘u| peo wdoo:s -Wepo:6 -aid pue swooy Oy
n [eALLY JuailD weoe:g ONLLITN STTVS IAIMATIOM INIYTATOM
aunuedaq Ui wdoo:8

uoISsag
[esoU89) 0} YIAOIONVHI wdog'g a-v wooJ|leg
o# sdoysyiopn wdot:p-wdoy'g an
G# sdoys)iopn wdoz:e-wdoz'z | ‘av99‘Q'0 ‘g 'vies
N0 peoT Jouqiyxg wdog:g-wdoe: | Aqdo eyooss
it SAOUSHIOM wdgo:z-wdoo: 4 ao ‘'av 99 ‘a-v lieg
youn wdoo: |-weoy:| 1 O lIleH ¥qiyx3
¢# sdoysxyiop weop:| |-weoy:ol ao
Z# SAOUSHIOA weQz:0L-wepz:e | ‘av oo ‘a'D'a'vieg
Bunesy uoiyeo) prezeH wdog:7-Weo0:6 HO Y00paA0 99

anuqg poolg
— SS0ID) Py UBdUAWIY wdpo:€-Wep0:6 43 Aisjeo pues
usdo suayx3 wdog: |-weoe:g Aqqo eyooeg
L# sdoyssuopy wepQ:6-Wepo:8 an 'av 99 ‘a-v lieg
3je 1aqfhD wdpo:G-Wepo:2 yueg auoyd 99 ‘M
uonessibay wdpo:-wepo:2 £qqoT ysiam
Isepjealg Wepg:g-wepo:/ O lleH ¥aiyx3

8jed 190D

- . pue sjnoseaig syo8Yd 11 wepQ:/-WepQ:9
00p'T :3JUepuany ‘1sj | vyqg [EALIY JUBIID weo:9 Aqqo1 ysiom FONTIFINOD ONINIVYL ALIENDTS ANVTINOH IN 10T ¥ AVIN dam

00T :22uepuany 153

[esieayay wdpo:0) — wdog:Z
Hf [esieaysy wdpo:9 — wdog's
b\ u| arop wdoo:z} — Wepo:g HdAd SWID TYYISTHIHO 'IX TYIISSV'ID OSYD
SWI00Y Jnoxealg
0} Y3IAOIONVHO wdoo:2
weiboid % Jouuq wdpo:Z-wdpg:s a-v wooljieg
BuiiomiaN wdog:g-wdoo:v 8jed JaghD apisinO
UoISSag jesauan) wdpo:y-wdoo:g a-v wooljjeg
yeaig wdpo:¢-wdgyg ayen JaghD apisInQ
uoISSag [Blauan) wdgp:z-wdpo: |
uado
$100( UOISSAG |BJauas) wdog:ZL a-v wooljeq
{youn- mai/yels wdoo:zZ1-Weoe: L1 19)Ud)) ssauisng
uadQ syqux3 wdoQ:G-Wepo:6 £qqo1 ewyoosg
|esieayay/dn
198 UOISSag |eJauas) weoo: | L-wepo:8 a-v wooljeg
uado uonessibay wdoo:#-wepo:8 £qao ysiem
ayed 1aghD wdpo:g-wepe'9 yueg suoyd 99 ‘M
uonensibay je xo8ud 1) WepQ:g-Wepe:9

vd

[BALLY UMD

LEQE:9

£qgo ysiam

FONTIFTANOD ONINIVIL ALI-INDAS ANVTIWOH 1IN 110

£ AVIN 'SANL

110C — AIIdIM dISIATY
HOVIESOAEC]



[1/¢/S

d-v wooqeq = -V 11vd

DV slleH nquyxg =

[[eH 9oUBULIONIod SOA] = Ad
OV HA

Swo0y Sunsd 201Uo = -V NOW
H-V swooy Sunes JOOAAQ = H-V O

d-V YOO[I2AQ 10ATY = IV OY
va1y AId[jen pueln = DO
4-V swooy Sunespy AIo[[eD pueld = 4-V O

0ST :92UBpUaNY 153

9SEOMOYS
ABojouyoa| |euonewsau|
youn

‘o) sinoyealg
Jeaig

uoIssag Jnoyealg
uoISSag Jnoyealg
uoIssag

[eJauss) jeuonewdu|
jsepjeaig

JeALY JuSiD

|esieaysy

wdpo:z-wdoo: |
wdoo:2L
wdoo:z1-weos: 0l
wegi:ol
weg|:0l-wepe:s
weg|:0l-weQge:s

Weg}:0}-Weoe:g
weQo:g
weQQ-2

wdpo:0} — wage:L

av Oy
uopunj-aid Oy
4'3°'ad 'av oy

423 0d
as oy

av oy
uoyouny-aid OM

ONILITA STTVS FAIMATIOM INIYTIATOM 9 AVIA Tdd

AV BueH oI uoowayy agL HdAdQ SWED TYHISTHIIO ‘1X TYIISSVTO OSIYD
uibaq 0} 39S 9|qel wdoo:2
U] peon uoionpold weQQ:2| — wdoo:y swooljjeg
saoaid
Od | Aisusos —suibaq ul peo wdoo:¢ SWOO0Y 30JUOK JYANNIQ SSANISNE NI IONTTTIOXH
dnieg uno) wdpo:g-wdoo'e 28V lIeH kqyx3
dn 1eg uno) wdpo:¢-wepp:g av lleH qux3
[EALLY ONnu | IWaS wepQ:g
|eALly Jayoealg wego:8
r jeAlly Jus)D wepge:, L1STIATTIOA TYOHSTAVT
JUsWiwo) Buiso)) wdpo:s
9SEOMOYS jonpoid wdg:¢ 43Q A9jjes) puelid
yeaig wdoo:e
9SEOMOYS 10Npoid wdoo:1L 43Q A9jjeo puels
youn wdoo:Z) O-v Mig|je9 pueis
8SEOMOYS 1onpold d00:z1-wepg:0l 430 Ai9)jeo pues
yeaig wegL:0)
UoISSag (BIaua) weoe:g 43Q Aigjjeo) puels)
. isepieasg wepo:g gy Asjleo puesn
0ST :30uepually '1s3 1« [EALIY JuBID wepo:Z ONILIIW STTVS FAIMATIOM INIYIATOM
anyedaq sl wdoo:y
IO peo v wdoo:-wdog:zi g-v wooljeg
do ojoyd wdog:ZL Jajua) ssauisng
youn maId/yeIS wdoo:zt V wool|jeg ise3 yinog
uoISSag |e1audd) wdoo:z1-wepo:8
uado
S100(Q UOISSAG |BIAUIYS) weog:/ a-v wooljjeg
uado ysaq uoneuuoju| weQg:6-weQe:/
isepieaig WeQg:g-Wepo:L O lIeH ¥qyx3

00F‘T :9duepuany ‘153

|EALLY JUal)

weQe:9

£qqo7 usiam

HIONTYTINOD DNINIVIL ALIEINDIS ANV ITINOH IN 110 S AVIA S4NHL

[esieaysy wdpo:01 — wdpg:/

b\ jesieaysy wdpo:9 — wdog:¢ HdAQ SWIO TVYISTHINO IX TVIISSVTO OSUD
10014 Y|BYD wdpo:g-wdoo:s

1 [BAILY JUSIID wdpo:s OV lleH ¥qiyx3 LSFIATTIOA TIOHSTIVT

1102 — AT IHIM dISIATY

HOVTESOASC]



11/¢/§

(-v wooijeg = g-v 11vd
[IeH 2oueuLIOlIad SOASA = Ad

Swoo0y SussN 20O = -V NOW

-V JOOHRAQ IOATY = -V OY

Ba1Y AI9j[ED) puein = DO

€ O-V SIleH #quyxd = O-V HA H-V swooy Sunssjy 0OH3AQ0 = H-V O d-V swooy Sunsaly A19|[eo puein = J-V D
250} Buneay weQo:1 | as oy
Neaig wegy:ol
sajeg pue |aJeddy
-inoseasg |euoneusayu| weg|:6 av od
deoay
pue maInay Jonpoid weog'g ao o¥
deoal
puB M3IIASY [euoneuIsu)| wege:g av oY
. . 1sepealg wepo:8 uonouny-ald oY
0ST :3Juepuany 153 1 [EALY JUB1ID wepQ:Z ONILITN STTVS IAIMATIOM INIHIATOM L AVIN "LVS

adueuuopad wdgo:0) — wdoo:8 HdAQ
uado bunesg wdog:z IleH [exosy
jeaqdn wdog:2 — wdoo:L
Hf | uedo iesqdniuado £qqoT wdgt9
00C1 ADNVANILLY "1Sd AV uadQ sio0Q 3pIsing wdog:g HdJAd SWAD TVYLSTHIHO 1X TVIISSVTID OSYD
uondasay 1sod wdoo:L 1 — wd0o:6
weisboid pue Jauuig wdoo:2
Jauuip 0} |jeD wdog:9
uondaoay |elsuan) wdoo:9 swooJ|ieg
uondsoay diA wdog:s swoos|jieg
INOH eipapy wdoz:s a Aajes puei
uondasay aeaud wdoo:s 43 Agj|es) pues
|esieayay wdgy:¢ — wdoo:¢ swool|eg
|eALY JS1IOj4 wdoo:e
Aanjep aimdinog a9 wdog:z
S9AlE pueg wdog:z
dnjes
10} saalLe Jaydesbojoyd wdoo:|
Jos
yawdinb3 asmdinog a9 wdoo:zL
$3031d ¥31N3D
d03 AQv3Y S319vL wdoo:z1
youn_ yeig weQg:|
Buwunji oueld weg|:01
eo vi weQo:6
09, FONVANALLY "1S3 o) | SSALLE JU3IID Wwepo:6 swooljieg YINNIA SSINISNE NI FONIT1I0XT
nyL Ylep-saonoeld wes wdoo:6-wdpo's
uonoadsu) a4 wdoo:
. . dnies wdpo:g-wepo:8
000§ -3Juepusnly ‘153 1 [EALIY JuaND weog:, 08V lIeH ¥qiyx3 1STIATTIOA TYOHSTNVT
Buluel L Mg
pue wod'0alI] SULBAOMN wdoo:s-wdoo:¢ an oy
yeasg wdgyz
suonejuasald bujeg wdg{:z-wdoo:Z as oy
uoyejuasald
npoid |euoneussiuj wdgy:Z-wdoo:Z av o
saibojouyoa )
BUIIBAIOAN JO UOHNIOAT wdpQ:z-wdoo:L ad oo

110T — ATIHIM AISIATY

HOVISOASC




L1/T/s

14

-V wooijied = d-v 1T1vd
[[eH 9oueuLIolIad SOASQ = Ad

-V SIeH Hqmyxd =

J-V HH

swooy SunsaA S0IUON = -V NOW
H-V swooy] SunssjA YOOo[AQ = H-V O

d-V JOO[I3AQ 1oAY = J-V O

BaIY AIO[[BD) pPURID) = DD
4-V swooy Sunssy A1g[enp pueln = J-V O

000§ -ad2uepuany 153

b\ ujaroly | wdgp:0L — wego:g J00d NOAT/HIAQ LODVIIHD, 4D AVMAVOId
FOVdS ONILITN Nd6S: 1 1-INV00:8 4V Od
JOVdS ONILITN INd6S:1 [-INV00:8 4V DD
FOVdS ONILITN IN6S: T 1-INV00:8 4SVHD
ID1440 Nd6S:T1-INV00:8 YALNAD'SNdg
dn 13s Wd6S:TT-INV00:8 q11vd
ol dn 13s Nd6S:1 [-NV00:8 ajd 11vd ONILLIFN TYNOILVN INIYIATOM
va dn 18g pue u| peo wdpp:01-wdoo:g v woosjjeg JOHSYAOM STOOLSTANI
umo(d yeasg unod H3 auop |iun wdpo:g
Juang wdo:Z-wepo:g

dliqnd 0} su00Qg
[BALIY JEIS 1S8JA8]I0A
|EALLY JUaID

weQQ-2
wepg:9
WweQe:s

JONVYWHOSY3d

28V IieH dqiyx3

LSFIATTIOA HIOHSINAV']

8 AV 'NNS

dIYLS ISNOH H314v HdAQ ~OODVYDIIHD 4D AVMMAVYOIG
O anoW weQo:z} -wdoo:01 %00Q UoAHIAG
aJueuLIOMad wdgg:gL - wdoo:g
uadQ Bunesg wdog:/ HdAQ
1esqdn wdog:Z — wdoo:Z IleH rexoay
Hf uadp jeaqdnyuadQ Aggo wdgp:9
00ZT IINVANILLY "1S3 \4 uadQ s100Q 3pISINO wdog'9g HdAQ SWAD TYYISTHIHO ‘1X TVYIISSVID OSHO
13 LOOHS WTI4 WV00:01-NV00:L | SdTLS AS9OTHSTIM LOOHS WTId AVIGINTIYL NHOf
umoq Jea) wdoo:L L
aduegsuulg wdoo: | L-wdoo:2
|eAly Sapualyy wdoo:2
|ealy
. . J33UN|OA Judred pue yeis wdog:9 Aqqo
00€ :3Juepuany 153 | yqg dn 1S 1099Q wdoo: 1-Wego:0L B1Y223g ‘D Wwooljjeg WO¥d TOOHDS HOIH INVID
umoqQ Jea) wdoo:L 1
aoueq wdoo: | 1-wdoo:Z
|eALY 39pualy wdog:9
{ealy Ajnoe4 wdgo:9
[eALLY JuSIID wdog:g
P . dniesra wdoo:z £qqon
000'T :®uUepualy 13 | vyq dn 19s 4008@ wdp0:G-Weoo: 4 | ysiom ‘v wioosjieg WO¥d AOOMINTY LSV
ainyedaq us|d wdoo:01
JUaA] Enoo”o L-wepo-g8
alqnd 03 si100Qq weQo-2
. . [eALLY YBIS ISaILa)10N weQe:9
0005 :92uepuany '3s3 1 JEALIY JUaID WEQE'S 28V lieH ¥qiyx3 LSTIATTIOA TAOHSTNVT
O peo wdpQ:2-wepo:1 4 HOOUBAQ JoAY

1102 — ATAdIM dISIATY

HOV IEHSOAHC



L/zs
d-V YOO[I9AQ 10ATY = 4-V OY
valy A1d][eD pueld = DD
J-V swooy unssp A1s[[eD pueld = 4-V D

d-v wooljied = d-v 11vd
[[eH SoueuLIOMad SOASd = Ad
S O~V S[IeH MqiYxqd = D-V HH

swooy Sunas 20JUoIA = 3-V NOW
H-V swooy Sunesy JooeAQ = H-V O

9oUBULION3d wdog:e — wdog:Z
uado buness wdoo:Z
uado £Aqqo wdog:9
uadQ s100Q apisinQ wdoo:g HdAQ
00Z'1 FJONVANILLY LXJ AV |esjeayay wdy —wd| HdAQ «~ODVIIHD,, “4D AVMAVOYL
IO peo wdpQ:Z-wdeo:g
pu3 Bugaapy wdoo:g
Bunasiy wdoo:g-wdog:Z
yealq uoousayy wdog:z-wdoo:z
Buneapy wdgo:z-wdoo: 1 v wooljeg
younn sisAng wdoo:L-weos: L1 \/ @0Juo
uMO U0 yaun- wdoo:z1 S HO
Bunasy wdoQ:z|-wepg:l
sealq bujusow-piy WeQe:01-WegL:0l
vejs Sunoapy weg1:0L-wepe:g
uonessibay weog:g-wepe: /.
0SS FIONVANILLY ‘189 |  vad [eALY JudiD) _ wepo:9 v wooJjjeg JOHSYIOM STOOLSTANI
FOVdS ONILIIN Wd6S:11-INV00:8
FOVdS ONILITN Nd6S11-INV00:8 4-vV Od
JOVdS ONILIIN Wd6S 11-INV00:8 H-V 09D
JOVdS ONILLIIN INd6S-T1-INV00:8 1-v DD
q01440 Wd6S T11-INV00:8 WOoOodadvod
NOISSIS TVYINID Wd6S TT-INV00:8 | YALNIO'SNG dO 11vd
FOVdS ONILLIIN Nd6S:11-INV00:8 g 711vd ONILIFN TYNOLLVN INIYFATOM 01 AVIA 'S3nL

|lesieaysy wdoo:0} —wdgo:£ HdAQ
|jesseayay esnsayoI0 wdpo:} — wepo:6 1eH 1eyoay
AV IED YOM wdpo:Z| — wego:g HdAQ <ODVIIHD,, ¥D AVMAVOUd
ainyedaq jusi) wdog:s
Buneapy wdgo:s-wdpe:z
)ES1q uoouIayy wdog:z-wdpo:2
Bunsspy wdoo:z-wdoo:1 Vv wooyjjieg
UMO uo youna wdoo: L-wdoo:2ZL AUS HO
Bunasy wdpQ:ZL-Wepg 0l
yealq Bujuiow-piy Wwepg:0L-wesL:0l
vels bunasyy Weg|L:0l-weQe:g
uonensibay wepg:g-weoe: .
0SS IDONVANFLLY "LS3 va [BALY JU3HD wepQ:9 Y wooljeg JOHSAOM STOOLSIANI
gty dn oid Jeyoealg weQQ:g ogVv lleHd ¥qiyx3 LSTJATTIOA FIOHSIAVT
dn L3S Wd6S:T1-INV00:8 4-v Od
dn 13s Wd6S:11-NV00:8 H-V 00D
dn 13Ss Wd6S:11-INV00:8 4V OO
dn 13S Wd6S:11-INV00:8 WOOY@dvod
21440 IN6S-T1-IWV00:8 JILNTD'SNd
dn 13s Nd6S:11-NV00'8 an 1ivd

N dIVdS ONLLIIN Nd6S:11-NV00:8 g T11ve ONLLIFN TYNOILVYN INIJIATOM 6 AVIN 'NOW

[10C — ATAIdM AISIATY
HOV TEFSOAECT




11/T/¢

d-v wooijjeg = g-v T1vd
[IeH 2oueuLIolad SOAS( = AQ

Swooy SunedA S0IUOA = (I-V NOW

-V NOOAQ 1oAY = J-V OY

valy AIs[[eD pueln = DO

9 O-V SIlBH #qyx3 = -V HA H-V Swooy 3unasiy J00H3A0 = H-V O 4-V swooy Supasy AIs[[eD pueIn = J-V O

JOVdS ONILLIIN Nd6S:11-INV00:8 1-v Od
JOVdS ONILLIIN Nd6S-11-INV00-8 H-V 0D9
JOVdS ONILIIN Wd6S 11-INV00-8 4V DO
J21440 Wd6S:11-INV00-8 NWOOUaIVvOod

0| NOISSIS TVIINTD Wd6S 11-AV00:8 | dJILNID'SNY dO 11vd ONLLIFN TYNOILLYN INIJIATOM
0dXx3 d00:8-INV00:11 gv Hi

va dNL3S INV00: I 1-INV00-8 gv H NN AINVE JFAR QAIHL HLAId
YANNIA Wd6S: T1-NV00:8 ga-v 1ivd
NOLLVILSIDTY Wd6S 11-INV00:8 A94071 VIHOO4S
VIYV NOLLdIOTYd Wd6S TI-INV00:8 ONNJ-3dd O H3

LIGIHXH

TVSIVIHTA

Nd6S:11-INV00:8

WdOT-NdL

J HI

0OdX3 % NOILLNFANOD TNON

¢1 AVIN Tdd

NI JAON WdS-INd1 HdAdQ SVAIQ dINOIM ‘1A SdOd OSUD
AV 3Jojsay 8snoH agl HdAd ODVIIHD A AVMAVOoud
dn L3s Nd6S-T1-INV00-8 a-v NOW dOHSIOM LINYILNI JLINIANI ININ 3D¥F1d NIFHJILS
JOVdS ONILIIN Nd6S:TI-WV00:8
FOVdS ONLLIIN Nd6S:T1-NV00:8 4V Od
dOVdS ONILIIN Wd6S:11-NV00:8 H-V ODD
dJVdS ONILITN Nd6S 11-NV00:8 4-v DD
Jo14d40 Wd6S-11-INV00:8 NOOY@IvOd
od NOISSTS TVIINID Wd6S: 11-NV00:8 | JILNID'SNE dD T1vd ONILLIFN TVNOLLYN INIYIATOM
dnias Wd6S:T1-NV00:8 g-v 1T1vd
NOLLVYILSIDTY Nd6S T1-NV00:8 Ad4d01 VIHOO4S
VA4V NOILdFOTd Wd6S-T11-INV00-8 F4d O HI

LIGIHXd

Nd6S:11-NV00:8

D HI

0dXd % NOLLNFANOD 1NN

71 AVIA NHL

IO a0l weQe:| ~ wdoe6 %003 UOATHAAQ
aJuBULIOLA] wdog:6 — wdog:Z
uado Buness wdoo:z
uadQ Aqqo1 wdog:9
00Z'1 FONVANALLY 1X3 AV uadQ sJ00Q 8pISINQ wdpo:9 HdAQ ODVIIHD "4 AVvMAvOdd
ainyedap pajewsa JusiD INd0O'S 09 'y a0Juo|y
C uoissag INdOE € - NdOE: L \/ aoJuoly
| uoissag WV0E:LL — WV0E6 \ 80JUoN
SIOPUSA INd00:S — INY00:6 04 20Juoiy
001-0S SONVANALLY LS9 o) dnjas pue jeause Jusi9 INY0E:L 08 'V 30Iuoly | IWNISOdWAS ONITII INFWNDO0A JINOYLOTTT ALNNOD INTH
FOVdS ONILLIIN Wd6S T1-IV00-8
FOVdS ONILIIN Nd6S11-INV00:8 4-v 0¥
dOVdS ONILIIN Wd6S T11-INV00-8 H-V 099
FOVdS ONILIIN Wd6S11-INV00-8 4-v DD
Fo1440 Nd6S11-INV00-8 NOOY@IVOod
NOISSIS TVIANTD Nd6S 11-AV00:8 | YILNFO'SNA Add 11vd
o) JOVdS ONILLIIN WNd6S:11-INV00:8 g 11vd ONILITW TYNOILLVN INIITATOM
dNnias W65 11-INV00-8 vV 1Ivd
dn 19s Wd6S-T1-INV00:8 A€490O1 VIHOO4GS
vd dNl3s ANd6S:11-INV00-8 J HI OdXd 2 NOLLNFANOD TNOW 11 AVIN 'dam

1107 — ATAIIM dISIAFA
HIOVIFSOAECT



L1/2/S

d-v wooijeq = g-v 11vd
[leH 9oUBULIOMS] SOASd = Ad

Swo0y SunavA 20IUOIA = -V NOW

4-V HOO[BAQ JoARY = 4-V O

a1y A1j[ep pueln = DO

L O~V SlleH ¥qyxg = O-V HA H-V swooy SuiddjA J0oRAQ = H-V O d-V swooy Sunesy A19|[en pueld = 4-V O
NOLLVYLSIOTd N6 TT-INV00:8 VIHOD4S
WOOY LNoMvIyg Wd6S 11-INV00-8 a-o1ivd
WOOY LNOAVI™E Wd6S 11-INV00:8 H-V 009
WOOY LNOAVIId Wd6S 11-INV00:8 v DO

AV

YINNIA

LIGIHXHT
NOILVYLSIOTI
WOOY LNOAVIIL
WOOY LNOAVIIL
WOOY LNOAVIAYL
JINNIQ

WOOY LNnojvIdd
WOOY LNOAVIId
LIF9IHX3

1NO JAON
JONVINIOLITd

Ad6S:11-INV00:8

Nd6S: 11-NV00:8
Wd6S TI-INV00:8
Wd6S:11-NV00:8
Nd6S:11-NV00:8
Wd6S:11-INV00'8

Nd6S: 11-INV00°8

Nd6S 11-NV00:8
Wd6S TT-INV00:8
Nd6S:11-NV00:8

Nd8-NdS
NdS-INdE

g-v 11vd

OH3
VIHOD3S
a-05711vd
H-V 00D
4V 0D

aoso

HdAd

HONTYTAINOD NOILLVHULIA 2 FSION JVS

HONTYIINOD NOLLVIELIA 2 ISION IVS

JONTYTINOD NOLLVIELIA % SSION HVS

SVAIG dIXDIM 1A SdOd OSUD

81 AVIN 'dIm

L1 AVIN 'S3NL

91 AVIA 'NOW

NOISSIS TVIINID

Nd6S:11-INV00'8

a-v NOW

dOHSNIOM LINYILNI FLINIANI INYA 3O¥31d NFHTLS

dn .L3s

Nd65:11-INV00:8

JONTYIINOD NOILLVUEIA % FSION VS

SI AV 'NNS

AV JONVINRIOAATd NdOI-INd8 HdAd SVAIQ dIXIIM ‘1A SdOd OSAD
va NOLLVYLSIDTA WV00:11-INV00:9 dv H3 NOA ANVE JFAIY GUIHL HLAId
NAMOJIViL Wd6S-11-IWV00:8
o} | NMOJ JdviL Nd6S-TI-INV00:8 | ¥FLNID'SNd dd 11vd ONILLIFN TVNOLLVN INIYIATOM
NOISSIS TVIINID INd6S:11-INV00:8 a-v NOW dOHSYAOM LINYALNI LINIANI INYA 3D4T1d NFHI.LS
ar dn 1L3as Nd6S:11-INV00:9 JH3I HONTYFINOD NOILVILIA % JSION IVS
JIANNIQ Wd6S-11-INV00-8 g-v T1vd

NOLLVYLSIOTY

NOILLdFDAY

Nd6S:11-INV00:-8

WVZI-INdOI

Ag9401 VIHOO3S

TIVH TVLIOTY

0dXd % NOLLNIFANOD TNON

VI AVIN'LVS

¥V AONVINIOAYAd WdOI-Nd8 HdAQ SVYAIT ANIIM 1A SO OSUD

BuleaN | INVOO0: Ll — NVOE'8
Oy IONVANALLY 153 [ Dy [EALIY JuaIID Wv00:8 lleH |eyoay ONILIFN SATOVNVIN ALLD
NOISSES TVYANIO Nd6S: 1 1-AV00:8 a-v NOW JOHSNYOM LINYTLNI FLINIANI ININ TD4d1d NIHJALS

FOVdS ONILIIW Wd6S: 1 1-NV00'8

110C — ATIHIM AISIATYE

HOVIESOAHC



11/2/$

d-v wooljied = J-v 11vd

[[BH 20UBULIOMISd SOAS = Ad

sSwooy FuIedAl 20IUOIA = -V NOW

d-V JOOHBAQ 10AN] = J-V OY
valy Ais|[en puein = DO

8 OV SIEH MQWxg = O-V Hd H-V Swooy Sulea 0011240 = H-V O d-V swooy unes |y Aio[[eD pueID = J-V O
dOVdS ONILIAN Nd6S-TI-NV00:8 4-VOd
dOvdS ONILIIN Nd6S:11-NV00-8 H-V 00D
40VdS ONILIIN Wd6S:TT-INV00-8 43902 09
ar dn 13s Nd6S:11-NV00:8 av 1ivd JONTYTFINOD dIHSIIAVIAT WILSAS HLTVIH NNYLOIdS
[ dfl L3S d6S:11-INV00:8 VvV H3 NVOIHOIN JO SIDIA YIS DNIDV £C AV 'NOW
1NO IAON di-dg
AV FIONVARRIOAAI de-di HdAd dAOLS D AVAMJVOYd
dN L3S Nd6S:11-NV00:8 NVOIHDIN 40 SFDIAYIS ONIOV ¢C AVIA 'NNS
JONVINIOIIId d01-d8
AV JONVINIOLYId dy~d? HdAd dNOLS D Avymavodd
)| 13N0ONVe Nd6S-11-INV00:8 43a29v 5O NOZHONNT TOOHOS HOIH JAIM ALID /LSLLdVE 3dOH MIN
WOOY LNOAVIIL Nd6S:11-INV00:8 ad 11vd
NOILVYLSIOTI Nd65:11-NV00:8 Ag94901 VIHOO3S
Nd6S:T1-NV00-8 INNJ-Tdd 1T1vd
)| HONVINYOIdId Wd6S:11-INV00-8 gv T1vd SANITIAY LIIMS [T AVIN LVS
FONVARIOIITd d0I-d8
AV NI FAOW ds-vg HdAd dAWOLS D Avmdvodd
SIWOOY LNOJvIdd Nd6S:11-INV00-8 ao 1ive
NOILVYLSIOFY Nd6S-11-NV00:8 Add0T VIHOOIS
Wd6S:11-NV00-8 ONNJ-3dd 11vd
o} | JONVINIOIdAd Nd6S:11-NV00:8 dv 11vd SINITIAY LITMS 0T AVIAL Tdd

AV ONVH 33d ds-v8 HdAdQ dAOLS D AVMavodd
NOLLVYLSIOFY Nd6S 11-INV00-8 Add0T VIHODOIS
NOILVILSIOTY Wd6S:T1-NV00:8 ONNJ4-FAdd 11ve

jo):| dN L3S Nd6S:11-INV00-8 gv 11ve SANITIAV LIIMS
LIgIHXd Nd6S: TT-INV00:8 OHH
NOILVILSIOTY Wd6S: T11-NV00:8 DD 1SIm
WOOY LNodvIdd Nd6S:T1-NV00:8 a-o11ve
WOOY LNOAVIYd Nd6S:11-NV00:8 H-vV 0D
WOOY 1LNOAVvIId Wd6S: 11-NV00:8 4-v DD

YINNIG Nd00:$-NV00:8 g-v T1vd FONTIIAINOD NOLLVIELIA % FSION IVS 61 AV 'SINHL

ONILIIN Wd6S:TT-INV00:8 vVOou

r NOILVYILSIOTI Nd6S:T1-IANV00:8 A9E80TV Od WNYOd AZN VITNNIS
LIFIHX3 Nd6S: 11-INV00:8 o HE

110C — ATIHIM dASIATY
HIOVTFSOARC



11/2/¢

d-v woolljeqg = -v 1T1vd
[IeH 92ueuLIOM™d] SOAI] = AQ
OV S[ieH nquyxyg =

IV H3

swooy SundA 20IUON = J-V NOW
H-V swooy Sunssiy JOO[PAQ = H-V O

-V YO0O0LI9AQ J9ATY = 4-V OY
ea1y AI3[[eD pueId = DO

J-V swooy Sunesiy Ki9jen puein = J-y D

T e e ] ey
T I ] Iy
T e O O O —
/| ol i
! | ol oo

8C AVIN 'LVS

va

ONILITN

Nd6S-11-NV00:-8

43 OY

SIWOOY LNOAVIYE Nd6S TT-INV00:8 IV OHH
HONNTVILONATN Nd6S:11-NV00:8 vV 11vd
NOILVYLSIOFTA Nd6S-11-INV00-8 44V T1ve

o) | 13S0TD LVOD Nd6S:T11-NV00:8 ‘v 11ve (SYVIAM) WNISOdWAS ONILIANY %@ ONLLNNODDV TA "M
SIWOOY LNONVIYE Wd6S-11-NV00:8 v 00D
401440 Wd6S:11-NV00:8 YFLNED 'sSnd
SIWOOY Wd6S-T1-NV00:8 H-V 09D
1NOAVIYL TVIYINID Wd6S:11-NV00:8 aTivd
LSvaAvadd Wd6S: 11-INV00:8 1Lv0D T11vd
TV.ILNINILNOD Nd6S:11-NV00:8 a711vd

o) | NOILLVY.LSIOTA NVSI:8-NVSI:L q11vd AVNINGS dH adnf 2 SSOYIUON YINIVM
HONNT Wd6S:11-INV00:8 WYag ISvHO

LISIA QIVAYVH VNIHD

ST AVIA 'dam

TVSIIHTY Nd6S:11-NV00:8 HdAd SNOILLIANYV OSYD

va HONNT Nd6S:11-NV00:8 dv DD LISIA QIVAYVH VNIHD
Nd6S T 1-NV00:8 4-vOd
Wd6S-11-INV00-8 ‘H-V 0D
Wd6S:11-NV00:8 WIaYd 3SVHO

1y LANONVE Nd6S:11-INV00-8 av Tivd JONTIYTINOD dIHSIIAVIT WILSAS HLTVIH WNYLDIdS

[ LIFIHXT Nd6S-11-INV00:8 vV H3 NVOIHIIN 40 STDIA YIS ONIOV YT AVIA 'S3NL

110C — ATH9IM dISIATYT
HIVTFSOAECL



